
 

 
 
 
 

cyfarfod rhithwir GWASANAETH ADDYSG AR Y CYD - CONSORTIWM 
CANOLBARTH Y DE yn cael ei gynnal:  

 
Dydd Mawrth, 7 Mehefin 2022 am 2pm 

 
Fel rydych chi'n gwybod, mae angen i 50% o aelodau'r pwyllgor fod yn bresennol 
yn y cyfarfod er mwyn bodloni gofynion cworwm. Os nad oes modd i chi fynychu'r 
cyfarfod, rhowch wybod i'r Ysgrifennydd, Yula Kampouropoulou (07747485569), 
neu'r Cadeirydd, cyn y cyfarfod. 
 

AGENDA 
  

 
  

  
1. DATGAN BUDDIANT   
 Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau, yn unol â 

gofynion Cod Ymddygiad y Cyngor. 
  
1.     Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr eitem y mae eu 

buddiant yn ymwneud ag e a mynegi natur y buddiant personol 
hwnnw, a 

2.     Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu 
buddiant sy'n rhagfarnu, rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r Cadeirydd 
pan fyddan nhw'n gadael. 

 

    
2. COFNODION   
 Cadarnhau cofnodion o gyfarfod Cydbwyllgor Gwasanaeth Addysg ar y 

Cyd Consortiwm Canolbarth y De a gynhaliwyd ar 17 Mawrth 2022 yn 
rhai cywir. 

 

  (Tudalennau 5 - 
14)  

3. ETHOL CADEIRYDD   
 Ethol Cadeirydd Cydbwyllgor Gwasanaeth Addysg ar y Cyd Consortiwm 

Canolbarth y De ar gyfer Blwyddyn y Cyngor. 
  

 

    
4. PENODI IS-GADEIRYDD   
 Penodi Is-gadeirydd Cydbwyllgor Gwasanaeth Addysg ar y Cyd 

Consortiwm Canolbarth y De ar gyfer Blwyddyn y Cyngor. 
 

    



5. CALENDR O GYFARFODYDD AR GYFER BLWYDDYN Y CYNGOR 
2022-2023  

 

 Trafod y calendr o gyfarfodydd arfaethedig ar gyfer y flwyddyn 2022-
2023. 

 

  (Tudalennau 15 - 
16)  

6. CYNLLUN ARCHWILIO 2020/2021   
 Derbyn adroddiad gan Archwilio Cymru sy'n amlinellu'r amserlen 

Archwilio ar gyfer 2021/2022. 
 

  (Tudalennau 17 - 
26)  

7. Y SEFYLLFA AR DDIWEDD 2021-2022/DATGANIAD 
LLYWODRAETHU BLYNYDDOL  

 

 Trafod adroddiad y Trysorydd. 
  

  

 

  (Tudalennau 27 - 
110)  

8. ADRODDIAD DYFARNU GRANTIAU CCD 2022-2023 (GRANT 
GWELLA YSGOLION Y CONSORTIA RHANBARTHOL)  

 

 Trafod adroddiad gan y Dirprwy Reolwr-Gyfarwyddwr. 
  

  

 

  (Tudalennau 111 - 
180)  

9. ADRODDIAD DYFARNU GRANTIAU CCD 2022-2023 (SIARTER 
IAITH)  

 

 Trafod adroddiad gan y Dirprwy Reolwr-Gyfarwyddwr. 
  

 

  (Tudalennau 181 - 
212)  

10. CYNLLUN BUSNES DRAFFT CONSORTIWM CANOLBARTH Y DE, 
2022-25  

 

 Derbyn adroddiad y Dirprwy Reolwr-Gyfarwyddwr ynghylch cadarnhau 
Cynllun Busnes, 2022-2025. 
  

 

  (Tudalennau 213 - 
256)  

11. ADRODDIAD (I AELODAU) - GWEITHDY CCD   
 Derbyn adroddiad gan y Rheolwr-Gyfarwyddwr.  
  

 
 

(Tudalennau 257 - 
258) 

 



12. GWAHARDD AELODAU O'R WASG A'R CYHOEDD   
 Trafod cadarnhau'r cynnig isod yn benderfyniad: 

“Bod y cyfarfod hwn yn cadw aelodau o'r wasg ac aelodau o'r cyhoedd 
allan o ystafell y cyfarfod, dan Adran 100A(4) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth 
Leol 1972 (fel y'i diwygiwyd), yn ystod trafod yr agendwm nesaf, ar y sail 
y byddai'n debygol o ddatgelu gwybodaeth eithriedig yn ôl diffiniad 
paragraff 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o'r Ddeddf.” 

 

    
13. ADRODDIAD CRYNO - CEISIADAU RHYDDID GWYBODAETH 2021-

22  
 

 Trafod adroddiad gan y Dirprwy Reolwr-Gyfarwyddwr.  
  (Tudalennau 259 - 

264)  
14. MATERION BRYS   
 Trafod unrhyw eitemau sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn faterion 

brys yng ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig. 
  
  

 

   
At: Pob Aelod o'r Gwasanaeth Addysg ar y Cyd - Consortiwm Canolbarth y De 



Tudalen wag



 
 

 

 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM JOINT EDUCATION SERVICE. 
 

Minutes of the virtual Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Committee meeting held on 
Thursday, 17 March 2022 at 11.30 am. 

 
 

County Borough Councillors - Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. Members 
in attendance: - 

 
Councillor J Rosser (Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council) 

Councillor C Smith (Bridgend County Borough Council) 
Councillor L Burnett (Vale of Glamorgan) 

 
Council Officers in attendance: - 

 
Ms S Davies – Service Director, Finance Services (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC)  

Mr L. Harvey Lead Director of Education (Bridgend Council) 
 

Others in attendance: - 
 

Ms L Blatchford, Deputy Managing Director Central South Consortium 
Mr A Williams, Assistant Director Central South Consortium 
 Ms C Seery, Managing Director Central South Consortium  

Ms S Prosser, Primary School Improvement Partner 
 

 
43   WELCOME & APOLOGIES  

 
The Chair took the opportunity to welcome Members to the Central South 
Consortium Joint Education Service Committee.  
Apologies of absence were received from Councillors L Mytton (Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council), S Merry (Cardiff Council) and Mr E Cooper (Lead 
Chief Executive (Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council).  
 

 

44   DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
In accordance with the Councils code of conduct, there were no declarations of 
interest made parenting to the agenda.  
 

 

45   MATTERS ARISING  
 
The rescheduled meeting on the 22nd December included a 2022/23 budget 
setting recommendation for Members to “Consider and approve the budget for 
2022/23 in order for the Member Local Authorities to approve as appropriate and 
confirm approval back to Joint Committee’’. Since then, each Local Authority 
Section 151 Officer has confirmed approval of the budget and contributions for 
2022/23. 
 
 

 

Tudalen 5

Agendwm 2



 

46   MINUTES  
 
It was RESOLVED to approve the minutes of the 22nd December 2021 as an 
accurate reflection of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 
Committee meeting. 
 

 

47   PEER PARTNERSHIPS  
 
The Primary School Improvement Partner presented a presentation to Members 
which provided a brief overview of the Peer Partnership and collaboration within 
the region.  
The Primary School Improvement Partner acknowledged the extremely 
challenging time experienced by schools during the lockdown periods and 
advised Members of the significance of support and guidance to schools through 
Peer Partnership. Members were advised of the importance of Peer Partnership 
as it aligns with the regions vision to empower schools to improve outcomes for 
all learners. Its shifting school improvements from a model that is dependant on 
central support to one that is led by schools, for schools.  
 
The Primary School Improvement Partner advised Members of the challenges 
faced during the launch of the Peer Partnership programme; the team were 
sensitive to school’s positions due to the numerous pressures from the 
Pandemic. As a result, softer launches were undertaken to certain school’s 
which were ready to work within the programme; these include, cluster sharing 
new curriculums in Aberdare by a group of 16 schools who have committed to a 
shared inset day in May. Advisors will be attending the meeting to facilitate and 
support areas of learning needs. It was confirmed that 3 cross Local Authority 
schools (Vale of Glamorgan, RCT, & Cardiff) began Peer Partnership in January. 
Members were advised of the School Leadership Improvement Partnership 
(SLIP) which is a well-established network of 12 schools from a wide range of 
socio-economic and culturally diverse communities within Cardiff. The SLIP have 
been invited to present to a Peer Partnership group in order to highlight how the 
group works, and the benefits of Peer Partnership. The Primary School 
Improvement Partner confirmed 3 schools in Bridgend who will be looking to 
start Peer Partnership during the Spring.  
 
The Primary School Improvement Partner advised Members of a produced 
guidance document in May 2021; The document provided a brief overview of 
what Peer Partnership is and what it’s not; This has been used to create a 
protocol with larger networks and underpinned a collaboration at every level to 
ensure schools are protected.  
To conclude the Primary School Improvement Partner noted to Members the 
objectives of the team; these included ensuring sensitivity is maintained towards 
schools due to the numerous changes and challenges faced towards operations 
and curriculums. Develop a culture of sharing workload, resources, and 
professional learning to aid in growth of the school. Refer to Welsh Governments 
(WG) National Resources for evaluation and improvement to support self-
evaluation conversations, and lastly to empower schools to improve outcomes 
for all learners.  
 
The Chair commended Peer Partnership as an excellent tool forward to 
empower schools as it can be utilised to improve teaching, learning and 
leadership. A query was raised surrounding the Curriculum for Wales and the 
support in place for schools which were less prepared. 
  

 

Tudalen 6



 

The Primary School Improvement Partner advised Members of a useful 
curriculum designed website which has been implemented as a thinking tool that 
draws together the variety of professional learning, aligned with the curriculum 
roll out documentation which can be accessed quickly by schools. Curriculum 
advisors have been working with individual schools to help with reflection and 
setting targets.  
 
The Assistant Director Central South Consortium (CSC) praised the School 
Improvement Partner for the excellent work being undertaken towards support 
and improvement for schools. He continued by commending Headteachers for 
developing the model as a mature and evolutionary approach which will target 
schools at all levels. As part of CSC, the model sits at the heart of the 
organisations approach in supporting schools’ evolution and processes.  
 
The Lead Director of Education echoed the praises towards the Primary School 
Improvement Partner and thanked her for the extensive experience she has 
provided within the team.  
 
Following discussions, the Central South Consortium Joint Education Committee 
RESOLVED:  
 

- To note presentation 
 

48   2021/22 BUDGET MONITORING AND MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
UPDATE  
 
The Service Director, Finance Services presented a report to Members; the 
purpose of the report was to provide the Joint Committee with the projected 
outturn position for 2021/22, a summary of the 2021/22 grant funding, and to 
provide an overview of the work underway to refresh the Medium-Term Financial 
Plan.  
 
Members were directed to table 1 of the report which highlighted a small 
underspend of £2,325 for the year; it was confirmed that the position had been 
stable throughout this financial year with a small underspend of £1,331 reported 
in December 2021 and £766 in September 2021; thus, demonstrating a stability 
of outturns over the budgetary control within the Consortium. 
To provide further detail, the Service Director, Finance Services highlighted key 
variances for the projected outturn position for 2021/22 as highlighted in table 1 
of the report. As shown on the table, employees have had a £23,446 
underspend projected to year-end, as a result of vacancies. There has been a 
small underspend on premises of £1,550 due to configuration work being 
undertaken at the Valleys innovation Centre. Transportation services have also 
had an underspend due to the ongoing impacts of Covid-19; however, Supplies 
and Services had a net overspend of £14,601 in total. The Service Director, 
Finance Services, advised Members that there are underspends on CPD which 
are offset by overspends mainly due to ICT hardware purchases of new starters 
equipment to facilitate hybrid meetings and office equipment purchases in line 
with the reconfiguration of the office space.  
 
Members were directed to paragraph 3.3 and 3.4 of the report which referred to 
the earmarked reserves of the Consortium; the Service Director, Finances 
Services confirmed to Members the spend of £6k earmark towards the approved 
sensory project by Joint Committee. Members were informed of the £200k 
earmarked reserve which has been retained to support the remodelling of the 

 

Tudalen 7



 

service over the Medium Term. It was confirmed that there are no costs to date, 
and it’s anticipated that Joint Committee will be requested to consider carrying 
this forward into 2022/23 as part of the year-end report.  
Members were directed to section 4 of the report which detailed a summary of 
the grant funded service for 2021/22 which demonstrated the significant 
resources for both RCSIG and PDG available to the region.  
 
The Service Director, Finance Services reminded Members of the Joint 
Committee meeting held on the 15th July 2021 were Members agreed on a 3-
year indicative budget based on Local Authority contributions increasing by 
1.72% in 2022/23, 1.73% in 2023/24 and 2024/25 respectively to manage pay 
inflation pressure and non-pay inflation pressures and the delivery of budget 
savings being managed by the Consortium.  
 
The Service Director Finance Services advised Members of the Joint Committee 
to consider the following key parameters as highlighted in paragraph 5.5 of the 
report:  
 

(a) the need to protect frontline school improvement resources and target 
available funding to key priorities.  

 
(b) the continued delivery of efficiency savings (recognising that the ongoing 

delivery of savings at levels achieved in previous years will be extremely 
challenging).  
 

(c) the consortium to fully fund estimated non-pay (i.e. goods and services) 
inflation.  
 

(d) £200k earmarked reserve to support on-going service remodelling and 
medium-term planning retained for the purpose of smoothing the financial 
impact of future local government settlements on local authority 
contributions and maintain financial resilience. 

 
Subject to the Joint Committees feedback, the Managing Director and lead 
Section 151 Officer will coordinate the process in consultation with the Chief 
Executives of Member Local Authorities and report an updated Medium-Term 
Financial Plan to the September 2022 Joint Committee.  
 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Service RESOLVED:  
 

- To note the current projected outturn position for 2021/22  
 
- To note the current grant funding position for 2021/22 

 
- To agree the broad parameters for the Consortium to work within to 

refresh the Medium-Term Financial Plan and for an updated position to 
be reported to the September 2022 Joint Committee. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 8



 

49   GRANTS AWARDS OF FUNDING 2021-2022 
 
The Deputy Managing Director presented a report to Members which provided 
an update on the grants received by the Consortium in 2021/22.  
 
A brief overview was provided based on the 2 awards of funding which were 
provided by the Welsh Government, these included the Pupil Development 
Grant (PDG) and a variation to the Regional Consortia School Improvement 
Grant (RCSIG). 
  
A total £37,581,970 has been provided towards the PDG for the financial year 
2021/22; the funding has been allocated to support all eligible leaners for free 
school meals, those who are singly registered in pupil referral units (PRUs), 
Looked After Children (LAC) and to aid in salary costs for PDG Strategic 
Advisors.    
Members were advised of the PDG Consortia Led Funding as highlighted in 
section 5.2.2, which was approved on the 2nd July 2021 by CSC Management 
Board. The funding has since been distributed to Local Authorities (LA) in order 
to provide targeted support to local needs of children and young people.  
 
In relation to the RCSIG, a total of £4,459,243 of grant funding was awarded for 
the financial year 2021/22. Members were directed to section 5.3.2 of the report 
which provided a breakdown of the delegated areas the additional funding will 
support.  
 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Committee RESOLVED:  
 

- To approve the distribution grants as detailed in section 4 of the report.  
 

 

50   REPORT OF THE EFFECTIVENESS AND EFFICIENCY OF CSC 2020-21  
 
The Deputy Managing Director presented a report to the Joint Committee which 
provided an overview on the efficiency and effectiveness of work which has been 
undertaken by Central South Consortium 2020/21. 
Members were advised that the work undertaken by CSC has been guided by 
the Research and Evaluation Board, this has aided in providing Members with 
an evaluation of how effective CSC has been in numerous areas of operations, it 
also provided an overview of performance, funding, and a detailed in-depth look 
at stands of activity. The strands of activity included support for Governors, 
digital learning, early career pathways, and leadership support and development.  
The report provides background information on how these areas were identified 
and the process of business planning and self-evaluation.  
 
Members were directed to table 1 of the report which provided an overview of 
the funding available to the Consortium and how it’s used across the 5 Local 
Authorities. The funding provided is focused on the improvement of schools 
across the region. Members were directed to table 3 of the report which provided 
an overview on how the grant expenditure is allocated across the 5 Local 
Authorities grant funding streams.  
The Deputy Managing Director informed Members that the grant funding 
streams play an integral part within CSC’s delivery strategy of the Central South 
Wales Challenge (CSWC). 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen 9



 

The Deputy Managing Director took Members through the main body of the 
report which discussed the strand activity and the work which has been 
undertaken by the team. As part of support to Governors, regional leaders of 
governance have utilised the self-evaluation tool kit in order to identify any areas 
for improvement. Positive support has been received from Lead Governor 
groups and Governors Steering Groups during the Pandemic as the transition to 
digital learning began. The Deputy Managing Director informed Members of 
CSC focus towards digital learning within schools and CSC.  
 
In relation to early career pathways work, teams in CSC have been working on a 
national basis to ensure support is provided online and that there are numerous 
channels to access the information. The Deputy Managing Director informed 
Members of a big drive towards improving communication with NQT’s and that 
there has been 250 NQTS who are working on the aspiring programme along 
with 100 working on them during twilights and Saturday mornings. In relation to 
leadership support and development to aspiring leaders, middle leaders and 
those entering MPQH programmes have still continued during the pandemic.  
 
To conclude the Deputy Managing Director advised Members of the 1% 
reduction in the core funding; however, a slight increase of 843 pupils has meant 
that the per spend per pupil has gone down. The Deputy Managing Director 
advised Members that despite the reduction, the evidence within the report 
portrays CSC provision of professional learning and outcomes requested by the 
Joint Committee.  
 
The Chair was pleased with the report and the good feedback received from 
governors.  
 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Committee RESOLVED: 
 

- To note content of the report 
 

51   INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS  
 
The Deputy Managing Director presented the reports to Members which 
provided an overview of the Internal Audit reports issued by the Regional 
Internal Audit Service to the Central South Consortium during 2021/22.  
 
In relation to the Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant (RCSIG) and 
Pupil Development Grant (PDG), based on the Internal Audits undertaken no 
recommendations were made and there were substantial assurances in the 
system of governance and risk management.  
The Deputy Managing Director continued by providing a brief overview of the 
general ledger report. Similarly, audits undertaken provided substantial 
assurances in the sound system of governance.  
 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Committee RESOLVED:  
 

- To review the Internal Audit report issued during 2021/22 and to raise no 
matters of governance requiring further actions. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen 10



 

52   LEGAL AGREEMENT (VERBAL UPDATE)  
 
The Managing Director provided Members with an update on the legal 
agreement; it was confirmed that CSC have begun examining the various 
sections of the legal agreement and have begun work with the legal team in 
order to review the elements of the legal agreement. The Deputy Managing 
Director advised Members that the first draft is currently in train and will be 
shared with Directors within the Management Board level and then brought to 
Joint Committee. Members were advised that the report will be completed within 
the summer period. 
 
The Chair inquired on the potential date the report will be completed during the 
summer period.  
The Deputy Managing Director advised that the draft will be developed over the 
upcoming two meetings, then handed to the 5 Local Authorities legal teams and 
completion of the draft should be presented to Joint Committee during the 
summer term subject to the legal teams.  
 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Service RESOLVED:  
 

- To note verbal update  
 

 

53   CENTRAL SOUTH BUSINESS PLAN PROGRESS UPDATE  
 
The Deputy Managing Director presented the report to Members; the termly 
report highlighted to Joint Committee the progress of the business plan 2021/22.  
As part of the business plan process, termly impact meetings are undertaken 
with staff and Directors in order to review CSC efficient evaluation of the 
business plan and related budgets. The evaluative narrative produced at the 
termly meetings complimented the self-evaluation and reviewing process.  
 
The progress to date as highlighted within the report is dated to the end of 
December 2021. The Deputy Managing Director advised Members that the over 
the coming weeks the results of the impact meetings will be undertaken, and 
outcomes will be shared with Joint Committee in the Annual report during the 
Summer Term.  
 
Members were directed to table 1 of the report which highlighted the summary of 
progress judgement by individual aspect areas.  Table 2 of the report highlighted 
the cumulative progress judgement; strong progress of 28% was made with only 
2% limited progress which was a result of the Pandemic; However, the Deputy 
Managing Director advised Members that the issues are in the progress of being 
resolved.  
As part of the Risk Management Policy, any risks identified within the risk 
operational level are included within the report; the risks identified within the 
report are integrated as part of the business planning process as highlighted in 
table 3. Members were directed to section 5 of the report which provided an 
overview of the success measures as part of the business planning process. The 
Deputy Managing Director went through the 5 priority success measures, 
highlighting the main points.  
 
The Chair was pleased with the report however raised a query surrounding the 
projected outcomes expected during the summer exam period across the region. 
 
 

 

Tudalen 11



 

The Managing Director advised Members that schools have not been requested 
to submit targets and the data has not been collated. However, concerns have 
been present in relation to summer exams as some students have had bigger 
interruptions to their learning compared to others. The Managing Director 
advised Members of collaborations with Qualifications Wales discussing how 
they are going to ensure a degree of parity across all students.  
 
The Managing Director CSC advised Members of the challenges which will be 
faced by students as some may be discouraged by the process. However, to 
reassure Members the Managing Director advised that extensive support is 
being provided and conversations are occurring within schools by School 
Improvement Partners in order to identify students requiring extra support.  
 
To add, the Assistant Director reassured Members that individual support is 
provided to disadvantaged groups of students. 
 
Following discussion, the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service 
RESOLVED:  
 

- To note Business Plan progress update  
 

54   CENTRAL SOUTH SELF-EVALUATION REPORT  
 
The Managing Director presented the report to Members which provided 
Members with an overview of the context of the Central South Consortium as 
well as a summary of the findings from the self-evaluation activity undertaken 
within CSC. The report presented an evaluation of the progress as well as 
identified strengths and areas for further development.  
 
Members were advised of the report’s linkage to a previous Estyn inspection 
undertaken in February 2016 and was then followed up in September 2017. 
During the monitoring visit there was found to be strong progress in addressing 
the three out of four recommendations, with satisfactory progress being made 
against the recommendation ‘Evaluate progress against regional consortium’s 
operational plans more effectively’; based on the report, the Managing Director 
advised Members that this area has seen improvements and will continue to be 
a focus for CSC.  
 
The Managing Director advised Members that the self-evaluation report was split 
into 3 areas which focused on the support for School Improvement, Professional 
Learning, and Leadership and Safeguarding of an organisation. The report has 
been generated based on Local Government service guidance and regional 
consortium inspection documentation as the CSC do not have a national 
framework to refer to as a result, they are some gaps.  
 
The self-evaluation report will be utilised to analyse what CSC have done and 
identify the next key steps; workshops have been arranged with Directors and 
Chief Executives on the 1st April 2022 to analyse this further. Members were 
directed to section 5 of the report which highlighted the 3 areas in which CSC 
needs to progress, based on evaluation. The self-evaluation activity will continue 
across the organisation to ensure any areas of development identified because 
of evaluation activity, is incorporated into the planning cycles. 
 
The Managing Director advised Members that the focus areas for 2022/23 will 
be shared with the drive teams for inclusion within the operational plans, with 

 

Tudalen 12



 

associated activities to meet the priorities developed. The operational plans will 
identify the success criteria and milestones for each area of focus to ensure 
CSC can report on progress with agreed priorities. In addition, the priorities for 
Local Authorities as well as national priorities will be incorporated into the 
operational planning for CSC once success measures have been agreed. 
Members were directed to section 8 of the report which highlighted the questions 
which have been addressed by CSC throughout the self-evaluation process. The 
following areas within the report focus on CSC evaluation and improvements.  
 
The Managing Director CSC advised Members that during 2022/23 this will be a 
great opportunity to ensure CSC can streamline reporting of the self-evaluation 
process due to the significant amount of reporting undertaken. 
 
The Chair was pleased with the report and Members RESOVLED to agree the 
areas focused within the report are the right ones.  
 
 

55   CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN 2022/25  
 
The Managing Director CSC presented the report to Members which provided 
an overview of CSC draft business plan for 2022/25. The three-year plan has 
been developed in conjunction with Local Authorities (LA) to ensure that 
appropriate LA priorities are embedded into the CSC work; the plan will be 
updated on an annual basis in line with LAs to provide direction moving 
forward. 
 
Members were advised that the business plan has been formally agreed by the 
Directors of Education from each Local Authority, Joint Committee and Lead 
Chief Executives; it’s been designed to meet the priorities of Local authorities 
and Welsh Government, against a backdrop of new curriculums, new 
accountability frameworks, new approaches to supporting children with 
additional learning needs and the implementations of schools as learning 
organisations.  
CSC have ensured to undertake extensive evaluations of work and the 
outcomes of these evaluations shape the business planning process. The 
business plan will aid in guiding work of the CSC as they recover from the 
Covid-19 Pandemic. 
 
The Managing Director informed Members that the report highlights the context 
for education within Wales and how CSC will address these moving forward. 
Members were advised of the importance of recognising the regional service 
that supports the 5 Local Authorities and developing a range of shared 
strategic priorities as a region. These priorities come from a range of different 
services such as LA, Welsh Government and Estyn reports which are feeding 
into the process. The Managing Director informed Members of the 5 priorities 
which have been redefined based on the future of CSC. The table within the 
report provided Members with a breakdown of the key themes that will sit 
underneath the priorities.  
 
The Chair was pleased with the progress currently being undertaken within the 
business plan and was in support of the business plan working alongside LA 
priorities. The Chair queried when the final report will be available and the 
projected timescales for the priorities.  
 
The Managing Director advised that the timescales would sit within the 

 

Tudalen 13



 

operational plans, as Welsh Government have provided a 3-year indicative 
budget, similar to LA’s.  The Managing Director advised that the report will be 
updated on an annual basis.  
 
The Lead Director of Education (Bridgend Council) congratulated the CSC 
team for the work undertaken. He was pleased with the excellent engagement 
with LA’s as they have felt involved within the process. He commended the 
team for setting up a clear set of challenges which LAs are facing, which has 
been built within the business plan over the next 3 years. The Lead Director of 
Education (Bridgend Council) reassured Members of the strong scrutiny from a 
director’s level towards the business plan thus highlighting a positive direction.  
 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Committee 
RESOLVED: 
 

- To note Business Plan for 2022/25 
 

56   TO CONSIDER PASSING THE FOLLOWING UNDER-MENTIONED 
RESOLUTION:  
 
It was RESOLVED: “That the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) for the 
following items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
the exempt information as defined in paragraph 14 of Part 4 of the Schedule 12A 
of the Act”. 
 

 

57   CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM RISK REGISTER  
 
The Committee considered the Central South Consortium Joint Education 
Service Risk Register. After consideration of the information presented by the 
Deputy Managing Director, it was RESOLVED to acknowledge the content of the 
report 
 

 

 
 
 
This meeting closed at 1.10 pm                                                           CLLR J. ROSSER 

                                                                           CHAIR. 
 

Tudalen 14



 

1 
 

 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2022-2023 

 
Central South Consortium Joint 
Education Committee Meeting 

 
7th June 2022 

 

 
 

 
Report of the Managing Director of 
the Central South Consortium Joint 
Education Service Joint Committee 

 

 
Calendar of Meetings for the 

Municipal Year 2022-2023 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

To consider the proposed calendar of meetings for the 2022-2023 Municipal  

Year. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

That Members of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint  

Committee agree the Calendar of Meetings for the 2022-2023 Municipal Year. 

 

3. BACKGROUND 

The following suggested dates for meetings of the Municipal Year 2022-2023 

for the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint Committee are  

proposed. 

Meetings will be held in a virtual setting for the next Municipal year (unless members 

decide otherwise) and reviewed going forward.  

The Chair has the power to call special meetings if a matter requires urgent  

consideration. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 15

Agendwm 5



 

2 
 

QUARTERLY CYCLE 
 

 

AUTUMN 
 
Tuesday, 19th July 2022, 10am-Midday 
  
Tuesday 20th September 2022, 10am-Midday 
 
Tuesday 13th December 2022, 10.30am-12.30pm 
 
 
SPRING TERM 
 
Tuesday 28th March 2023 10m-Midday 
 
 
SUMMER TERM 
 
Tuesday 23rd May 2023,10am-Midday 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen 16



Tudalen 17

Agendwm 6



Tudalen 18



Tudalen 19



Tudalen 20



Tudalen 21



Tudalen 22



Tudalen 23



Tudalen 24



Tudalen 25



Tudalen 26



1 

 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM 
 

REPORT FOR JOINT COMMITTEE  
 

7TH JUNE 2022 
 

JOINT EDUCATION SERVICE 
 

 
REPORT OF THE TREASURER – DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
2021/22 (INCORPORATING THE 2021/22 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT) AND 2021/22 YEAR-END POSITION  
 
Author: Stephanie Davies – Service Director – Finance Services Tel. 
No. 01443 424026 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1  To provide Members with the Central South Consortium draft Statement of 

Accounts for 2021/22 (that incorporates the 2021/22 Annual Governance 
Statement) along with the draft outturn position for the year. 

 
1.2  To seek Joint Committee’s approval of the 2021/22 Annual Governance 

Statement for the Central South Consortium. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that Members:  
 
2.1 Approve the earmarked reserve request set out at 3.2.  

 
2.2 Note the draft Statement of Accounts for the Central South Consortium for 

the year-ending 31st March 2022 (Appendix 1) and the draft outturn 
position for the year (Section 4 – Table 1).  

 
2.3 Approve the 2021/22 Annual Governance Statement (as incorporated 

within the draft 2021/22 Statement of Accounts).   
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 27

Agendwm 7



2 

3. EARMARKED RESERVES 
 
3.1 At the Joint Committee meeting held on the 17th March 2022, Members 

were provided with an update in respect of approved earmarked reserves:  
 

  £6k to support school improvement.     
As at 31st March 2022, £6k has been used to support the delivery of a 
sensory project.  
 

  £200k to support on-going service remodelling and medium-term 
planning  
As at 31st March 2022, no spend is reported. To support service 
remodelling over the medium term, the Joint Committee is requested to 
approve the re-earmarking of the balance (£200k).  
 

3.2 The revised total non-grant related earmarked reserve amounts to £200k 
and has been included within the Central South Consortium’s draft 
Statement of Accounts for 2021/22.  

 
 

4. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021/22 
 
4.1  The draft 2021/22 Statement of Accounts for the Central South Consortium 

is attached at Appendix 1 and requires certification by the Host Authority’s 
Section 151 Officer (i.e. Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s 
Director of Finance and Digital Services).   

 
4.2 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 require 

local authorities to produce and publish Statements of Accounts in line with 
laid down timescales. For the 2021/22 financial year (and on an on-going 
basis thereafter), these are as follows:  

 
  The draft Statement of Accounts to be certified by 31st May following 

financial year-end; and  
 
  The audited Statement of Accounts to be approved by Joint Committee 

by 31st July following financial year-end.  
 

4.3 I can confirm that arrangements are in place for the draft 2021/22 
Statement of Accounts to be certified, subject to the Joint Committee 
approving the 2021/22 Annual Governance Statement at this meeting. 
Arrangements are also being made, through the proposed calendar of 
Joint Committee meetings for the 2022/23 Municipal Year, for the audited 
2021/22 Statement of Accounts to be approved prior to 31st July 2022. 
  

4.4 Further to local government elections and the subsequent timing of the 
appointment of elected Members to Joint Committees, it was not possible 
to arrange a Joint Committee enabling certification by 31st May as detailed 
in Accounts and Audit Regulations. However, in recognition of challenging 
timescales, Welsh Government have outlined their expectation for 2021/22 

Tudalen 28



3 

Statement of Accounts requiring certification by 31st August and publication 
of final audited accounts by 30th November.  

 
4.5  The draft Statement of Accounts, at Appendix 1, also incorporates the draft 

2021/22 Annual Governance Statement. This document has been 
compiled in accordance with ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government:  Framework 2016’ and been subject to review and challenge 
by the Consortium’s Senior Management Team.  

 
4.6  Based on the assessment undertaken, the delivery of the CSC’s 

governance arrangements have been revised, in light of the Covid-19 
pandemic, and have remained effective as evidenced through the 
comprehensive and timely updates provided to virtual Joint Committee 
meetings during the year; on-going compliance with the requirements of 
the Legal Agreement; robust financial planning and management 
arrangements; and tailored provision to schools, in line with Welsh 
Government guidance, to ensure schools have been supported throughout 
the pandemic and with their plans for recovery.  

 
4.6  With the above information in mind, the Joint Committee is requested to 

review and if deemed appropriate approve the draft 2021/22 Annual 
Governance Statement. 

 
4.7  In addition to the draft Statement of Accounts, the draft 2021/22 outturn 

position for the Consortium is a £27k underspend that is proposed to be 
allocated to the General Fund balance (taking the General Fund balance 
from £147k as at 1st April 2021 to £174k as at 31st March 2022). A 
summary of the draft 2021/22 outturn position is set out in Table 1. 
 
Table 1 – Draft 2021/22 outturn position  
 

 

  
2021/22 

£'000 
Controllable Expenditure   
  Employees 6,558 
  Premises 155 
  Transport 13 
  Supplies & Services 88,465 
  Third Party Payments 2,479 
  Support Services 126 
   97,796 
Controllable Income  
  Local Authority Contributions  (3,564) 
  Grants & Other Income  (94,255) 
   (97,819) 
    
Net Expenditure (23) 
    

Tudalen 29



4 

  Less Interest Receivable (4) 
  Transfer to Earmarked Reserves 0 
    
Net (Surplus) / Deficit After Transfer of Earmark 
Reserves (27)  
    
General Fund Balances at 1st April 2021 (147) 
General Fund Balances at 31st March 2022 (174) 

 
 
 

 

Tudalen 30



5 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 
 
 

7th June 2022 
 
Report of the Joint Committee 
 
Author:  Stephanie Davies – Service Director – Finance Services 
 
 
Item 9 - REPORT OF THE TREASURER – DRAFT STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS 2021/22 (INCORPORATING THE 2021/22 ANNUAL 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT) AND 2021/22 YEAR-END POSITION 
          
 
 
 
 
List of background papers 
 
Appendix 1 – Central South Consortium Draft Statement of Accounts 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer to Contact : 
 
Stephanie Davies  
 
Tel no. 01443 424026  
 

Tudalen 31



Tudalen wag



 

 

APPENDIX 1   

 
CENTRAL SOUTH 

CONSORTIUM  
JOINT EDUCATION SERVICE 

JOINT COMMITTEE 
 
 

DRAFT SUBJECT TO AUDIT    
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS  

 
2021/22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Tudalen 33



Central South Consortium            Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

1 | P a g e  
 

Contents  Page  
 

Narrative Report 
 

2 

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of 
Accounts 
 

10 

Certificate of the Director of Finance and Digital 
Services  
 

11 

Movement in Reserves Statement 12 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 14 
 

Balance Sheet  
 

15 

Cash Flow Statement 16 

Expenditure & Funding Analysis Statement 17 

Notes to the Core Financial Statements 19 

Annual Governance Statement 42 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

        71 
 

Glossary of Terms 
 

        74 
 

Tudalen 34



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

2 | P a g e  
 

Narrative Report  
 
1. Introduction 

 
The Central South Consortium Joint Education Service was established on 
1st September 2012 to provide a range of school improvement services 
operating on behalf of five local authorities:  Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 
This region is the most populous in Wales. It includes 380 schools and serves 
152,1411 learners – nearly one third of the country’s school-age children. The 
region is home to the highest number and the largest proportion of children 
living in poverty; it is also home to the capital city and the economic, financial 
and creative industries of Wales.   
  
The Consortium is managed and administered by the Central South 
Consortium Joint Committee, under powers conferred by the Local 
Government (Wales) Act 1994.  The Joint Committee is made up of five 
Members, one from each local authority.  Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC became 
the Host Authority upon formation of the Joint Committee. 
 
The accounts for 2021/22 have been prepared in accordance with: 
 

• The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2021/22 based on International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS); and  

• The Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 (as amended).  

 

The accounts set out on pages 12 to 41 comply with the above. 

 
 

2. Business Plan 2021-2022 

 

The Consortium’s role is to challenge and support schools in their work to 
improve educational outcomes.  

The local authorities (through a Joint Committee attended by the Cabinet 
Member for Education in each authority) agree the business plan and budget 
for the region and hold the Consortium to account for the impact of its work.  

The Consortium receives its core funding from the five local authorities and 
also receives funding from the Welsh Government to support specific 
activities in line with national priorities / initiatives.  

 
1 Pupil Level Annual School Census (PLASC) 2021 data collections delayed until April 2021 

Tudalen 35



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

3 | P a g e  
 

The performance of the schools in the Central South Consortium region are 
key to the future educational and economic success of Wales.  

How well children and young people, particularly the most vulnerable, achieve 
in this region significantly influences how the country and its education system 
are perceived within our borders and beyond. 

The Consortium’s business plan aims to: 

• Develop a high-quality education profession 

• Develop inspirational leaders to facilitate working collaboratively to raise 
standards 

• Develop strong and inclusive schools committed to wellbeing, equity and 
excellence 

• Develop robust assessment, evaluation and accountability arrangements 
supporting self-improving systems 

• Improve the effectiveness and efficiency of Central South Consortium. 

 
Operational plans underpin each improvement objective. 

 
The Consortium’s Business Plan has been compiled in the context of reducing 
resources, this being consistent with the challenging economic climate facing 
all public sector organisations in Wales. In line with this, the 2021/22 revenue 
contributions received by the Consortium from the five-member local 
authorities reduced by 1% and it is anticipated that the position of the 
Consortium requiring to operate in an environment of challenging funding 
levels will continue into the medium term.   
 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Welsh Government cancelled most of the 
statutory data collections for 2020 and also for 2021. The collections 
suspended include: 
 

• Attendance: Primary 2020 and 2021 data collections 

• Attendance: Secondary 2020 and 2021 data collections   

• National Data Collections (NDC) 2020 and 2021 data collections 

 
Welsh Government continued to collect the Pupil Level Annual School 
Census (PLASC) and Educated Other Than At School (EOTAS) data 
collections in both 2020 and 2021. However, the collection in 2021 was 
delayed until June 2021 with the census date being changed to 20th April 2021 
for PLASC 2021 and the census window between 19th April 2021 and 23rd 
April 2021 for the EOTAS 2021 collection. Analysis of this information was 
published by Welsh Government in early September 2021.  Comparisons to 
the 2020 data collection should be treated with an element of caution, as not 
all the validation checks were completed on the 2020 PLASC. 

Tudalen 36



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

4 | P a g e  
 

 
Welsh Government confirmed on 21st June 2021 that the Statistical Releases 
for NDC Core, NDC non-core, Welsh National Test (WNT), Attendance 
Primary and Attendance Secondary were suspended for reporting on data 
from 2020-21. In addition, the Statistical releases related to, “Attainment by 
eligible for Free School Meals (eFSM) / not eligible for Free School Meals 
(nFSM) (Foundation Phase (FP)-Key Stage 3 (KS3))” and “Absenteeism by 
pupil characteristics” were also suspended for 2020-21 data.    
 
The Minister for Education also confirmed on 21st June 2021 that Welsh 
Government would not be publishing performance measures related to the 
2021 summer examinations series, which covers all school and post-16 
performance measures for the 2020-21 academic year. In addition, given the 
clear implications that there will be ongoing disruptions for qualifications 
awarded next year, Welsh Government have suspended Key Stage 4 (KS4) 
and legacy sixth form performance measures for 2021-22 academic year 
also. Therefore, there are no performance measures available for KS4 or 
Post-16 for Summer 2020 and 2021 results, and these will also not be 
available for results published for Summer 2022. 
 
The Statistical bulletins for GCSE and A Level results will continue to be 
published for 2020-21 as made available for 2019-20 but they will not contain 
KS4 or legacy sixth form performance measures and will only include National 
level data with amended content to previous releases of these bulletins.   
 
Therefore, for 2020-21 there are no publicly available performance measures 
at school, local authority or regional level that can be included in this report, 
as was the situation for last year. 
 
The publication of performance data on My Local School is also suspended, 
with the publication of the national categorisation also being suspended for 
2021-22 due to the processes not being held for the academic years 2020-21 
and 2021-22.  
 
All Estyn inspections were suspended in March 2020; therefore, no analysis 
is included in this report as no inspections took place between September 
2020 and July 2021.  

 
 
3. Revenue Income and Expenditure 2021/22 

 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement provides an analysis 
of the Consortium’s gross revenue expenditure and income in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).   
 

Tudalen 37

https://gov.wales/school-performance-reporting-arrangements-covid-19-update
https://gov.wales/written-statement-school-information-improvement-and-inspection-arrangements-supporting-renewal-and
https://gov.wales/school-categorisations-be-suspended-next-year
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/news/estyn-will-not-inspect-maintained-schools-next-academic-year-statement-meilyr-rowlands-hmci


Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

5 | P a g e  
 

The Consortium’s 2021/22 revenue budget strategy underpinned the 
following broad objectives: 
 

• Support the delivery of key strategic priorities particularly around the need 
to build teams of challenge advisors to work with all schools in the region 
(with more time allocated to the schools most in need); 

• Provide timely data analysis to support schools’ self-evaluation and 
improvement planning (including school categorisation judgements); 

• Support and fund school-to-school improvement partnerships and broker 
support between schools; 

• Allocate grant funding to schools in the region along with guidance and 
advice on how grant funding can be used to drive improvement; and 

• Work with the Welsh Government to deliver its priorities in the region. 

 

The table shows the budgeted controllable income and expenditure against 
the actual controllable income and expenditure for the period 1st April 2021 to 
31st March 2022:   
 

 Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
£’000 

Variance 
£’000 

Expenditure    
Employees 3,095 3,054 (41) 
Premises 156 155 (1) 
Transport 11 9 (2) 
Supplies & Services 201 211 10 
Third Party Payments 28 33 5 
Support Services 119 126 7 

 3,610 3,588 (22) 
Income    
Local Authority Contributions 3,564 3,564 0 
Grants & Other Income 46 51 (5) 

 (3,610) 3,615 (5) 

Net Expenditure / (Income) 0 (27) (27) 

 
The reasons for the variances between budgeted and actual expenditure and 
income were: 

 

• Employees – savings attributable to in-year temporary staff vacancies;  

• Supplies & Services – includes one off costs for ICT Hardware and Office 
Equipment expenditure;  

• Support Services – additional services received from the host authority to 
meet business need; and  

• Income – primarily relates to unbudgeted interest earned on personal 
account balances. 

Tudalen 38



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

6 | P a g e  
 

 
In addition, the following categories of income and expenditure relating to 
specific grants were processed through the Central South Consortium’s 
accounts during 2021/22:  
 

 Actual 
£’000 

Expenditure  
Employees 3,438 
Transport 4 
Supplies & Services 88,321 
Third Party Payments 2,446 

 
Income 

 

Grants & Other Income 94,209 

  

Net Expenditure 0 

 
Movement in earmarked reserves (£146k) and interest on the personal 
account balance (£4k) are included in the tables above but not disclosed in 
Note 7: Income.  
 
As at 31st March 2022, the Central South Consortium held General Reserves 
of £174k. Movements on reserves are detailed within the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  

 
 
4. Capital Expenditure 2021/22 

 

There has been no capital expenditure this financial year. 

 

5. Summary of Future Revenue Plans 
 
The Consortium’s Business Plan 2022/23 was approved by Joint Committee 
on 18th March 2021 and sets out the vision, purpose and priorities it aims to 
deliver within an environment of reducing resources.  The 2022/23 Business 
Plan focuses on the following overarching priorities: 
 

1. Develop a high quality education profession; 

2. Develop inspirational leaders to facilitate working collaboratively to raise 
standards; 

3. Develop strong and inclusive schools committed to wellbeing, equity and 
excellence; 

Tudalen 39



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

7 | P a g e  
 

4. Develop robust assessment, evaluation and accountability 
arrangements supporting self-improving systems; and 

5. Improve the effectiveness and efficiency of Central South Consortium. 

 
The priorities included within the Central South Consortium’s Business Plan 
need to be underpinned by robust financial management in ensuring they are 
affordable, provide value for money and that their impact can be assessed.  
 
The revenue budget is approved annually by the Joint Committee and is 
included within the Business Plan.  Welsh Government also issue annual 
settlements on grant awards of funding.   
 
A summary of the latest (i.e. 2022/23) revenue budget is as follows (as 
approved by the Joint Committee on 22nd December 2021): 
 

Type of Expenditure Budget 
2022/23 
£’000 

Expenditure  
Employees 3,131 
Premises 159 
Transport 12 
Supplies & Services 174 
Third Party Payments 27 
Support Services 141 

Total Expenditure 
 
Income 
Local Authority Contributions 
Grants & Other Income 

3,644 
 
 

3,625 
19 

Total Income 3,644 

Net Expenditure 0 

 
 

6. Pensions Assets and Liabilities 
 
As a result of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 “Employee 
Benefits”, local authorities are required to account for pensions liabilities in 
respect of the cost of decisions made up to the Balance Sheet date.  Please 
refer to note 15.0 to the Core Financial Statements for further details. 

 
The effect of IAS 19 upon the reserves of the Joint Committee is as follows: 
 

 £’000 

Net Assets/(Liabilities) excluding Pensions Reserve 578        
Net Assets/(Liabilities) as per Balance Sheet 1,421 

Tudalen 40



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

8 | P a g e  
 

 
 

7. Introduction to Accounting Statements 

 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts  
 
This sets out the responsibilities of the Council as the administering authority 
and the Director of Finance and Digital Services for the preparation of the 
Statement of Accounts.  The Statement has to be signed and dated by the 
presiding Member at the Joint Committee meeting at which the Accounts are 
approved. 
 
Certificate of the Director of Finance and Digital Services 
 
This is the certificate of the true and fair presentation of the Accounts by the 
Director of Finance and Digital Services. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held 
by the Joint Committee, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that the 
Joint Committee may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain 
a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use) and 
‘unusable reserves’.  

 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
This statement is prepared to record income and expenditure on an accruals 
basis.  It includes items such as salaries and wages, running costs of the 
service and income received.  The statement is based upon IFRS. 
 
Balance Sheet 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the 
assets and liabilities recognised by the Joint Committee. The net assets of 
the Joint Committee (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held 
by the Joint Committee.  
 
Cash Flow Statement 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents 
of the Joint Committee during the reporting period.  
 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis  
 

Tudalen 41



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

9 | P a g e  
 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis demonstrates how the funding 
available to the Joint Committee for the year has been used in providing 
services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.   
 
Statement of Accounting Policies  
 
The purpose of this statement is to explain the basis of the figures in the 
accounts.  It outlines the accounting policies adopted. 
 
Annual Governance Statement 

 
The Annual Governance Statement sets out the framework for governance 
and internal control for the Joint Committee to carry out its functions and 
reviews its effectiveness.  It outlines the main components of the framework, 
including the arrangements for Internal Audit and how the Consortium has 
complied with the various elements of the framework. 

 
 

8.     COVID-19  

 

The impact of the COVID-19 virus on the Consortium has been managed and 
reported in the risk register to reflect the challenges faced in the ongoing 
delivery of the school improvement service during the pandemic.  

Tudalen 42



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

10 | P a g e  
 

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
Central South Consortium Joint Education Service  
 
The Council’s Responsibilities 
 
The Council is required: 

 

• To make arrangements for the proper administration of the Joint 
Committee’s financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the 
responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Council, that 
officer is the Director of Finance and Digital Services. 

• To manage its affairs to ensure economic, efficient, and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets. 

 
 
 
The Joint Committee’s Responsibilities 
 

• To approve the accounts. 

 
 
 
 
 
Signature:        Date:      
 
Chair of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint 
Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 43



Central South Consortium                                                                 Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

11 | P a g e  
 

The Director of Finance and Digital Services’ Responsibilities 
 
The Director of Finance and Digital Services is responsible for the preparation of 
the Statement of Accounts. In terms of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, the Statement of Accounts is required 
to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the organisation at the 
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the period ended 31st March 
2022. 
 
In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance and Digital 
Services has: 
 

• Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently. 

• Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent. 

• Complied with the Code. 
 
The Director of Finance and Digital Services has also throughout the financial 
year: 
 

• Maintained proper accounting records that were kept up to date. 

• Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

 
 
 

Certificate of the Director of Finance and Digital Services as Treasurer of the 
Joint Committee 
 
I certify that the statement of accounts give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Joint Committee at 31st March 2022 and its income and expenditure 
for the period then ended. 

 
 
 
 

Signed:       Date:     
 
 
Barrie Davies 

 
Director of Finance and Digital Services 
The Pavilions, Cambrian Way, Clydach Vale, Rhondda Cynon Taf 
CF40 2XX  

Tudalen 44



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

12 | P a g e  
 

Movement in Reserves Statement for the Period ended 31st March 2021 
 

 General 
Reserves 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Total Usable 
Reserves 

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves 

Total 
Reserves  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Notes: 13.1 13.2  14.0  

Balance as at 1st April 2020 138 731 869 (1,543) (674) 

Movement in reserves during 2020/21      

Total comprehensive income and expenditure (1,022) 0 (1,022) 2,166 1,144 

Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations 

     

Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:      

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits 
debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Statement 

1,081 0 1,081 (1,081) 0 

Employer’s pensions contributions and direct 
payments to pensioners payable in the year 

(191) 0 (191) 191 0 

Adjustments primarily involving the Accumulated 
Absences Account: 

     

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
CI&ES on an accruals basis is different from 
remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance 
with statutory requirements 

9 0 9 (9) 0 

Net increase or (decrease) before transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

(123) 0 (123) 1,267 1,144 

Transfers to or (from) Earmarked Reserves 132 (132) 0 0 0 

Increase or (decrease) in the Year 9 (132) (123) 1,267 1,154 

Balance as at 31st March 2021 147 599 746 (276) 470 

 
  

T
udalen 45



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

13 | P a g e  
 

Movement in Reserves Statement for the Period ended 31st March 2022 
 

 General 
Reserves 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

Total Usable 
Reserves 

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves 

Total 
Reserves  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Notes: 13.1 13.2 13.0 14.0  

Balance as at 1st April 2021 147 599 746 (276) 470 
Movement in reserves during 2021/22      

Total comprehensive income and expenditure (1,603) 0 (1,603) 2,544 951 

Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations 

     

Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:      

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits 
debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Statement 

1,695 0 1,695 (1,695) 0 

Employer’s pensions contributions and direct 
payments to pensioners payable in the year 

(226) 0 (226) 226 0 

Adjustments primarily involving the Accumulated 
Absences Account: 

     

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
CI&ES on an accruals basis is different from 
remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance 
with statutory requirements 

15 0 15 (15) 0 

Net increase or (decrease) before transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

(119) 0 (119) 1,070 951 

Transfers to or (from) Earmarked Reserves 146 (146) 0 0 0 

Increase or (decrease) in the Year 27 (146) (119) 1,070 951 

Balance as at 31st March 2022 174 453 627 794 1,421 

T
udalen 46



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

14 | P a g e  
 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the 
Period ended 31st March 2022 

 
 

Year 
ended 

31/03/21 

 Year 
ended 

31/03/22 

Note 

£’000  £’000  

    
 Expenditure   

7,029 Employees 8,041 5.0 

153 Premises 155  

10 Transport 13  

72,632 Supplies & Services 88,611 6.0 

2,854 Third Party Payments 2,478  

112 Support Services 126  

82,790  99,424  

    

 Income   

(3,599) Local Authority Contributions (3,564)  

(78,201) Grants & Other Income (94,255)  

(81,800)  (97,819) 7.0 

    

990 Net Cost of Services 1,605  

    

(1) Interest Receivable and Similar Income (4)  

33 Net Interest on Net Defined Asset/Liability 2 15.2 

    

1,022 (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

1,603  

    

(2,166) Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit 
Liability 

(2,554) 15.2 

    

(1,144) Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

(951)  

    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen 47



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

15 | P a g e  
 

 
Balance Sheet at 31st March 2022 

 
 

31/03/21  31/03/22 Note 
£’000  £’000  

 
 
 

0 

 
 
Long-Term Assets 
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Asset 

 
 
 

843 

 
 
 

15.5 

0 Total Long-Term Assets 843  

  
Current Assets 

 
 

2,051 Debtors 1,435 11.0 

2,051 Total Current Assets 1,435  

    

 Current Liabilities   

(1,339) Creditors (856) 12.0 

    

712 Net Current Assets 578  

    

712 Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 578  

    

 Long-Term Liabilities   

(242) Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Liability 0 15.5 

    

470 Net Assets/(Liabilities) 1,421  

    

 Represented by:   

    

 Usable Reserves    

147   General Reserves 174 13.1 

599 Earmarked Reserves 453 13.2 

 Unusable Reserves   

(242) Pensions Reserve 843 15.5 

 
(34) 

Short-Term Accumulating Compensated 
Absence Account 

 
(49) 

 

    

470 Total Reserves 1,421  

 
 
 
 

 
 

Tudalen 48



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

16 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Cash Flow Statement for the Period ended 31st March 2022 
 
 

Year 
ended 

31/03/21 

 Year  
ended 

31/03/22 

Note 

£’000 £’000  

    

 Operating Activities   

    

 Cash Outflows   

6,163    Cash Paid to and on Behalf of Employees 6,558  

75,170    Other Operating Cash Payments 91,881  

81,333 Total Cash Outflows 98,439  

    

 Cash Inflows   

(81,894)     Cash Received for Goods & Services (97,789)  

(1)     Interest Received (4)  

(81,895) Total Cash Inflows (97,793)  

    

(562)  646  

    

(562) Net (Increase) or Decrease in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

646 18.0 

    

 Analysis of Changes in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

  

    

(1,422) Balance as at 1st April (1,984)  

(562) Net Cash (Inflows)/Outflows 646  

(1,984) Cash Balance Owed To/(From) Host Authority (1,338)  

 
All cash transactions are administered by Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC as the Central 
South Consortium does not operate its own bank account. The cash balance due 
to/from the host authority is included in debtors at 31st March. 
 
  

Tudalen 49



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

17 | P a g e  
 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis Statement for the year ending 
31st March 2021 

 
  2020/21 

  Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 

Adjustments 
Between 

Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis 

Net 
Expenditure 

for the 
Equivalent 

Amounts for 
CI&ES2 

   £'000  £'000  £'000 

 
Employees 

 
6,163 

 
866 

 
7,029 

Premises 153 0 153 

Transport 10 0 10 

Supplies & Services 72,632 0 72,632 

Third Party Payments 2,854 0 2,854 

Support Services 112 0 112 

Income (81,932) 132 (81,800) 

Cost of Services (8) 998 990 

     
Other Income and Expenditure  (1) 33 32 

(Surplus) or Deficit  (9) 1,031 1,022 

 
Opening General Fund at 31st March 
2020 

 
 

(138) 

  

 
Add Surplus on General Fund in Year 

 
(9) 

  

Closing General Fund at 31st March 
2021 

 
(147) 

  

 

 
2 CI&ES – Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

Tudalen 50



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

18 | P a g e  
 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis Statement for the year ending 
31st March 2022 

 
  2021/22 

  Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 

Adjustments 
Between 

Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis 

Net 
Expenditure 

for the 
Equivalent 

Amounts for 
CI&ES3 

   £'000  £'000  £'000 

 
Employees 

 
6,559 

 
1,482 

 
8,041 

Premises 155 0 155 

Transport 13 0 13 

Supplies & Services 88,611 0 88,611 

Third Party Payments 2,478 0 2,478 

Support Services 126 0 126 

Income (97,965) 146 (97,819) 

Cost of Services (23) 1,628 1,605 

     
Other Income and Expenditure  (4) 2 (2) 

(Surplus) or Deficit  (27) 1,630 1,603 

 
Opening General Fund at 31st March 
2021 

 
 

(147) 

  

 
Add Surplus on General Fund in Year 

 
(27) 

  

Closing General Fund at 31st March 
2022 

 
(174) 

  

 
  

 
3 CI&ES – Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

Tudalen 51



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

19 | P a g e  
 

Notes to the Core Financial Statements 

 
 

1.0 Significant Accounting Policies 
 
1.1 Accruals of Expenditure and Income 
 

The accounts of the Joint Committee have been prepared on an accrual of 
income and expenditure basis in accordance with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting. This ensures activity is accounted for in the year 
that it takes place not when cash payments are made or received. 
 
Revenue from the sale of goods or services is recognised when the Joint 
Committee transfers the significant risks and rewards of goods, or provides 
the services to the purchaser, and it is probable that economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Joint 
Committee. 
 
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are used or consumed.  
 
Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made. 
 
Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted 
for respectively as income and expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on the basis of the effective interest rate for the 
relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows determined by the 
contract. Statutory adjustments relating to interest are reflected in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  

 
1.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

All cash transactions are administered by Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC as the 
Central South Consortium does not operate its own bank account. 
 

1.3 Contingent Liabilities 
 

A contingent liability is a possible item of expenditure that arises from past 
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one 
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the organisation’s control. 

 
Such contingent liabilities are not reflected in Provisions in the Balance Sheet 
as it may not be probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
 

Tudalen 52



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

20 | P a g e  
 

1.4 Reserves 
 
The Joint Committee sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy 
purposes or to cover contingencies. These are deemed Earmarked Reserves.  
Earmarked Reserves are created by appropriating amounts from the General 
Reserves in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be 
financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in 
that year. To ensure this is not a charge against General Reserves, the 
expenditure is funded via an adjustment in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for retirement 
and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Joint 
Committee. 
 

1.5 Employee Benefits 
 

All costs relating to employee benefits are accounted for on an accruals basis. 
 
Pensions 
 
The Joint Committee participates in two separate pension schemes. 
 
Staff on Teachers Terms & Conditions - This is an unfunded scheme 
administered by the Teachers’ Pension Agency. The Agency sets contribution 
rates on the basis of a notional fund. Whilst this is a defined benefit scheme, 
the Teachers Pensions Agency is unable to identify the Joint Committee’s 
share of the underlying assets and liabilities and accordingly, the Joint 
Committee has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a 
defined contribution scheme. 
 
Other employees - Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC administer a fund on behalf of 
employees under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 
(as amended), under which contribution rates are set by the Fund’s actuary 
based on triennial actuarial valuations. Under the regulations, contribution 
rates are set in order to lead to full funding of the overall liability of the Fund 
over time. The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a 
Defined Benefit Scheme. 
 

• The liabilities of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Pension Fund attributable to the 
Joint Committee are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis 
rolling forward the results from the last full valuation and adjusted to allow 
for the later calculation date and making allowance for changes due to 
accrual of new benefits and discharge of liabilities, financial and 
demographic assumptions, impact of known experience and the impact 
of events which result in a change in liability. 

 

Tudalen 53



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

21 | P a g e  
 

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount 
rate of 2.7% (2.1% in 2020/21).  

 

• The Rhondda Cynon Taf Pension Fund is a multi-employer scheme. The 
assets of the Fund are not formally allocated to any employer within the 
Fund and are not the legal property of any employer within the Fund. For 
the purpose of completing the calculations for each triennial valuation of 
the Fund, the actuary calculates a notional allocation of assets for each 
employer. The assets of the Pension Fund notionally attributed to the 
Joint Committee are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

 
Quoted Securities – Current Bid Price 
Unitised Securities – Current Bid Price 
Property – Market Value 

 

• The change in the net pensions asset / liability is analysed into the 
following components: 

 
o Current Service Cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of 

service earned this year allocated in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked 
plus administration expenses. 

o Past Service Cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year 
decisions whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier 
years debited to the (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

o Interest Cost – the expected increase in the present value of liabilities 
during the year as they move one year closer to being paid – 
credited/debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

o Expected Return on Assets – the annual investment return on the fund 
assets attributable to the Joint Committee based on an average of the 
expected long-term return – credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. 

o Actuarial Gains and Losses – changes in the net pensions liability that 
arise because events have not coincided with assumptions made at 
the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their 
financial, demographic or experience assumptions – debited or 
credited to the Pensions Reserve. 

o Contributions Paid to the Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s 
contributions to the Pension Fund in settlement of liabilities; not 
accounted for as an expense in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the Joint 
Committee General Reserves to be charged with the amount payable by the 
Joint Committee to the Pension Fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not 

Tudalen 54



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

22 | P a g e  
 

the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the 
Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are appropriations 
to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits 
for retirement benefits and replace them with the cash paid to the Pension 
Fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-
end. The balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the 
impact to the General Reserves of being required to account for retirement 
benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by 
employees. 

 
Discretionary Benefits 
 
The Joint Committee is able to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any such liabilities arising are 
accrued in the year of decision to make the award in line with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme rules.   
 
Accumulated Absences 
 
The Joint Committee accrues for staff holidays earned but not taken at each 
year-end. The Welsh Government has issued regulations to mitigate the 
impact of this charge. This Joint Committee has taken advantage of the 
regulations and charged the additional costs to the Short-Term Accumulating 
Compensated Absences Account in Unusable Reserves. 

  
1.6 Government Grants and Other Contributions 

 
Grants and other contributions relating to capital and revenue expenditure 
shall be accounted for on an accruals basis and recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when there is reasonable 
assurance that:  
 

• the conditions for their receipt have been/will be complied with; and 

• the grant or contribution will be received. 
 
Monies advanced, where there is no reasonable assurance of the above two 
criteria, are held as creditors in the Balance Sheet.  
 
Where a revenue grant has been recognised in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement but not yet used to fund expenditure, it is set aside 
as an Earmarked Reserve. 
 
Where a claim has yet to be signed off by the Regional Internal Audit Shared 
Service, Balance Sheet values in relation to grants are included on an 
unaudited draft claim basis. 
 

Tudalen 55



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

23 | P a g e  
 

For 2020/21, Welsh Government extended the use of the Regional Consortia 
School Improvement Grant (RCSIG) and Pupil Development Grant (PDG) 
grants to 31st August 2021. 

 

 

1.7 Leases 
 

Whether a lease is a finance or operating lease depends upon the substance 
of the transaction rather than the legal form.  Leases are reviewed at inception 
and classed as finance or operating by reviewing arrangements such as: 
 

• Transfer of ownership at the end of lease contract. 

• Option to purchase asset at a price lower than fair value. 

• Lease term is for major part of economic life of asset. 

• Present value of minimum lease payments amounts to at least 
substantially all of the fair value of leased asset. 

• Leased assets are specialist and only the lessee can use them without 
major modifications.  

 
Finance Leases 

 

A finance lease is one which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee.  

 
Where the Joint Committee is lessee, an asset and liability are recognised at 
lease inception. The asset is subsequently depreciated and revalued as 
though it were the legal property of the Joint Committee. The liability reduces 
as lease payments are made.  
 
Operating Leases 

 
An operating lease is deemed to be any lease other than a Finance Lease.  
 
Where the Joint Committee is lessee, lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a 
straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is more representative of 
the benefits received.  
 

1.8 Events after the Reporting Period 
 
Events after the reporting period are those both favourable and unfavourable 
that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
Two types of events can be identified: 
 

Tudalen 56



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

24 | P a g e  
 

a) those that provide evidence of conditions existing at the end of the 
reporting period (adjusting events that shall be recognised in the financial 
statements); and 

b) those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period 
(non-adjusting events that are not reflected in accounting statements but 
where material, disclosure is made in the Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements). 

 
 
2.0 Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted 

 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
(the Code) requires the disclosure of information relating to the expected 
impact of an accounting change that will be required by a new standard that 
has been issued but not yet adopted. In the interim potentially relevant 
standards include: 

  

• IFRS 16 Leases (but only for those local authorities that have decided 
to adopt IFRS 16 in the 2022/23 year).  

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020. The annual 
IFRS improvement programme notes four changed standards:  

➢ IFRS 1 (First-time adoption) – amendment relates to foreign 
operations of acquired subsidiaries transitioning to IFRS  

➢ IAS 37 (Onerous contracts) – clarifies the intention of the standard  

➢ IFRS 16 (Leases) – amendment removes a misleading example that 
is not referenced in the Code material  

➢ IAS 41 (Agriculture) – one of a small number of IFRSs that are only 
expected to apply to local authorities in limited circumstances.  

 
It is not anticipated that the above amendments will have a material impact 
on the Consortium’s Statement of Accounts. 

 
 

3.0 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In applying the Accounting Policies set out in note 1.0, the Joint Committee 
has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions and those 
involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements made in the 
Statement of Accounts are: 
 

3.1 Grants and Contribution Conditions 
 

Judgements are made in terms of conditions attached to revenue grants. 
Grants are recognised as income when received/receivable. Unless there are 

Tudalen 57



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

25 | P a g e  
 

assumptions that conditions of the grant are breached, a return obligation is 
not recognised. As a result, any revenue grants received with no expected 
return obligation that are to be used to fund future years’ expenditure are 
reflected in Earmarked Reserves in the Balance Sheet. 

 
 

4.0 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of 
Estimation Uncertainty 

 
Pensions Asset/Liability  

 
4.1 Estimation of the net asset/liability to pay pensions depends on a number of 

complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which 
salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates 
and expected returns on pension fund assets. AON is engaged to provide the 
Joint Committee with advice about the assumptions to be applied.  

  
COVID impact 

 
The information upon which the actuary bases assumptions on mortality 
impacted by COVID has moved from a neutral to a negative outlook. This has 
resulted in an estimated reduction in liabilities of 1%. 

  
 GMP equalisation and indexation 
 

The disclosures allow for full CPI inflation pension increases to be paid on 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) for those reaching State Pension Age 
on or after 6th April 2016. This is an approximate method of recognising the 
cost of the Government’s commitment to compensate public service scheme 
members from the removal of the Additional Pension element of the State 
Pension from this date, and for the outcome of the Lloyds judgement which 
found GMPs to be illegally sex discriminatory. Government has consulted on 
its approach to compensating affected members and announced on 23rd 
March 2021 that it would adopt a long-term policy of uprating GMPs in line 
with CPI for members whose State Pension Age is on or after 6th April 2016.  
The consultation response recognised that this solution will not address all 
sex inequalities for a minority of member and further guidance is expected 
from DLUHC on how they propose to deal with this. These inequalities are 
expected to be small. 
  
In October 2020 a second ruling in the Lloyds bank case clarified that 
compensation would be required for members who transferred benefits out 
since May 1990. Government has not yet acknowledged a liability in public 
service schemes nor indicated an approach in rectifying this. Therefore, no 
allowance for potential liabilities relating to the second Lloyds ruling is 
included in the accounts. 

Tudalen 58



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

26 | P a g e  
 

 
Goodwin Ruling 

  

In June 2020 an Employment Tribunal ruled in relation to the Teacher’s 

Pension Scheme, that provisions for survivor’s benefits of a female member 

in an opposite sex marriage are less favourable than for a female in a same 

sex marriage or civil partnership, and that treatment amounts to direct 

discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation. The chief secretary to the 

Treasury announced in a ministerial statement on 20th July 2020 that he 

believed that changes would be required to other public service pension 

schemes with similar arrangements. As these changes are yet to be reflected 

in the LGPS regulations and also on the basis of materiality, allowance has 

not been made in the calculations.  

 
McCloud / Sargeant Judgement 
 
The Court of Appeal found that the transitional protection arrangements put 
in place when firefighters’ and judges’ pension schemes were reformed were 
age discriminatory. This has implications for other public sector schemes that 
were reformed around the same time (including the LGPS) and could 
potentially lead to members deemed to be discriminated against being 
compensated. The Supreme Court denied the Government’s application for 
permission to appeal this judgement on 27th June 2019. The matter was 
referred to Employment Tribunals for remedy hearings and the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) ((now department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities) (DLUHC)) undertook a 
consultation on the remedy and confirmed they would be proceeding with the 
key principles as laid out in the consultation. The figures produced by AON 
for 2020/21 disclosures included a McCloud underpin liability within current 
service cost, together with an allowance reflecting service since the scheme 
reforms (2014 in Wales). The same approach has been adopted for 2021/22. 
The method used by AON to value the McCloud remedy and therefore 
disclosed within the Statement of Accounts is closely aligned to that which the 
DLUHC has confirmed they will proceed.  

  
 Cost Management Process in the LGPS 
 

Legislation requires HM Treasury and the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) to 
undertake periodic valuations to monitor the cost of the LGPS to ensure it 
remains sustainable and affordable. This is referred to as the “Cost 
Management Process”. HM Treasury and the Scheme Advisory Board had 
paused their reviews following the McCloud judgement in the Court of Appeal. 
These have now been unpaused and HMT Directions were made over 2021, 
allowing SAB and HMT reviews to proceed. The outcome of the SAB review 
has been published and recommended no changes to the provisions of the 
scheme.  It is expected that the outcome of the HMT review will also 
recommend no changes. The legality of the Government’s decision to include 

Tudalen 59



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

27 | P a g e  
 

McCloud costs as a member cost within the 2016 HMT process is being 
challenged by a Judicial Review brought by trade unions. If the Judicial 
Review is successful, this may cause the 2016 HMT process to be re-run and 
could result in changes to benefits or member contributions backdated to 1st 
April 2019. 

 
No allowance has been made for the potential cost of improving members 
benefits under these reviews. 
 
 

5.0 Employees Costs 
 

2020/21  2021/22 
£’000 Salaries & Wages £’000 

4,740 
728 
440 
217 

0 
35 
3 

Advisors 
Administration 
Management 
Finance Team 
Agency 
Employee Insurance 
Employee Advertising 

5,002 
845 
466 
204 

1 
35 
6 

6,163 
 

9 

Sub Total 
Short-Term Accumulating Compensated 
Absences Account adjustment 

6,559 
 

15 
857 IAS 19 adjustments 1,467 

7,029 Total 8,041 

 
 

6.0 Supplies and Services 
 

2020/21  2021/22 
£’000  £’000 

119 Office Expenses 150 
182 Consultants Fees 594 
117 Computer Costs 54 

2 Photocopying 7 
5 Subscriptions 3 
5 Marketing 3 

18 Audit Fees 18 
10 Telephones  6 
1 Postage 0 

186 Training 92 
  

Grants paid to local authorities & schools: 
 

38,713 
 

Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant 
(RCSIG) 

50,784 
 

32,856 Pupil Development Grant (PDG) 36,380 

Tudalen 60



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

28 | P a g e  
 

418 Other 520 

72,632 Total 88,611 

 
 
7.0 Income 

 

2020/21  2021/22 
£’000  £’000 

 
(1,303) 

(982) 
(554) 
(532) 
(228) 

Contributions 
Cardiff Council 
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC 
Bridgend CBC 
Vale of Glamorgan Council  
Merthyr Tydfil CBC 

 
(1,293) 

(966) 
(549) 
(529) 
(227) 

(3,599) Total Contributions (3,564) 

 
(58) 

(78,143) 

Other Income 
Other  
Grants 

 
(55) 

(94,200) 

(78,201) Total Other Income (94,255) 

(81,800) Total Income (97,819) 

 
7.1 Grant Income 
 

2020/21  2021/22 
£’000  £’000 

 Grant Programme  
(34,094) 
(43,501) 

 
(548) 

Pupil Development Grant (PDG) 
Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant 
(RCSIG) 
Other 

(37,582) 
(55,866) 

 
(752) 

(78,143) Total Grant Income (94,200) 

 
71,987 

6,156  

Allocation 
Paid to local authorities and schools (Note 6.0) 
Retained by Central South Consortium 

 
87,684 

6,516  

78,143 Total Allocation 94,200 

 
 

8.0 Related Party Transactions 
 

In accordance with IAS 24, the Joint Committee has a duty to disclose any 
material transactions with a “related party”.  This is to ensure that financial 
statements contain disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility 
that the reported financial position and results may have been affected by the 
existence of related parties and by material transactions with them. 
 

Tudalen 61



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

29 | P a g e  
 

The Joint Committee transacts with the local authorities and its schools within 
the Consortium, distributes funding, and provides advisory and inspection 
services for which it receives income. During the year, material transactions 
with these related parties arose as follows: 

 

2020/21  2021/22 

Exp. 
£’000 

Inc. 
£’000 

Local Authority Exp. 
£’000 

Inc. 
£’000 

29,088 (1,412) Cardiff Council 34,667 (1,293) 
20,359 (1,010) Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC 24,699 (997) 
11,545 (554) Bridgend CBC 13,756 (549) 

9,799 (532) Vale of Glamorgan Council 12,059 (529) 
4,937 (247) Merthyr Tydfil CBC 5,768 (227) 

  
Income received from Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC (£4k) due to interest received 
and support provided to ALN Transformation regional project (£27k) are 
included in the table above but are not included in Note 7.0 as they do not 
form part of the Local Authorities core contributions received.  
 
Welsh Government exerts significant influence through legislation and grant 
funding. The main grants received are shown in Note 7.1. 
 
All cash transactions are administered by the host authority, Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC, as the Consortium does not operate its own bank account. At 31st 
March 2022, Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC owed the Consortium £1,338k relating 
to these cash transactions (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC owed the Consortium 
£1,984k as at 31st March 2021). During 2021/22, Central South Consortium 
was charged £126k by Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC in respect of Central 
Establishment Charges (included in the table above, £112k in 2020/21).   
 
Pension contributions are made to both the Rhondda Cynon Taf Pension 
Fund and the Teachers’ Pension Agency, in respect of Joint Committee 
employees. See notes 15.0 and 16.0 for further information. 
 
Interests of elected Members of the Joint Committee are maintained in a 
register held by their own Local Authority. Records of interests of Senior 
Officers are maintained by the Consortium. The following transactions 
occurred with related parties (by virtue of elected Member interest in them) 
with whom the Joint Committee has had dealings: 

 
 

Tudalen 62



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

30 | P a g e  
 

The table above does not include payments to/from the Local Authorities or 
schools within the Consortium, as they are included elsewhere within the 
notes.  
 
 

9.0 Audit Fees 
 

2020/21  2021/22 
£’000  £’000 

18 
Fees payable to the Auditor General for 
Wales in respect of external audit 

18 

 
 

10.0 Leases 

 
A long term lease arrangement totalling £153k in 2021/22 (£153k in 2020/21) 
exists between the Joint Committee and Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC in relation 
to office accommodation at the Valleys Innovation Centre.  No termination is 
contained within the lease agreement and occupation is assumed for as long 
as the service is required. 
 
The Joint Committee holds no assets on Finance Leases. 
 

 
11.0 Short Term Debtors 

 
An analysis of Short Term Debtors in the Balance Sheet is as follows: 
 

31/03/21 
£’000 

 31/03/22 
£’000 

1,984 Host Authority  1,338 
68 Other Entities and Individuals 97 

2,052  1,435 
(1) Provision for Bad Debt 0 

2,051 Balance as at 31st March 2022 1,435 

 
All cash transactions are administered by Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC as the 
Central South Consortium does not operate its own bank account.  The Host 
Authority debtor includes the ‘cash’ balance owed to the Consortium by 
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC.    
 

2020/21 Organisation 2021/22 

Exp. Inc. 
 

Exp. Inc. 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

55 0 Cardiff University 7 0 

55 0 Total 7 0 

Tudalen 63



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

31 | P a g e  
 

 
12.0 Creditors 
 

An analysis of Short Term Creditors in the Balance Sheet is as follows: 
 

31/03/21 
£’000 

 31/03/22 
£’000 

(1,079) Local Authorities and Schools (348) 

(17) Central Government Bodies (32) 

(209) Other (427) 

(34) Employee Absences Accrual (49) 

(1,339) Balance as at 31st March 2022 (856) 

 
 

13.0 Movement on Usable Reserves 
 

 General 
Reserves 

£’000 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Balance as at 1st April 2021 147 599 746 
Increase/(Decrease) 27 (146) (119) 

Balance as at 31st March 2022 174 453 627 

 
13.1 General Reserve 

 
The General Reserve is a distributable revenue reserve, which consists of the 
accumulated surpluses of the Consortium’s operations. 
 

 Total 
£’000 

Balance as at 1st April 2021 147 
Increase/(Decrease) 2021/22 27 

Balance as at 31st March 2022 174 

 
13.2 Earmarked Reserves 

 
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Reserve balance 
in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure.  All 
earmarked reserves are deemed to be revenue reserves. 
 

 Balance 
at 

31/03/21 
£’000 

Transfers 
Out 

£’000 

Transfers 
In 

£’000 

Balance 
at 

31/03/22 
£’000 

Revenue Grant Reserves 393 (393) 253 253 

Tudalen 64



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

32 | P a g e  
 

Funding for Specific 
Projects 

206 (6) 0 200 

Total 599 (399) 253 453 

 
The Central South Consortium holds an earmarked reserve for the funding of 
specific projects of which £200k is set aside for ongoing service remodelling 
and medium-term financial planning (£200k held as at 31st March 2021).   

 
 
14.0 Movements on Unusable Reserves 

 

Reserve Pension 
Reserve 

 
 

£’000 

Short-Term 
Acc Comp 

Absence 
Account 

£’000 

Total 
 
 
 

£’000 

Balance as at 1st April 2021 (242) (34) (276) 
Increase / (Decrease) 1,085 (15) 1,070 

Balance as at 31st March 2022 843 (49) 794 

 
14.1 Pension Reserve 

 
The Pension Reserve is the balancing account to offset the inclusion of 
Pension Liability in the Balance Sheet as required by IAS 19 “Employee 
Benefits”. See note 15.0 for further information. 
 

14.2 Short-Term Accumulating Compensated Absences Account 
 

The Short-Term Accumulating Compensated Absences Account absorbs the 
differences that would otherwise arise on the Consortium’s Reserves from 
accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year e.g. 
annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31st March 2022. 
 
 

15.0 Retirement Benefits – Defined Benefit Schemes  
 

15.1 Participation in Pension Schemes 
 
As part of their terms and conditions, the employees of Central South 
Consortium are offered retirement benefits by the Joint Committee. Although 
these benefits will not be payable until retirement, the Joint Committee has a 
commitment to make these payments. The liability for these payments needs 
to be accounted for at the time future entitlement is earned. 
 
The Joint Committee participates in two pension schemes: 
 

• Teachers – Please refer to note 16.0. 

Tudalen 65



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

33 | P a g e  
 

 

• Other employees – The Local Government Pension Scheme 
administered by Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC.  This is a funded defined 
benefit salary scheme, meaning that the Joint Committee and participants 
pay contributions into the Fund calculated at a level intended to balance 
the pensions liabilities with investment assets.  The pension costs that are 
charged to the Joint Committee’s accounts are defined by IAS 19 
“Employee Benefits”. 

 
15.2 Transactions Relating to Post-Employment Benefits 

 
 The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Account when earned by employees, rather than when 
benefits are actually paid as pensions. However, the charge required to be 
made to the General Reserves is based on the cash payable in the year.  The 
difference is reversed out in the Movement in Reserves Statement. The 
following transactions have been posted in the year: 

 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account 

2020/21 2021/22 
£’000 £’000 

Cost of Services:   

Current Service Cost 1,048 1,693 

Past Service Cost 0 0 

Settlements and curtailments 0 0 

Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 

  

Net Interest Expense 33 2 

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

1,081 1,695 

Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit 
Liability Comprising: 

  

Return on Plan Assets (Excluding the Amount 
included in the Net Interest Expense) 

(7,585) (94) 

Actuarial (Gains) and Losses Arising on 
Liabilities – Demographic Assumptions 

0 (334) 

Actuarial (Gains) and Losses Arising on 
Liabilities – Financial Assumptions 

5,736 (2,232) 

Actuarial (Gains) and Losses Arising on 
Liabilities – Experience 

(317) 
 

106 
 

Net increase in liabilities from disposals / 
acquisitions 

0 0 

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

(1,085) (859) 

Movement in Reserves Statement   

Tudalen 66



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

34 | P a g e  
 

Reversal of Net Charges Made to the Surplus 
or Deficit for the Provision of Services for Post 
Employment Benefits in Accordance with the 
Code 

(1,081) (1,695) 

Actual Amount Charged Against the General 
Fund Balance for Pensions in the Year: 

  

Employers’ Contributions Payable to Scheme 191 226 

 
The total remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit Liability recognised in 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure to the 31st March 2022 is a 
gain of £2,554k (£2,166k gain in 2020/21).  
 
The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement to the year ending 31st 
March 2022 is a gain of £5,273k (£2,719k gain in 2020/21). 
 
The figures above do not include allowance for any membership (or 
associated assets) relating to members who have joined the employer but 
have not yet exercised their option to link their past service rights to their 
current employment. 
 

15.3 Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities 
 

 2020/21 2021/22 
 £’000 £’000 

Opening balance at 1st April 26,254 33,113 

Current Service Cost 1,048 1,693 

Interest Cost on Defined Obligation 602 695 

Contributions by Scheme Participants 260 308 

Remeasurement Gains and (Losses):   

Actuarial Gains and (Losses) Arising on 
Liabilities – Demographic Assumptions 

0 (334) 

Actuarial Gains and (Losses) Arising on 
Liabilities – Financial Assumptions 

5,736 (2,232) 

Actuarial Gains and (Losses) Arising on 
Liabilities – Experience 

(317) 106 

Benefits Paid (470) (332) 

Past Service Costs 0 0 

Carried Forward at 31st March 33,113 33,017 

 
15.4 Reconciliation of Fair Value of the Scheme Assets 

 

 2020/21 2021/22 
 £’000 £’000 

Opening balance at as at 1st April 24,736 32,871 

Interest Income 569 693 

Tudalen 67



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

35 | P a g e  
 

Remeasurement Gains and (Losses)   

The Return on Plan Assets, Excluding the 
Amount Included in the Net Interest Expense 

7,585 94 

Employer Contributions 191 226 

Contributions by Scheme Participants 260 308 

Benefits paid (470) (332) 

Net increase in assets from 
disposals/acquisitions 

0 0 

Carried Forward as at 31st March 32,871 33,860 

 
The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the 
expected returns available on the assets underlying the current investment 
policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross 
redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of return 
experienced in the respective markets. The actual return on scheme assets 
in the year was a gain of £787k (£8,154k gain in 2020/21). 
 

15.5 Scheme History 
 

 2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

Present Value of Defined Obligation (33,113) (33,017) 
Fair Value of Plan Assets 32,871 33,860 

Surplus / (Deficit) (242) 843 

 
The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the Joint Committee has 
in the long run to pay retirement benefits. The total asset of £843k has a 
substantial impact on the net worth of the Joint Committee as recorded in the 
Balance Sheet. 
 
The surplus on the local government scheme may recovered in the form of 
reduced future contributions. 
 

15.6 Local Government Pension Scheme Assets 
 

Local Government Pension Scheme Assets investments as at 31st December 
2021 (full scheme not Central South Consortium element) are comprised as 
follows: 
 

 Fair Value of Scheme Assets 

 2020/21 2021/22 
 £’000 £’000 

UK Equities 432,535 443,447 
Overseas Equities 2,688,782 2,870,331 
UK Fixed Interest Gilts 401,988 563,640 

Tudalen 68



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

36 | P a g e  
 

UK Corporate Bonds 575,814 607,650 
Property 280,848 317,833 
Cash and net current assets 37,085 16,991 

Total 4,417,052 4,819,892 

 
15.7 Basis for Estimating Assets & Liabilities 

 
Roll-forward of Assets 

The valuation results from the last full valuation of the Fund (or results at the 
previous accounting date as appropriate) are adjusted to the accounting year-
end allowing for: 

• Investment returns, and  

• Cash-flows including investment returns on those cashflows. 

The asset value at the start of the accounting period is accumulated with the 
Fund investment return over the accounting period. Net cashflows are 
assumed to be paid half way through the period and accrue half of the Fund 
investment return over the period. 

Roll-forward of Liabilities 

The valuation results from the last full valuation of the Fund (or results at the 
previous accounting date as appropriate) are adjusted to allow for the later 
calculation date (by adding interest to the liabilities) and make allowance for 
changes in liabilities due to: 

• The accrual of new benefits and the discharge of liabilities from the 
payment of benefits. 

• The financial and demographic assumptions adopted at the year-end. 

• The impact of any known experience affecting the liabilities, such as the 
impact of actual pension increases on pensions in payment and deferred 
benefits. 

• If applicable, the impact of events which result in a change in the liability 
such as past service costs, settlements and curtailments. 

 

The full valuation was based on funded benefits and the principal 
assumptions used by the actuary have been: 

 

 31/03/21 31/03/22 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return on 
Assets in the Scheme (in line with the 
discount rate) 

4.25% 4.25% 

Mortality Assumptions:   

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:   

Men 21.8 21.6 

Women 24.1 23.9 

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:   

Tudalen 69



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

37 | P a g e  
 

Men 22.8 22.6 

Women 25.6 25.4 

CPI Inflation 2.7% 3.0% 

Rate of Increase in Salaries 3.95% 4.25% 

Rate of Increase in Pensions 2.7% 3.0% 

Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.1% 2.7% 

Take-up of Option to Convert Annual 
Pension into Retirement Lump Sum: 

  

Post-2010 Service 80% 80% 

Pre-2010 Service 80% 80% 

 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial 
assumptions set out in the table above. The sensitivity analyses below have 
been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions 
occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that 
the assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain 
constant.  
 

 Increase in 
Assumption 

Decrease in  
Assumption 

 £’000 £’000 

Longevity  
(Increase or Decrease in 1 Year) 

1,156 (1,123) 

Rate of Increase in Salaries (increase 
or decrease by 0.1%) 

66 (66) 

Rate of Increase in Pensions (increase 
or decrease by 0.1%) 

627 (627) 

Rate for Discounting Scheme Liabilities 
(increase or decrease by 0.1%) 

(693) 693 

 
15.8 Contributions for the Accounting Period ending 31st March 2023 

 
The Employer’s regular contributions to the Fund for the accounting period 
ending 31st March 2023 are estimated to be £236k (£199k as at 31st March 
2022). 
 
 

16.0 Retirement Benefits – Defined Contribution Scheme 
 

Staff employed on Teachers terms and conditions are members of the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme.  The scheme provides teachers with specified 
benefits upon their retirement and the Joint Committee contributes towards 
the costs by making contributions based upon a percentage of members’ 
pensionable salary. 
 
The Scheme is technically a defined benefit scheme.  However, the Scheme 
is unfunded and the Department for Education uses a notional fund as the 

Tudalen 70



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

38 | P a g e  
 

basis for calculating the employer’s contribution rate paid by local authorities.  
The Council is not able to identify its share of underlying financial position and 
performance of the Scheme with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes.  
For the purposes of this Statement of Accounts, it is therefore accounted for 
on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme.  
 
In 2021/22, the Joint Committee paid £94k to the Teachers’ Pension Fund in 
respect of teachers’ retirement benefits, representing 23.68% of pensionable 
pay (£94k was paid in 2020/21 representing of 23.68% pensionable pay). 
There were no contributions remaining payable at the year-end. 

 
 

17.0 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 

The draft, unaudited Statement of Accounts will be authorised for issue by the 
Director of Finance and Digital Services, as Chief Finance Officer, following 
approval by the Joint Committee.  Events taking place after this date are not 
reflected in the financial statements or notes.  Where events taking place 
before this date provide information about conditions existing at 31st March 
2022, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in 
all materials respects to reflect the impact of this information.  There are no 
events that took place after 31st March 2022 requiring disclosure providing 
information that is relevant to an understanding of the Central South 
Consortium’s financial position.    

 
 
18.0 Reconciliation of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account to 

Cash flow 
 

2020/21  2021/22 
£’000  £’000 

1,022 (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services 1,603 
(600) (Increase)/Decrease in Creditors 482 
(94) Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors 30 

(890) IAS 19 Transactions (1,469) 

(562) Cash (Inflow)/Outflow from Revenue Items 646 

 
 

19.0 Contingent Liabilities 
 
Cost Management Process in the LGPS 
 
Please refer to Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources 
of Estimation Uncertainty (4.0) 
 
Legislation requires HM Treasury and the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) to 
undertake periodic valuations to monitor the cost of the LGPS to ensure it 

Tudalen 71



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

39 | P a g e  
 

remains sustainable and affordable. This is referred to as the “Cost 
Management Process”. HM Treasury and the Scheme Advisory Board had 
paused their reviews following the McCloud judgement in the Court of Appeal. 
These have now been unpaused and HMT Directions were made over 2021, 
allowing SAB and HMT reviews to proceed. The outcome of the SAB review 
has been published and recommended no changes to the provisions of the 
scheme.  It is expected that the outcome of the HMT review will also 
recommend no changes. The legality of the Government’s decision to include 
McCloud costs as a member cost within the 2016 HMT process is being 
challenged by a Judicial Review brought by trade unions. If the Judicial 
Review is successful, this may cause the 2016 HMT process to be re-run and 
could result in changes to benefits or member contributions backdated to 1st 
April 2019. 
 
No allowance has been made for the potential cost of improving members 
benefits under these reviews. 
 
 

20.0 Officers’ Remuneration 
 

During 2021/22, the Consortium paid 90 employees on average every month 
(81 in 2020/21). Over the year, salary payments totalled £4,184k (excluding 
employer’s national insurance and pension contributions) (£3,724k in 
2020/21).  

 
Under the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014, the Joint Committee 
must disclose in their accounts the number of employees (excluding specific 
senior employees who are shown in Note 20.0) whose remuneration in the 
year fell in each bracket of a scale in multiples of £5,000 commencing at 
£60,000 (excluding pension contributions).  The disclosure includes 
redundancy payments. 
 
The following salary payments were made within the categories specified: 

 

Remuneration 
Band 

2020/21 2021/22 

No. of Employees No. of Employees 

At 
31/03/20 

Left in 
Year 

Total 
At 

31/03/21 
Left in 
Year 

Total 

£60,000 - £64,999 11 0 11 11 0 11 

£65,000 - £69,999 5 0 5 9 0 9 

£70,000 - £74,999 2 0 2 5 0 5 

£75,000 - £79,999 0 0 0 1 0 1 

£80,000 - £84,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£85,000 - £89,999 1 0 1 0 0 0 

£90,000 - £94,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Tudalen 72



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

40 | P a g e  
 

£95,000 - £99,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£100,000 - £104,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£105,000 - £109,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£110,000 - £114,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 19 0 19 26 0 26 

 
 
21.0 Senior Officers 
 

The following table sets out the remuneration for specific Senior Officers 
whose salary is less than £150k but greater than £60k.  There are no Senior 
Officers whose salary is greater than £150k.  Employer pension contributions 
and compensatory payment in relation to loss of employment are included. 

 

Post Holder 
Information 

2021/22 

Salary 
 
 

Taxable 
Benefits in 

Kind 

Compensation 
for loss of 

employment 

Employer's 
Pension 

Contributions 

Total 
 
 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Managing 
Director * 

115 0 0 7 122 

Deputy 
Managing 
Director ** 

 
94 

 
0 

 
0 

 
6 

 
100 

Assistant 
Director – 
Standards & 
Improvement 
Planning ** 

 
 

81 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

5 

 
 

86 

Assistant 
Director – 
Curriculum ** 

82 0 
 

0 
 

5 87 

 
* Total amount of salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable during 2021/2022 
excludes £1k that relates to 2020/2021 but was remunerated to the senior officer 
during 2021/2022 part of which (£2k) will be remunerated to the senior officer 
during 2022/2023. 
 
** Includes the total amount of salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable 
during 2021/2022, part of which (£1k) will be remunerated to the senior officer 
during 2022/2023. 
 
The comparative figures for 2020/21 are shown in the following table: 

 

2020/21 

Tudalen 73



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

41 | P a g e  
 

Post Holder 
Information 

Salary 
 
 

Taxable 
Benefits in 

Kind 

Compensation 
for loss of 

employment 

Employer's 
Pension 

Contributions 

Total 
 
 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Managing 
Director *** 

113 0 0 7 120 

Deputy 
Managing 
Director (from 
01/04/2020)  

92 0 0 6 98 

Senior Lead – 
Standards & 
Improvement 
Planning (up to 
31/08/2020) / 
Assistant 
Director – 
Standards & 
Improvement 
Planning (from 
01/09/2020) 

80 0 0 5 85 

Assistant 
Director – 
Curriculum (from 
01/01/2021) **** 

20 0 0 1 21 

 
*** Includes the total amount of salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable 
during 2020/2021, part of which (£1k) will be remunerated to the senior officer 
during 2021/2022. 
 
**** The Assistant Director – Curriculum previously held the post of Senior Lead – 
Curriculum Reform (up to 31st December 2020) via a secondment arrangement and 
is not included in this note as the post-holder was an officer of the employing local 
authority (Cardiff) rather than the Consortium itself. 
 
The salary for the Director of Finance and Digital Services, who signs the accounts 
on page 11, is not included in this note as the post-holder is a senior officer of the 
Host Authority rather than the Consortium itself. 

 
 

22.0 Severance Costs 
 
There has been no cost of severance to the Consortium in respect of employees 
who have left the employment of the Consortium during the financial year.  
 

Tudalen 74



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

42 | P a g e  
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM 
 

DRAFT ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021/22  
 

1. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY  

 

1.1 The Central South Consortium (CSC) is a Joint Education Service commissioned 
by five Local Authorities namely: 
 

• Bridgend CBC; 

• Cardiff CBC; 

• Merthyr Tydfil CBC; 

• Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC; and  

• Vale of Glamorgan CBC.            
 
Central South Consortium covers the needs of 380 schools and 152,141 pupils in 
the region. 
 

1.2 In January 2014, Central South Wales Challenge was launched with the aim of 
raising standards across all schools within the region and to stimulate the sharing 
of expertise amongst schools and joint efforts to innovate to: 
 

• Improve the performance of every school; 

• Increase the numbers of good and excellent schools;  

• Reduce the gap between high and low performing groups of learners; and  

• Improve outcomes for vulnerable groups of pupils. 
 
Subsequently the Central South Wales Challenge has developed and consists of 
a number of different strategies: 
 

 

Tudalen 75

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/self-improving-system


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

43 | P a g e  
 

 
1.3 Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (RCTCBC) is responsible for 

ensuring that its business and that of the Joint Education Committee, for which it 
has administrative responsibility, is conducted in accordance with the law and 
proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted 
for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.  

 
1.4 In discharging this overall responsibility, CSC is responsible for putting in place 

proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and facilitating the effective 
exercise of its functions, which includes the arrangements for the management of 
risk. 

 
1.5 The Annual Governance Statement of CSC aims to provide an accurate 

representation of the governance arrangements in place for financial year ending 
31st March 2022.  
 
 

2. THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  

 

2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, and cultural values 
by which CSC is directed and controlled, and the activities through which it 
accounts to and engages with stakeholders. It enables CSC to monitor the 
achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives 
have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

 
2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed 

to manage the risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

 
2.3 The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify 

and prioritise the risks to the achievement of CSC’s priorities, to evaluate the 
likelihood and impact of those risks materialising, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively, and economically. 
 

2.4 CSC has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, an assessment of its 
governance framework including the system of internal control. The assessment is 
informed by the work conducted by external agencies and internal arrangements, 
including performance management arrangements. 
 

2.5 The following paragraphs summarise the overall governance framework and the 
system of internal control, which has been in place for CSC for the year ended 31st 
March 2022 (and up to the date of approval of the 2021/22 Statement of Accounts). 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 76



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

44 | P a g e  
 

 
3.0  THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  
 
3.1  CSC has used the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 

(2016) in compiling its Annual Governance Statement. The Framework comprises 
two Core Principles and five Supporting Principles:  

 
Core principles 

• Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values 
and respecting the rule of law; and  

• Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

 

Supporting Principles  

• Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 
benefits; 

• Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes; 

• Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 
the individuals within it; 

• Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management; and  

• Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver 
effective accountability. 

 
3.2  The Core Principles permeate implementation of the Supporting Principles with the 

need for CSC to be committed to improving governance on a continual basis 
through a process of evaluation and review.  

 
3.3  CSC has applied these principles to structure its Annual Governance Statement for 

financial year ending 31st March 2022 and to assess the arrangements in place.  
 
3.4 CSC has a range of governance arrangements in place, in line with the ‘Delivering 

Good Governance in Local Government Framework’, many of which are set out in 
CSC’s legal agreement and / or are part of the governance arrangements of 
RCTCBC that have been adopted by CSC. Table 1 provides examples of the key 
systems, processes and documents in place within CSC during 2021/22.  

 
 Table 1 - Examples of key systems, processes and documents in place within 

the CSC 
 

Good 
Governance 
Principles  

Examples of key systems, processes and documents 
in place within CSC  

Behaving with 
integrity, 
demonstrating 
strong commitment 

• Rules of Procedure – covering Council, Open 
Government, Access to Information, Budget and Policy 
Framework, Executive, Overview and Scrutiny, Officer 

Tudalen 77

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncilConstitution/RelatedDocuments/Part4RulesofProcedure.pdf


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

45 | P a g e  
 

to ethical values 
and respecting the 
rule of law  

Employment and Contract and Financial Procedure 
Rules.  The rules set out arrangements to be followed by 
elected Councillors and Officers when conducting the 
CSC’s business with the aim of publicly demonstrating 
accountability and openness.  

• Whistle-blowing Policy– promoting the highest possible 
standards of service and setting out how workers can 
bring information about a wrongdoing to the attention of 
CSC.  

• Anti-fraud, Bribery & Corruption Strategy. 

• Gifts and hospitality Policy. 

• Comments, Compliments and Complaints – setting out 
how the Council / CSC handles and responds to the 
feedback (complaints, compliments and comments).  

• Officer Guide.   

• Staff Handbook. 
 

Ensuring 
Openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement 

• Forward plans for committee meetings together with the 
matters to be considered, where appropriate. 

Defining outcomes 
in terms of 
sustainable 
economic, social 
and environmental 
benefits 
 

• Performance Management Framework.  

• Business Plan and Operational Delivery Plans.  

• Regular Performance Reports to Joint Committee 
(including Risk Register updates). 

• Risk Management Strategy.  

• Annual Revenue Budget Strategy.   

• Medium Term Financial Plan.   

• Scrutiny Committees.  

• Challenge and Review sessions with Welsh 
Government. 

Determining the 
interventions 
necessary to 
optimise the 
achievement of the 
intended outcomes 

Developing the 
entity’s capacity, 
including the 
capability of its 
leadership and the 
individuals within it 

• Business Plan 

• Staff Handbook. 

• Schemes of Delegation.  

• Self-evaluation process. 

• Regional Evaluation & Improvement Session 

Managing risks 
and performance 
through robust 
internal control and 
strong public 

• Risk Management Strategy.  

• Annual Performance Report (including Risk Register 
updates). 

• An Internal Audit function. 

Tudalen 78

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/CommentsComplimentsandComplaints/Commentscomplimentsandcomplaints.aspx


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

46 | P a g e  
 

 
 
3.5 Legal Agreement 
 
 On the 20th April 2015 all parties entered into and signed a revised legal agreement 

which superseded all previous legal agreements between the Partners. This 
agreement consolidated the legal arrangements relevant to CSC into one 
Agreement. From this point forward within the Annual Governance Statement, 
reference will be made to the ‘Legal Agreement’.  

 
3.5.1 The Legal Agreement for Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint 

Committee provides the governance framework within which the Service operates 
and allocates responsibility and accountability, as follows: 

 

• The Host Authority; 

• The Directors’ Steering Group; 

• The Advisory Board; 

• Operational Management Group;  

• Central South Consortium Joint Education Committee; and 

• Financial Management. 
 

3.5.2 The legal agreement is currently under review to bring in line with recent changes 
to governance arrangements (as outlined in section 5.3.8 below) and will be taken 
to Joint Committee for consideration. 
 

 
3.6 The Host Authority 
 

The Legal Agreement formally assigns RCTCBC as the Host Authority for CSC. 
RCTCBC provides all support services (save for the day to day administration 
undertaken by staff in accordance with their duties) required, including but not 
limited to: 
 

• Financial (Section 151 Officer as defined by section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Accounts, Payroll, Creditors, Debtors, Insurance); 

• Human Resources;  

financial 
management 
 

• Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules and 
Contract and Financial Procedure Rules.  

• Medium Term Financial Plan.  

 

Implementing good 
practices in 
transparency, 
reporting and audit 
to deliver effective 
accountability 

• Statement of Accounts. 

• Annual Governance Statement. 

• Production of reports on key areas of business. 

• Internal Audit.  

Tudalen 79



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

47 | P a g e  
 

• Health & Safety;  

• Legal; 

• ICT;  

• Estates; 

• Internal Audit (facilitated by the Regional Internal Audit Service, (RIAS)); and  

• Procurement.  
 

The costs of which, where relevant, are charged to Central South Consortium Joint 
Education Service Joint Committee through Service Level Agreements. 
 

3.7 The Constitution of RCTCBC, which has the financial stewardship of CSC, 
allocates functions and responsibility within the Authority. It also regulates the 
behaviour of individuals (Members & Officers) and groups through codes of 
conduct, protocols and rules of procedure. All functions undertaken by CSC should 
be done so in accordance with all relevant Policies and Procedure Rules of 
RCTCBC. 

 
3.8 Officer Conduct 
 

To ensure a consistent approach to working practices and processes, all officers 
are subject to the terms and conditions of employment (which are based on 
RCTCBC’s operating terms and conditions).   
 

3.9 COVID-19 
 

 On the 18th March 2020, an Urgent Decision of the Leader of the RCT CBC set 
out the  current emergency planning arrangements for COVID 19 at UK, Wales 
and locality levels and the potential implications for Council services.  
 
Further to the arrangements put in place during 2020/21, decision making and 
governance continued to operate in compliance with CSC’s Legal Agreement for 
2021/22. Due to social distancing, all meetings arranged under our governance 
arrangements have met virtually using either Microsoft Teams or Zoom video 
conferencing. The Senior Management Team and Senior Leadership Team have 
also met weekly allowing decision making to continue. 
 
The Local Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) (Wales) Regulations 2020 have 
changed the pre-existing laws to enable fully remote meetings to take place as long 
as those participating can hear and be heard. It also provides for the distribution 
and publication of all associated documents via electronic means only.  As a result, 
the Joint Committee will continue its committee functions and, in consultation with 
the Chairs of the Committees, virtual meetings will continue to be held.  

 
 The impact of the COVID-19 virus on CSC has been managed and reported in the 

risk register to reflect the challenges faced in the ongoing delivery of the school 
improvement service during the pandemic, with updates also reported to the Joint 
Committee.  

Tudalen 80

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/DelegatedDecisions/RelatedDocuments/Decisions/2019to2020/PreparingforCovid19.pdf


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

48 | P a g e  
 

 
 

4.0  ASSESSING CSC’S GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  
 

4.1  In line with the Core and Supporting Principles of the Framework, the approach 
taken to assess CSC’s arrangements has been to:  

 

• Set out a brief description of the arrangements and procedures in place 
together with the key outcomes CSC is aiming to achieve;  
 

• Examine and document the main activities that have taken place around these 
areas, taking account of supporting evidence from CSC’s internal processes 
and Audit Wales reports published on CSC;  

 

• Form a view on the extent to which the activities comply with the procedures in 
place; and  

 

• Make proposals for improvement, where appropriate, together with 
recommended timescales for implementation and responsible officers.  

 
4.2  The assessment of CSC’s governance arrangements is set out in Section 5.  

 
 

5.0  ASSESSMENT OF GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS  
 
5.1 PROGRESS MADE TO IMPLEMENT RECOMMENDATIONS REPORTED IN 

THE 2020/21 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
 The 2020/21 Annual Governance Statement made 10 proposals for improvement.  

An update on progress was reported to Central South Consortium Joint Education 
Service Joint Committee on 16th December 2021 and following consideration the 
Committee RESOLVED:  to note the progress that has been made to date in 
implementing the proposals for improvement. 

 
 As at 31st March 2022, progress had been made against the 10 proposals: 
 

• 8 proposals for improvement have been implemented. 

• 2 proposals for improvement were ‘in progress’ and will be completed during 
2022/23 – it is considered that the part implementation status for these areas 
did not have an adverse impact on the robustness of CSC’s governance 
arrangements during the year. 
 

 Based on the above, it is considered that overall, sufficient progress has been 
made during 2021/22 in the delivery of the proposals for improvement with the 
requirement for further work to be completed in 2022/23. A detailed position 
statement is set out at Appendix A. 

 

Tudalen 81



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

49 | P a g e  
 

 
5.2  BEHAVING WITH INTEGRITY, DEMONSTRATING STRONG COMMITMENT TO 

ETHICAL VALUES, AND RESPECTING THE RULE OF LAW  
 

Behaving with integrity  

 

5.2.1  CSC follows the Host Authority Constitution which sets down how it should 
operate, how decisions need to be made and the procedures to be followed to 
ensure they are efficient, transparent and available to local people. Within the 
Constitution there are a number of Rules4  and Protocols5 that aim to ensure 
both elected Councillors and employees behave with integrity.  

 

5.2.2 CSC has put in place procedures to be followed by the Joint Education 
Committee when conducting meetings and making decisions during the year to 
publicly demonstrate an accountable, open and honest approach. This has 
included considering the accuracy of ‘meeting minutes’6; recording declarations 
of personal interest; publishing reports on RCT’s website prior to meetings taking 
place; making decisions based on evidenced based reports; and publishing the 
minutes of meetings.  A review of a sample of Joint Education Committee 
meetings during the year revealed that the above-mentioned procedures had 
been followed.  

 
CSC employees  

 
5.2.3  CSC Legal Agreement outlines the role of RCTCBC as the host authority.  As 

part of this agreement, CSC adopts the policies of RCT including an Officer Code 
of Conduct that has been used to create an easy to understand ‘Basic Rules – 
A Guide for Employees’ and includes information in relation to, amongst other 
things, expected behaviour, use of social media, appearance and attendance. 
The guide is available on-line for all employees. 

 
5.2.4 All officers who started employment with CSC were provided with a local 

induction. In parallel, an Individual Performance development process was in 
place to support the personal development of officers, this being overseen by 
management within the CSC and supported by the Human Resources Service 
within Rhondda Cynon Taf. As a result of the COVID 19 pandemic, the usual 
performance management processes were suspended during 2020/21 and 
replaced with virtual discussion and support with team members.  During 
2021/22 the process was revised and a new Performance Development system 
was introduced.   

 
 Arrangements in place to tackle potential misappropriation 
 

 
4 Rules – for example, Financial and Contract Procedure Rules  
5 Protocols – for example, Gifts and Hospitality Policy  
6 Meeting minutes – a formal and agreed record of the events that took place at each meeting.  

Tudalen 82

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncilConstitution/RelatedDocuments/Part4RulesofProcedure.pdf
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncilConstitution/RelatedDocuments/Part5CodesandProtocols.pdf


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

50 | P a g e  
 

5.2.5 In the event that an officer decides to operate outside of the intended terms and 
conditions of employment, arrangements were in place for officers to “blow the 
whistle” through RCT‘s Whistleblowing Policy & Procedure.  

 
5.2.6 In addition to the Whistleblowing arrangements, there were arrangements in 

place to tackle potential fraud, bribery and corruption.  
 

5.2.7 RCTCBC’s Governance and Audit Committee has overall responsibility for 
overseeing the governance arrangements in place in respect of ‘tackling 
potential fraud, bribery and corruption’ and ‘whistle-blowing’. Updates received 
by the Governance and Audit Committee during the year in respect of these 
arrangements were:  

 

Anti-Fraud, Bribery & Corruption  
 

5.2.8 On the 6th December 2021, a progress update was reported against the Anti-
fraud, Bribery and Corruption Work Programme for 2021/22. Following this, on 
the 23rd March 2022, the Anti-fraud Annual Report 2021/22 was reported that 
outlined the progress made against the Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption Work 
Programme for 2021/22 alongside a proposed work programme for 2022/23. 
The overall conclusion set out in the March 2022 report, based on the work 
undertaken during the year, was that the Council has taken necessary 
preventative steps to raise awareness around vigilance and appropriate sharing 
of intelligence across the anti-fraud network. Both the December 2021 and 
March 2022 updates were reviewed and noted by the Governance and Audit 
Committee. 

 
Whistle-Blowing  

 

5.2.9 At the 26th April 2021 Audit Committee, Members agreed to approve the 
proposed update to the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy & Procedure, and 
instructed the Director of Human Resources to publish and raise awareness of 
the updated document.  In line with this, a Council wide email / notification was 
circulated to Council staff and whistleblowing continued to be part of staff 
induction arrangements.  

 

5.2.10 At the 23rd March 2022 Governance and Audit Committee, the Whistleblowing 
Annual Report 2021/22 was presented and concluded that the Whistleblowing 
Policy and Procedure continues to be fit for purpose and that the Council’s 
whistleblowing arrangements are appropriate. The Governance and Audit 
Committee resolved to approve the Whistle-blowing Annual Report 2021/22 in 
line with the requirements placed upon the Council by the Prescribed Persons 
(Reports on Disclosures of Information) Regulation 2017. 

 

Tudalen 83

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/Whistleblowing/Whistleblowing.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/FraudInvestigation/FraudInvestigation.aspx


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

51 | P a g e  
 

5.2.11 Gifts and Hospitality Policy – CSC aligns to the RCT Gifts and Hospitality Policy 
with arrangements in place, via registers, to record gifts and hospitality in line 
with the Policy. 

 
 Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values   
 
5.2.12  Ethical Values: CSC employees - CSC has described what excellent behaviour 

looks like for each type of job, for example, ‘always treat people with respect’, 
and this information is used to test candidates suitability for jobs at interview and 
is used to inform discussions managers have with their staff as part of their 
development.  
 

5.2.13  The Council’s supply chains 

  

The Council plays a significant role in the utilisation of national framework 
contracts as well as local contractual arrangements, and is responsible for 
ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law, applies high 
ethical values, that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and 
used economically, efficiently and effectively.  The Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules provides the framework to achieve this and the ‘Procurement Policy – 
Social Responsibility’ aligns with the three key initiatives issued by Welsh 
Government, namely Community Benefits; Code of Practice Ethical Employment 
in Supply Chains; and Opening Doors: the Charter for SME Friendly 
Procurement. 

 
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/D
elegatedDecisions/RelatedDocuments/Decisions/2019to2020/ProcurementPo
licySocialResponsibility.pdf 

 
Respecting the rule of law  

 
5.2.14  The Managing Director position leads CSC’s officers and chairs the Senior 

Management Team.  
 
 

5.3 ENSURING OPENNESS AND COMPREHENSIVE STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT  

 
Openness  

 
5.3.1  Members of Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint 

Committee are governed by the Code of Conduct of their relevant Council. The 
Codes of Conduct for Councillors and employees within the Constitution of the 
Host Authority are built on the principles of openness, transparency and 
honesty. 

 
 General Data Protection Regulation 

Tudalen 84

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/DelegatedDecisions/RelatedDocuments/Decisions/2019to2020/ProcurementPolicySocialResponsibility.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/DelegatedDecisions/RelatedDocuments/Decisions/2019to2020/ProcurementPolicySocialResponsibility.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/DelegatedDecisions/RelatedDocuments/Decisions/2019to2020/ProcurementPolicySocialResponsibility.pdf


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

52 | P a g e  
 

 
5.3.2 The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) came into force on the 25th 

May 2018. CSC took steps during 2018/19 to demonstrate accountability and 
transparency when handling and processing personal and sensitive 
information that it holds in respect of individuals. These arrangements were 
maintained during 2021/22 by:  

 

• Formally recording the lawful basis upon which data / information is 
processed within suites of documents called Data Protection Registers; 
and 

 

• Establishing ‘Privacy Notices’ that are available on CSC’s website setting 
out how it intends to use information and how it will deliver its services and 
statutory responsibilities.   

 

An internal group developed relevant policy papers and refined processes and 
procedures to ensure GDPR compliance, working closely with the RCTCBC 
Information Management team.   
 
It is considered that the publication of this information continues to support CSC 
in complying with the GDPR and demonstrates openness and transparency 
when dealing with its customers. 
 

  Freedom of Information and Subject Access Requests 
 
5.3.3 CSC operated a Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 2000 publication scheme in 

accordance with legislative requirements. FOI updates are provided to Joint 
Committee on an annual basis and during 2021/22 two FOI requests were 
received and were responded to within 20 working days. Also one Subject 
Access Request was received and was also responded to within one calendar 
month period.  

 
 This information is scheduled to be reported to the Joint Committee on 7th June 

2022. 
 

 Planning ahead   
 

5.3.4 CSC consulted with stakeholders on its vision and priorities for 2021/22 and 
set these out in a document called 'Business Plan 2021/22‘; this Plan was 
agreed by Joint Education Committee on 18th March 2021. During 2021/22, the 
Joint Committee has received business plan priority updates as self-standing 
agenda items and a review of business plan progress is reported annually (the 
latest review, relating to 2021/22, was reported to Joint Committee on 17th 
March 2022). Based on the updates provided, it is considered that appropriate 
and regular information is made available to the Joint Committee to review and 
challenge performance and hold Management of CSC to account.   

 

Tudalen 85



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

53 | P a g e  
 

  Looking ahead, it is likely that there will be uncertainty on future year resource 
levels provided by the UK Government to Welsh Government due to, amongst 
other things, the impact of COVID-19. The 15th July 2021 Joint Committee 
meeting agreed an indicative revenue budget across a 3-year time horizon 
(2022/23 to 2024/25), as part of the Consortium’s medium term financial 
planning arrangements; this position will be refreshed in 2022/23 to continue 
to support future service planning.  

 
 Openness – Forward work programmes 
 
5.3.5 CSC had in place a forward work plan of Committee meetings for 2021/22 

together with the matters to be considered and, at the 7th June 2022 Joint 
Committee meeting, a forward workplan for the 2022/23 municipal year is 
scheduled to be reported. 
 

 Decision making and scrutiny of decisions made  
 

5.3.6 During the year, Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint 
Committee made key decisions, for example, reviewing and agreeing CSC 
Business Plan, Core Revenue Budget and Annual Governance Statement.  

 
  The Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint Committee is one 

of the main decision-making bodies within CSC and throughout 2021/22 
received 38 reports, 36 of which were made publicly available prior to the 
meetings and 2 were excluded from the press / public on the grounds that the 
items of business involved the likely disclosure of exempt information.  

 
 Key decisions were also taken by the Directors of Education from each of the 

local authorities at the Director Steering Group meetings7.  
    

  Based on the above information it is considered that the decision-making 
arrangements that operated during 2021/22 were open and transparent, and 
compliant with the CSC’s Legal Agreement.  

 
  Finally, a review of a sample of Joint Education Committee Reports for 2021/22 

has confirmed that a consistent format was used. 
 
 Engagement with stakeholders 

 
 5.3.7 The arrangements for engagement with stakeholders were originally as 

follows:  
 

• Directors’ Steering Group – The Directors’ Steering Group comprises the 
Directors of Education from each of the five local authorities that make up 

 
7 Subsequently known as the CSC Management Board 

Tudalen 86



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

54 | P a g e  
 

the CSC.  This group is responsible for delegated decision making on 
behalf of each local authority. 

 
The membership, decision making process, meetings and the terms of 
reference for the Director’s Steering Group are documented within 
Schedule 2 of the Legal Agreement. 
 

• Senior Leadership Group - The Group comprises the senior management 
team of the CSC as well as Principal Improvement Partners for each local 
authority,.  Senior officers with strategic responsibilities are also part of the 
leadership group. The objective of the group is to deliver school 
improvement activities with the aim of raising educational standards. 

 
The membership, decision making process, meetings and the terms of 
reference for all groups are documented within Schedule 3 of the Legal 
Agreement.  

 

• Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint Committee 

 
The Joint Education Committee comprises of one elected Member from 
each Council and one officer representative with responsibility for 
Education from each Council.  
 
The Joint Education Committee has the powers of each Council with 
reference to the provision of a Joint Education Service and its performance 
as set out in the Legal Agreement and guided by the Welsh Government’s 
‘National Model for Regional working’. 
 
The purpose of the Joint Education Committee is to be responsible for the 
decision making, approval of the business plan, monitoring and 
accountability and financial reporting of the CSC arrangements in line with 
its own business plan.  
 
The membership, decision making process, meetings and the terms of 
reference for the Joint Education Committee are documented within 
Schedule 4 of the Legal Agreement.   
 

5.3.8  The Joint Committee agreed to commission ISOS to undertake an independent 
review of the Consortium at its October 2018 meeting.  The context to the 
review was the national changes to the education system and the financial 
pressures facing schools and Local Authorities. As part of implementing agreed 
recommendations from the review,  the Joint Committee meeting on the 16 
December 2020 agreed to amend the Governance structure in order to:- 

 

• consider the benefits of bringing different groups together into one 
overarching decision making board; 

Tudalen 87



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

55 | P a g e  
 

• Review the role being played by Joint Consortium Committee; 

• Strengthen its function as a forum to share and problem solve together; 
and 

• Strengthen the connection between clusters, local heads groups and the 
Consortium. 

 
5.3.9  A revised structure was agreed in order to ensure that all stakeholders have a 

voice in the system and there are opportunities for each stakeholder group to 
meet to focus on issues related to the sector.  Each group now has a revised 
terms of reference and will be included in the proposed revised legal agreement 
(subject to consideration / approval by the Joint Committee). The new 
governance structure is as follows: 

 

• Joint Committee 

• CSC Management Board 

• Regional Stakeholder Group 

• Senior Leadership Team 

• Governor Stakeholder 

• Partnership Group 

 
5.3.10  There were a broad range of communication methods on offer to encourage 

stakeholders to express their views during 2021/22; this included social media, 
focus group discussions with regional stakeholder groups and the Annual 
Survey which took place during November 2021. 

 
5.3.11 Proposal for Improvement 
 Undertake a stakeholder survey across the region as part of CSC’s business 

plan priority to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of CSC.  
 
 

5.4  DEFINING OUTCOMES IN TERMS OF SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC, 
SOCIAL, AND ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS  

 
Defining outcomes 

  
5.4.1 CSC’s ‘Business Plan 2021-2022’ was approved by the Joint Education 

Committee on the 18th March 2021 and identified five overarching improvement 
priorities:- 

 

• Develop a high-quality education profession;  

• Develop inspirational leaders to facilitate working collaboratively to raise 
standards;  

• Develop strong and inclusive schools committed to wellbeing, equity and 
excellence;  

Tudalen 88



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

56 | P a g e  
 

• Develop robust assessment, evaluation and accountability 
arrangements supporting self-improving systems; and 

• Improve the effectiveness and efficiency of CSC.  
 

5.4.2  CSC’s Revenue Budget for the 2021/22 financial year was approved at the 16th 
December 2020 Joint Committee meeting, aligning resources to business plan 
priorities.  

 
5.4.3  Following approval of the Business Plan and Revenue Budget, Operational 

Plans were put in place for each priority, in line with resources available, 
detailing outcome aims, the actions to be delivered with timescales for delivery 
and performance indicators.  

 
5.4.4  A review of performance indicator targets included within the Business Plan 

identified that there is a clear ambition for the CSC to improve in its priority 
areas.  

 
5.4.5  Throughout 2021/22 action plan progress updates have been made public 

through Joint Education Committee meetings that also contain information on 
financial performance, strategic risks and investment linked to Business Plan 
priorities. This has included preparation for Curriculum Reform. 

 
5.4.6 Progress with the Business Plan has also been monitored by Welsh 

Government as part of Regional Challenge and Review Meetings, including a 
meeting with Welsh Government officials on 21st March 2022. For 2021/22 
76.87% of CSC‘s Business Plan was funded from Welsh Government, 23.10% 
from EWC and 0.03% from LA contributions (this excludes core contributions 
from LAs to fund core areas of business). 

 
 Proposal for Improvement  
 
5.4.7  Further develop the Medium-Term Financial Plan during 2022/23 regarding the 

needs of schools following the COVID 19 pandemic and the implementation of 
Curriculum for Wales.  This will ensure resources are allocated / categorised 
over Business Plan priorities. 

 
 Propose an amendment to the Legal Agreement to allow for LA priorities and 

outcomes of self-evaluation to be embedded within the Business Plan of CSC.   
 
 
5.5  DETERMINING THE INTERVENTIONS NECESSARY TO OPTIMISE THE 

ACHIEVEMENT OF THE INTENDED OUTCOMES 
 

Determining and planning interventions  
 

5.5.1  CSC's Legal Agreement lays down the key requirements to be followed when 
setting its priorities, reporting the extent of progress made in priority areas and 

Tudalen 89



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

57 | P a g e  
 

also the financial planning and management arrangements that support this. 
These include the requirement to:  

 

• Agree the draft School Improvement Service annual revenue budget by the 
31st December prior to the start of the financial year and submit to each of 
the Parties for approval with the business plan to be agreed by the 1st 
February; and 

• Publish financial and performance progress updates on a termly basis 
during the year, which will include explanations of any variances against 
the profiled budget. 

 
5.5.2  When the above requirements were reviewed for the 2021/22 financial year:  

 

• Performance Reports were presented to the Joint Education Committee 
and the Local Authority Scrutiny Committees during the year, with 
performance reports also presented to Welsh Government officials as part 
of the Challenge and Review meetings.  A review of information reported 
during the year identified that updates on financial performance; progress 
against Business Plan priorities; and strategic risks were reported to Joint 
Committee meetings. In addition, the financial and performance 
information reported also highlighted and explained exceptions, and noted 
where corrective action would be taken.  
 

5.5.3  Based on the above, it is considered that the information published during the 
year would provide opportunity for stakeholders to understand CSC’s 
performance and hold it to account.  

 
Optimising achievement of intended outcomes  

 
5.5.4  CSC’s Business Plan set out how the agreed 1% decrease in core funding 

would be delivered and managed during 2021/22. 
 
5.5.5  With this context in mind, CSC took steps to plan the allocation of resources 

and put in place arrangements to maximise its impact.  
 

Maximising impact  
 

5.5.6 Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, WG has cancelled most of the statutory data 
collections for both 2020 and 2021. The collections suspended include:  

  
• Attendance: Primary 2020 and 2021data collections  
• Attendance: Secondary 2020 and 2021 data collections    
• National Data Collections (NDC) 2020 and 2021 data collections  

 
5.5.7  WG continued to collect the Pupil Level Annual School Census (PLASC) and 

Educated Other Than At School (EOTAS) data collections in both 2020 and 
2021. However, the collection in 2021 was delayed until June 2021 with the 

Tudalen 90



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

58 | P a g e  
 

census date being changed to 20th April 2021 for PLASC 2021 and between 
the census window of 19th April 2021 and 23rd April 2021 for the EOTAS 2021 
collection. Analysis of this information has been published by WG in early 
September 2021. Comparisons to the 2020 data collection should be treated 
with an element of caution, as not all the validation checks were completed on 
the 2020 PLASC.  

 
5.5.8 WG confirmed on 21 June 2021 that the Statistical Releases for NDC Core, 

NDC non-core, WNT, Attendance Primary and Attendance Secondary were 
suspended for reporting on data from 2020-21. In addition, the Statistical 
releases related to , “Attainment by eligible for Free School Meals (eFSM)/ not 
eligible for Free School Meals (nFSM) (Foundation Phase (FP)-Key Stage 3 
(KS3))” and “Absenteeism by pupil characteristics” were also suspended for 
2020-21 data.     

  
5.5.9 The Minister for Education also confirmed on 21 June 2021 that WG would not 

be publishing performance measures related to the 2021 summer 
examinations series, which covers all school and post-16 performance 
measures for the 2020-21 academic year. In addition, given the clear 
implications that there will be ongoing challenges for qualifications awarded 
next year, WG have suspended Key Stage 4 and legacy sixth form 
performance measures for 2021-22 academic year also. Therefore, there are 
no performance measures available for KS4 or Post-16 for Summer 2020 and 
2021 results, and these will also not be available for results published for 
Summer 2022.  

  
5.5.10 The Statistical bulletins for GCSE and A Level result will continue to be 

published for 2020-21 as made available for 2019-20 but they will not contain 
Key Stage 4 or legacy sixth form performance measures and will only include 
National level data with amended content to previous releases of these 
bulletins.    

  
Therefore, for 2020-21 there are no publicly available performance measures 
at School, LA or Regional Consortia level that can be included in this report, as 
was the situation for last year.  

  
5.5.11 The publication of performance data on My Local School is also suspended, 

with the publication of the national categorisation also being suspended for 
2021-22 due to the processes not being held for the academic years 2020-21 
and 2021-22 This report does not contain any information for the National 
Categorisation as this was included in the report published last year.  

  
5.5.12 All Estyn inspections were suspended from March 2020 due to the Covid-19 

pandemic, however Estyn monitoring visits were resumed in July 2022.  
 

 

Tudalen 91



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

59 | P a g e  
 

5.6 DEVELOPING THE ENTITY’S CAPACITY, INCLUDING THE CAPABILITY 
OF ITS LEADERSHIP AND THE INDIVIDUALS WITHIN IT  

 
Developing the entity’s capacity  
 

5.6.1  CSC aims to ensure that staff have the skills, knowledge and capacity they 
need to discharge their responsibilities and recognises the value of well-trained 
and competent people in effective service delivery.  

 

5.6.2 The Self Evaluation processes within CSC ensure a rigorous assessment of 
the current position and areas for improvement.  This evaluation is incorporated 
into service level planning processes as well as ensuring alignment with 
national and local authority priorities. 

 

5.6.3 Effectively managing the workforce – CSC has consistently become more 
efficient on a year-on-year basis, driven by both proactive and prudent 
management and also on-going reductions in funding, and at the same time:  

 

• Supported an overall direction of travel of improved performance results 
in priority within the business plan.  

• Continue to operate a system of agile working arrangements that has 
taken advantage of digital technology to help CSC to work in new and 
different ways to meet school needs, reduce costs, support staff 
productivity and help contribute to a healthy work / life balance for 
employees.  

• Aligned the on-going modernisation of its arrangements to RCTCBC’s 
Digital Strategy.  

• Aligned to the new CSC Digital Strategy implemented in Autumn Term of 
2021 

 
 
5.7  Developing the capability of the entity’s leadership and other individuals  
 
  The CSC Legal Agreement sets out the responsibilities of the Managing 

Director, the Joint Education Committee and CSC Management Board 
(Schedule 2). A review of a sample of delegated decisions made during the 
year confirmed that decisions were approved by the designated Joint 
Education Committee members and employees.  

 
Developing the capabilities of councillors   
 
5.7.1 Training on the accountability framework was delivered to Members of the Joint 

Committee during 2021/22. 
 
Developing the capabilities of employees  

Tudalen 92



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

60 | P a g e  
 

 
5.7.2  CSC is committed to staff development, in line with business needs, to help 

ensure it has a ‘fit for purpose’ workforce. During the year this has included 
staff induction sessions, Leadership and Middle Management Development 
Programmes, Staff Briefings and a range of operational training such as 
Curriculum for Wales, Diversity and Anti Racism, Enabling Equity and 
Excellence, Schools as Learning Organisations and Initial Teacher Education 
SLII (situational leadership), the ALN Bill and Wellbeing.  All of which are 
underpinned by our National Mission. 

 
 Proposal for Improvement 
   
5.7.3  Develop an induction programme for newly elected Members within the local 

authorities on the work of Central South Consortium. 
 
 
5.8  MANAGING RISKS AND PERFORMANCE THROUGH ROBUST INTERNAL 

CONTROL AND STRONG PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT  
 
Managing risk  
 
5.8.1 During 2021/22 CSC continued with the termly updating of its risk change 

template in line with its business plan monitoring and risk policies.  
 
5.8.2 This risk change template is updated by all risk owners and then presented for 

review by the Senior Leadership Team.  Following agreement of the SLT, 
proposals are presented to Directors for consideration and then to Joint 
Committee meetings for final review and challenge. During the spring term the 
risk change template was presented to Directors of Education on the 11 March 
2022 and following review the risk register was finalised for 2022/23.  

 
5.8.3 New risks were incorporated into the register during the year.  For example, 

the risks associated with the COVID 19 pandemic and Curriculum for Wales. 
This has been incorporated into the Risk Register, with accompany actions to 
address, and will be reported and monitored by the Joint Committee.  

 
5.8.4 Proposal for Improvement 
 

• The risk management policy has been reviewed in 2021/22 and proposals for 
improvement to be presented to governance groups for consideration during 
the year 

 
 Managing performance 
 
5.8.5  The ‘Determining and planning interventions’ section (5.5.1) of this Annual 

Governance Statement provides an overview of CSC’s Performance 
Management arrangements.  Performance at strategic level is driven and 

Tudalen 93



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

61 | P a g e  
 

measured through CSC‘s drive teams.  Five drive teams have been established 
to ensure the effective delivery and impact of the priority plans aligned to the 
2021/22 CSC business plan. 

 
Robust internal control   
 
5.8.6  The membership and meeting frequency of CSC's Joint Education Committee 

during 2021/22 was in line with the CSC's Legal Agreement.  
 
Internal Audit 
 

5.8.7 The Head of Regional Internal Audit Service is scheduled to present the 
Internal Audit Annual Report 2021/22, based on the work of Internal Audit 
during the year, to the Council’s Audit Committee in July 2022. The work 
undertaken by Internal Audit in respect of the CSC during the year is set out at 
paragraph 5.8.16.  

 
Managing data  
 
5.8.8 An Information Management Plan is in place in RCTCBC that sets out the 

framework, including legal requirements, for information management within 
the CSC.  This work has been reviewed to ensure compliance with GDPR 
regulations. 

 
5.8.9      A review of arrangements in place during 2021/22 identified that they were in line 

with laid down requirements because:  
 

• Key responsibilities were formally designated within CSC: CSC’s designated 
Senior Information Management Risk Officer (SIRO) was the Managing 
Director, there was an Information Management & Data Protection Act Officer 
within the host authority who reports to the Service Director – ICT and Digital 
Services;  

 

• An Information Management Board was in operation in RCTCBC, Chaired by 
the SIRO, with the Board being supported by an Information Management 
Working Group;  

 

• Information was available on the RCTCBC website in respect of Data 
Protection and Freedom of Information, and had in place a Publication 
Scheme  (which has been adopted by CSC) in accordance with the Council’s 
responsibilities under the Freedom of Information Act 2000; and 

 

• The Host Authority has a Public Sector Network (PSN) plan in place to meet 
the end of year timeframe for renewal i.e. The 'PSN' is the Council’s connection 
to the wider public sector network (Council to Council, Council to Government 

Tudalen 94

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/DataProtectionandFreedomofInformation/Publicationscheme.aspx
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/DataProtectionandFreedomofInformation/Publicationscheme.aspx


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

62 | P a g e  
 

e.g. Department for Work and Pensions) to enable the Council to communicate 
and share data securely across all public bodies. 

 
Strong public financial management  
 
5.8.10  Schedule 5 of the Legal Agreement provides the framework within which the 

finances of the Joint Education Service operate. The Financial Protocol 
provides the financial framework and relationship between the Parties (the 
Councils), the Host and CSC. The following areas of business are documented 
in the Legal Agreement 

 

• General Principles 

• Contributions and charging mechanisms; 

• Payment arrangements; 

• Budgetary control & monitoring; 

• Capital Expenditure & long term contracts; 

• Annual Accounts & Audit; and  

• Financial insolvency. 
 
5.8.11 The Legal Agreement requires the Joint Education Committee to hold at least 

termly meetings throughout the year. Standard agenda items include a report 
from the Treasurer. 

 
5.8.12 RCTCBC’s Financial Procedure Rules provide guidance in relation to all 

financial matters. The CSC has adopted Rhondda Cynon Taf’s Financial & 
Contract Procedure Rules – as confirmed in Section 17 (Schedule 4) of the 
Legal Agreement: 

 
“Rules and Procedure 
For the avoidance of doubt the Central South Consortium Joint Education 
Committee shall, where relevant and subject to the provisions of this 
Agreement, operate in accordance with the Host’s schemes of delegation, 
Rules of Procedure and policies from time to time.” 

 
5.8.13 Audit Wales8 audits CSC’s annual statement of accounts and the outcome from 

the audit being reported to the Joint Committee.  
 
5.8.14 CSC’s financial and operational performance is monitored and scrutinised by 

the Joint Education Committee 
 

The Joint Education Committee receives reports from: 

• The Treasurer;  

• The Managing Director; and 

• Officers, relevant to the operations and governance of the organisation. 
 

 
8 Audit Wales – previously the Wales Audit Office 

Tudalen 95



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

63 | P a g e  
 

5.8.15 During 2021/22 the role of the Chief Financial Officer at RCTCBC was 
compliant with the principles of the CIPFA Statement – Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government 2010. 

 
 Internal Audit 
 
5.8.16 During 2021/22, in line with the agreed Internal Audit Annual Plan, the Regional 

Internal Audit Service reviewed one core financial system (i.e. the General 
Ledger) of the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service and two 
external grants; Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant (RCSIG)  and 
Pupil Development Grant for  2020/21 financial year.  It was concluded to be 
no material weaknesses.  This was reported to the Joint Committee meeting 
held on 17th March 2022. 

 
 External Audit 
 
5.8.17 The latest audited statement of accounts (i.e. for the 2020/21 financial year) 

received an unqualified audit report (i.e. clean bill of health) and were approved 
at the meeting of the Joint Education Committee on 22th September 2021.  

 
5.8.18 CSC has continued to publicly demonstrate its commitment to strong and 

responsible financial planning and management and has supported this 
through the delivery of sound financial performance during a period of reducing 
budgets. This is because:  

 

• CSC has adopted a suite of protocols supporting strong financial planning and 
management, for example, ‘Financial Procedure Rules’ and ‘Contract 
Procedure Rules’, that were complied with during the year;  

 

• CSC set a Gross Revenue Budget on 16th December 2020 for the financial 
year 2021/22 of £3,583,032, representing a reduction of 1% compared to the 
previous year. Financial performance results were publicly reported every term 
during the year and scrutinised by the Joint Education Committee. The final 
outturn position, subject to Joint Committee approval at the June 2022 meeting, 
demonstrates the delivery of a balanced budget for the 2021/22 financial year 
after setting aside specific earmark reserves to support the completion of 
activities that have been delayed as a result of COVID 19.  

 

• CSC is financially stable with General Reserve balances increasing from £147k 
to £174k (subject to audit); having a track record over a number of years of 
setting and delivering balanced revenue budgets; and having ‘clean bills of 
health’ on its year end accounts when audited by the Audit Wales.  

 

5.8.19  The latest Audit Wales report ‘Audit of Financial Statements Report and 
Management Letter’ reported to Joint Education Committee on 22nd  
September 2021 concluded that the accounting statements and related notes:  

Tudalen 96



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

64 | P a g e  
 

 

• Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Central South CSC Joint 
Education Service as at 31 March 2021; and of its income and expenditure for 
the year then ended; and 

• Have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and 
international accounting standards as interpretated and adapted by  the Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020-21. 

 
5.8.20  The Audit Wales report presented on 22nd September 2021 did not contain any 

recommendations for improvement to be addressed by CSC and the Host 
Authority.  

 
 
5.9  IMPLEMENTING GOOD PRACTICES IN TRANSPARENCY, REPORTING, 

AND AUDIT TO DELIVER EFFECTIVE ACCOUNTABILITY 

 

Implementing good practice in transparency and reporting  
 
5.9.1  CSC has implemented an open and consistent approach to reporting its 

business, as set out in sections 5.4 and 5.5 of this Annual Governance 
Statement, with the aim of helping to ensure information is understandable to 
stakeholders and that they have the opportunity to challenge CSC’s 
performance, plans and decisions.  

 
5.9.2  A review of a sample of information reported to the Joint Education Committee 

has revealed that:  
 

• Annual Reports and Plans are reported publicly, providing an overview of 
performance, for example, the Council’s audited Statement of Accounts 
2020/21 reported and approved by Joint Education Committee on 22nd 
September 2021 in line with the statutory timeframe; and 

 

• Use is made of electronic links within reports to provide the reader with more 
detailed information should they require it; and 

 

• The minutes of meetings confirm that designated officers attend each meeting 
to orally present reports and answer questions, and several occasions were 
noted where updates were delivered via presentations, for example, using 
slides.  

 
 
6.  OVERALL ASSESSMENT OF THE CONSORTIUM’S ARRANGEMENTS  
 
6.1  Based on the assessment undertaken, the delivery of the CSC’s governance 

arrangements have been revised, in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, and have 
remained effective as evidenced through the comprehensive and timely 

Tudalen 97



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

65 | P a g e  
 

updates provided to virtual Joint Committee meetings during the year; on-going 
compliance with the requirements of the Legal Agreement; robust financial 
planning and management arrangements; and tailored provision to schools, in 
line with Welsh Government guidance, to ensure schools have been supported 
throughout the pandemic and with their plans for recovery.   

 

6.2  Notwithstanding this overall position, the assessment has identified areas 
where improvements are deemed necessary to further reinforce the 
effectiveness of the CSC’s current arrangements. These are set out in Section 
7.  

 

6.3  Looking ahead, the robust governance arrangements in place within the CSC, 
together with implementing the proposals for improvement set out in Section 7, 
will be critical in supporting the organisation to re-model itself and also continue 
to provide an effective school improvement service during the on-going 
recovery period from COVID 19.  

Tudalen 98



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

66 | P a g e  
 

PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT  
 

7.1  Further to completing the assessment of the CSC’s governance arrangements, Table 1 sets out proposals for 
improvement.  

 
Core Principle / 

Area 
Paragraph 

No. 
Issue Identified Proposal for Improvement Timescale for 

Implementation 
Responsible 

Officer 

ENSURING 
OPENNESS AND 
COMPREHENSIVE 
STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT 

5.3.11 Communication 
with 
stakeholders 

• Undertake a stakeholder survey 
across the region as part of CSC’s 
business plan priority to improve 
the effectiveness and efficiency of 
CSC. 

Autumn Term 22 Managing 
Director 

DEFINING 
OUTCOMES IN 
TERMS OF 
SUSTAINABLE 
ECONOMIC, 
SOCIAL, AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
BENEFITS  
 

5.4.7 Financial 
Planning 

• Propose an amendment to the 
Legal Agreement to allow for LA 
priorities and outcomes of self-
evaluation to be embedded within 
the Business Plan of CSC.   

  

Autumn Term 22 Deputy 
Managing 
Director 

DEVELOPING THE 
ENTITY’S 
CAPACITY, 
INCLUDING THE 
CAPABILITY OF 
ITS LEADERSHIP 
AND THE 

5.7.3 Induction of 
New Members 

• Develop an induction programme 
for newly elected Members within 
the local authorities on the work of 
Central South Consortium  

Summer Term 22  

Managing 
Director 

 

T
udalen 99



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

67 | P a g e  
 

INDIVIDUALS 
WITHIN IT  
 

MANAGING 
RISKS AND 
PERFORMANCE 
THROUGH 
ROBUST 
INTERNAL 
CONTROL AND 
STRONG PUBLIC 
FINANCIAL 
MANAGEMENT 

5.8.4 Risk 
Management 

• The risk management policy has 
been reviewed in 2021/22 and 
proposals for improvement to be  
presented to governance groups 
for consideration during the year 

 

Summer Term 22 Deputy 
Managing 
Director 

 
7.2  The CSC’s Senior Management Team has accepted the proposals for improvement and is committed to their 

implementation during 2022/23. The Senior Management Team has also confirmed that an update on progress will be 
reported to the Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint Committee during the year to enable Members to 
review and scrutinise the extent of progress being made.  

 
 
Managing Director:____________________________  Section 151 Officer:___________________________________ 
 
 
 
Chair, Joint Education Committee __________________   

T
udalen 100



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

68 | P a g e  
 

APPENDIX A 
PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT 2020/21 – POSITION STATEMENT 

 

Core Principle / 
Area 

Para
grap
h No. 

Issue Identified Proposal for 
Improvement 

Timescale for 
Implementation 

Responsible 
Officer 

Progress 

Ensuring 
Openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement 

5.3.9 
 

Revised 
Governance 
Framework for 
CSC 

• Implement the revised 
governance structure 
agreed by Joint 
Committee 

July 2021 Managing 
Director 

Completed –  
Revised governance 
structure 
implemented with 
agreed terms of 
reference 

• Review the Legal 
Agreement against the 
revised governance 
structure 

September 2021 Deputy 
Managing 
Director / RCT 
Legal Team 

In progress – 
Meeting has taken 
place to agree 
process with RCT 
legal team.   

Monitoring and 
Reporting 

• Develop a monitoring 
and reporting principles 
document and share 
with governance groups 
for agreement.   

July 2021 Deputy 
Managing 
Director 

Completed –  
Paper shared and 
agreed with Joint 
Committee in May 
2021 

• Produce an annual 
forward planner for all 
governance meetings 

Completed – 
Forward planner in 
use within CSC  

Communications 
with 
stakeholders 

• Revise the 
Communications 
Strategy and share with 
stakeholder groups.  

September 2021 Communicatio
ns Manager 

Completed – 
Communications 
strategy shared and 
agreed with Joint 
Committee in May 

T
udalen 101



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

69 | P a g e  
 

Establish a working 
party to review the 
communications 
requirements of schools.  

2021.  CSC 
communications 
working party 
membership agreed.   

• Relaunch the annual 
survey with schools. 

November 2021 Assistant 
Director 

Completed  – 
Annual survey of 
school staff and 
pupils has been 
completed by a 
sample of schools.  
Analysis will be 
shared in Summer 
Term 2022 

Defining 
outcomes in 
terms of 
sustainable 
economic, social 
and 
environmental 
benefits 
 

5.4.7 Financial 
Planning 

• Further develop the 
Medium-Term Financial 
Plan during 2021/22  

July 2021 Deputy 
Managing 
Director 

Completed – 
Medium term 
financial plan agreed 
with Joint 
Committee in July 
2021 

• Review the office 
accommodation 
requirements of CSC 
following the adaptions 
made to working 
arrangements due to 
the COVID 19 
pandemic 

September 2021 Managing 
Director 

Completed  -  
Moved to the 
South wing wef 
April 22 

5.7.3 Professional 
Learning 

• Undertake a training 
programme with 
Members in the local 

December 2021 Managing 
Director 

Completed – 
Training has been 
completed for all 

T
udalen 102



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

70 | P a g e  
 

authorities on the 
requirements of the 
‘Draft School 
Improvement, 
Accountability and 
Evaluation Guidance’ 

Members of CSC 
Joint Committee as 
well as additional 
training sessions in  
Bridgend, RCT and 
Vale of Glamorgan. 

5.8.4 Risk 
Management 

• Review risk 
management strategies 
and present proposals 
to governance groups 
for consideration 

 

September 2021 Deputy 
Managing 
Director 

In Progress – 
Risk management 
review has been 
undertaken.  
Recommendations 
for improvement will 
be incorporated 
following 
consultation, in the 
financial year 
2022/23 

 
  

T
udalen 103



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

71 | P a g e  
 

The independent auditor’s report of the Auditor General for Wales to the 
members of Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint 
Committee 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial statements of Central South Consortium Joint Education 

Service Joint Committee for the year ended 31st March 2022 under the Public Audit (Wales) 

Act 2004.  

 

The Central South Consortium Joint Education Service Joint Committee financial 

statements comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and the related 

notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 

law and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 

based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

 

In my opinion the financial statements:  

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Central South Consortium Joint 

Education Service Joint Committee as at 31st March 2022 and of its income and 

expenditure for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and the Code 

of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22. 

 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing in the UK (ISAs (UK)). My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of my report. I am independent of the Joint Committee in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK including 
the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and I have fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require me to report to you where: 

• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or 

• the responsible financial officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about Central South 
Consortium Joint Education Service Joint Committee ability to continue to adopt the 

Tudalen 104



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

72 | P a g e  
 

going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 

The responsible financial officer is responsible for the other information in the annual report 
and accounts. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report other than the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. My opinion on 
the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated later in my report, I do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the 
other information to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements 
and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the 
implications for my report. 

 

Report on other requirements 

Opinion on other matters 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of my audit: 

• the information contained in the Narrative Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the 

Narrative Report has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22;  

• The information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for 

which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements 

and the Governance Statement has been prepared in accordance with guidance.  

 

Matters on which I report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Joint Committee and its environment 

obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the 

Narrative Report or the Governance Statement. 

 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, which I report to you, if, in my 

opinion: 

• proper accounting records have not been kept; 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; 

or 

• I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 105



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

73 | P a g e  
 

Certificate of completion of audit 

 

I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Central South Consortium Joint 

Education Service Joint Committee in accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit 

(Wales) Act 2004 and the Auditor General for Wales’ Code of Audit Practice. 

 

Responsibilities 

Responsibilities of the responsible financial officer for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, 

set out on page 10 and 11, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the 

preparation of the statement of accounts, Central South Consortium Joint Education 

Service Joint Committee, which give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 

the responsible financial officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

statements of accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

In preparing the statement of accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for 

assessing the Joint Committee’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless deemed inappropriate.  

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these financial statements. 

 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website 

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities . This description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

 

 

      

Anthony J Barrett      24 Cathedral Road 

For and on behalf of the Auditor General for Wales Cardiff 

XX July 2022       CF11 9LJ  

Tudalen 106

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

74 | P a g e  
 

Glossary of Terms  
 

Accrual 
An accrual is a sum shown in the accounts representing income or 
expenditure relating to the accounting period, which had not actually been 
received or paid as at the date of the Balance Sheet. 
 

Actuary 
An actuary is an individual or organisation that calculates insurance 
premiums and liabilities and pension obligations. 

 

Audit 
An audit is an independent examination of activities. 
 

Budget 
A budget (or estimate) is a plan of income and spending. Actual expenditure 
is subsequently monitored against this plan. 
 

Capital Expenditure 
Capital expenditure is spending on long-term assets. These are assets that 
will be used for several years in the provision of services and are items such 
as buildings, equipment and vehicles. 

 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
CIPFA is responsible for issuing financial guidance to public bodies. 
 

Creditor 
A creditor is an organisation/individual owed money by the Council at the 
end of the financial year for goods/services received.  
 

Current Assets 
These are short-term assets that are available for the Council to use in the 
following accounting period. 
 

Current Liabilities 
These are short-term liabilities that are due for payment by the Council in 
the following accounting period. 
 

Debtor 
A debtor is an organisation/individual who owes the Council money at the 
end of the financial year for goods/services received.  

 

Defined Benefit Scheme 
A defined benefit pension scheme is one that bases retirement benefits upon 
Career Average Re-valued Earnings. 
 

Defined Contribution Scheme 
A defined contribution scheme is a type of retirement plan in which the 
amount of the employer’s annual contribution is specified. Benefits are 
based on the amounts credited to these accounts (through employer 

Tudalen 107



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

75 | P a g e  
 

contributions and, if applicable, employee contributions) plus any investment 
earnings. Only employer contributions to the account are guaranteed, not 
the future benefits. 

 

Earmarked Reserves 
These are reserves set aside for a specific purpose. 

 
Financial Year 

This is the accounting period. For local authorities it starts on 1st April and 
finishes on 31st March of the following year. 
 

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 
Financial Regulations to be followed as set by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 
 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
International Financial Reporting Standards are produced by the IASB 
(International Accounting Standards Board) with the aim of ensuring 
consistency within the countries adopting the standards. 
 

Leasing 
This is a method of financing expenditure by paying the owner to use 
property or equipment for a number of years. 
 

Lessee 
User or renter of the leased asset or property. In case of capital leases, the 
lessee is also the 'debtor' to the lessor. 
 

Lessor 
Owner or the title holder of the leased asset or property. The lessor is also 
the lender and secured party in case of capital leases and operating leases. 
 

Liability 
A liability is an obligation to transfer economic benefits as a result of past 
transactions or events. 

 
Long-Term Asset 

These are assets that are used in the provision of services (usually for more 
than one year). 

 

Operating Leases 
These are leases where risks of ownership of the asset remain with the 
owner. 

 

Post Balance Sheet Events 
Post Balance Sheet items are those that arise after the Balance Sheet date. 
These are items that did not exist at the time the Balance Sheet was 
prepared but should be disclosed if they are relevant to the understanding 
of the accounts.  

 

Tudalen 108



Central South Consortium  Statement of Accounts 2021/22 – Draft Subject to Audit 

 

76 | P a g e  
 

Provision 
A provision is an obligation to transfer economic benefits as a result of past 
events where a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation, but the 
amount or timing of which cannot yet be determined accurately. 

 
Related Party 

A related party exists where there is control or influence by one party over 
another. 

 

Welsh Government (WG) 
The Welsh Government is the devolved Government for Wales. The Welsh 
Government consists of the First Minister, Welsh Ministers, the Counsel 
General and Deputy Ministers. They are supported by Civil Servants who 
work across devolved areas of public life such as health, education and the 
environment. 
 

   
 

Tudalen 109



Tudalen wag



 

 1 

 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM 
 

JOINT COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

7TH JUNE 2022 

 
CENTRAL SOUTH EDUCATION CONSORTIUM GRANTS 

  
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS OF EDUCATION  
 
Author: Louise Blatchford, Deputy Managing Director 
  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide Members with an update on the grants to be received by the 

Consortium in 2022/23, for which notifications have been received, and the 
methods of allocation of each. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Directors to recommend the following to the Joint Committee; 
 
2.1 Approve the distribution of grants as detailed in section 5 of this report. 
 
 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
 
3.1 As host authority Rhondda Cynon Taf will act as ‘banker authority’, and 

under the terms of the grant agreements will be responsible for accepting 
the terms and conditions of grant and putting in place arrangements to 
distribute the funding, as determined by the Joint Committee, within the 
Consortium.  

 
 
4.0 METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT 
 
4.1 The method of apportionment of each grant will vary depending on its 

nature, its intended recipients, its purposes and the associated terms and 
conditions. 

Tudalen 111

Agendwm 8



 

 2 

 
4.2 For each grant the following process shall be adopted: 
 

• The Consortium shall prepare a proposed method of distribution 
taking into account all relevant criteria. 

• The Director of Education (or equivalent) of each authority shall 
approve the basis of apportionment at the Executive Board of the 
Central South Joint Education Service. This will ensure appropriate 
and effective use of grant funding to target school improvement 
equitably across each of the five authorities areas 

• A report detailing the basis and reasons for the method adopted shall 
be presented to the Joint Committee for approval. 

 
4.3 This report presents details of 2022/23 grants to the Joint Committee.  

 
 

5.0 2022/23 GRANTS 
 
 Grant approval letter has been received detailing the grants coming into 

the Consortium. The Directors have agreed to maintain the LA dis-
aggregation of the funding and to apply a common formula for the 
delegation of the LA funding to schools. 

 
5.1 Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant 2022/23 – award dated 3rd 

May 2022 
 

 The total of this award of funding is £48,652,545 over the period 1st April 
2022 – 31st March 2023.   
 
The purpose of this funding is to support delivery of Welsh Government 
(WG) aspirations and priorities for schools and education.  Regional 
consortia and partnerships in Wales and their related local authorities have 
a significant role to play in improving educational outcomes for all learners 
in Wales and in delivering our substantial educational reform. 
 
The funding letter outlines WG’s overarching national priorities.  The 
Funding must support delivery of Curriculum for Wales and its enabling 
objectives.   
 
In delivering the Curriculum for Wales, WG continue the need to focus on 
the four enabling objectives around which this grant is structured: 
 

• Developing and delivering a high quality education profession  

• Inspirational leaders working collaboratively to raise standards  

• Strong and inclusive schools committed to excellence, equity and 
well-being  

• Robust assessment, evaluation and accountability arrangements 
supporting a self-improving system.  

 

Tudalen 112



 

 3 

The consortia business plan clearly articulates the contribution towards 
progress of these measures, including associated outcomes and key 
performance indicators. 

 
Grant Distribution 

 
A detailed breakdown of the apportionment of the funding, in line with the 
approved CSC 2022/2023 Business Plan, can be found table 1 below.   

 
Table 1 – Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant 2022/23 
 

£ %

Centrally retained funding

Employee costs 4,404,815 8.5%

Non Employee costs 143,196 0.3%

Centrally Retained Pan Wales project costs 60,000 0.1%

Business Plan Activity 2,126,005 4.1%

6,734,016 13.0%

RCSIG Yet To be allocated

Pending update from grantor

Decision Report - CSC Management Board (Autumn 2022)
1,065,702 2.1%

1,065,702 2.1%

Delegated funding to LAs & Schools

Central South Wales Challenge Model 517,500 1.0%

Collaboration Model 3,327,578 6.4%

Support to School Partnerships 186,000 0.4%

Curriculum Reform (Network facil itation) 52,500 0.1%

Professional Learning funding to schools 3,835,760 7.4%

EIG Element for Schools / PRUs 35,442,360 68.6%

Non Maintained settings - Foundation Phase 314,600 0.6%

Local authorities (LA) - administration of grant 67,207 0.1%

LA Annex 98,345 0.2%

43,841,850 84.9%

TOTAL GRANT (INCLUDING LA MATCH FUNDING) 51,641,567

LA MATCH FUNDING 2,989,022

TOTAL GRANT (EXCLUDING LA MATCH FUNDING) 48,652,545

Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant
2022/2023 Budget

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 113



Tudalen wag



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Mr Barrie Davies  
Section 151 Officer  
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council  
The Pavilions  
Clydach Vale  
Tonypandy  
CF40 2XX 
 
4 May 2022 
 
Dear Mr Davies 
 
Award of Funding in relation to Regional Consortia School Improvement 
Grant 2022 -2023 - Central South Consortium 
 
1. Award of Funding 
 

(a) We are pleased to inform you of your funding of up to £48,652,545 
(Forty Eight Million, Six Hundred and Fifty Two Thousand, Five 
Hundred and Forty Five Pounds) (“the Funding”) is awarded to you 
for the Purposes (as defined in Condition 4(a)). 

 
(b) The Funding relates to the period 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 

and must be claimed in full by 31 March 2023 otherwise any 
unclaimed part of the Funding will cease to be available to you.  

 
(c) This letter shall become effective on the date of signature 

evidencing acceptance by you as set out in the acceptance page 
below. 

 
(d) If you have any queries in relation to this award of Funding or the 

Conditions please contact the Welsh Government Official who will 
be happy to assist you.  

 
 
2. Statutory authority  

 
(a) This award of Funding is made on and subject to the Conditions 

and under the authority of the Minister for Education, one of the 
Welsh Ministers, acting pursuant to functions transferred under 
section 58A of the Government of Wales Act 2006 and sections 14-
17 of the Education Act 2002. 

 

Tudalen 115



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

2 

3. Interpreting the Conditions 
 

Any reference in the Conditions to: 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council  
The Pavilions  
Clydach Vale  
Tonypandy  
CF40 2XX 

‘we’, ‘us’, ‘our’ is to the Welsh Ministers; 

‘Welsh Government Official’ is to  

 
Francesca Jeremy,  
Head of Revenue Funding for Schools 
Education Directorate  
Welsh Government  
Cathays Park 
Cardiff CF10 3NQ 
Tel: 0300 062 8133 
Email: francesca.jeremy@gov.wales 

or such other Welsh Government official as we may notify you. 

‘Project Manager’ is to your project manager who is responsible 
for the day to day management of this award of Funding:   

Louise Blatchford 
Central South Consortium 
Valleys Innovation Centre 
Navigation Park 
Abercynon 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
CF45 4SN 
Tel: 07971 430409 
E-mail: Louise.Blatchford@cscjes.org.uk  
 

‘Business Day’ is to a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, 
Christmas Day, Good Friday or a bank holiday in Wales under the 
Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971; 

‘Conditions’ is to the terms and conditions set out in this letter and 
the Schedules; 

‘Costs Incurred’ is to the cost of goods and/or services you have 
received regardless of whether you have paid for them by the date 
of your claim; 

Tudalen 116

mailto:francesca.jeremy@gov.wales
mailto:Louise.Blatchford@cscjes.org.uk


 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

3 

‘Costs Incurred and Paid’ is to the invoiced cost of goods and/or 
services you have received, and which have been paid for by you in 
cleared funds by the date of your claim; 

‘Notification Event’ is to any of the events listed in Schedule 3; 

‘Indicative Payment Profile’ is to the indicative payment profile set 
out in Schedule 4; 

‘Personnel’ is to your management/employees and suppliers or any 
other person appointed or engaged by you in relation to the 
Purposes; 

 ‘Schedule’ is to the schedules attached to this letter; and 

any reference to any legislation whether domestic or international 
law will include all amendments to and substitutions and re-
enactments of that legislation in force from time to time. 

 
 
4. Use of the Funding  
 

(a) You must use the Funding solely for the purposes set out in 
Schedule 1 (the “Purposes”)   

(b) You must achieve the targets and outcomes set out in Schedule 2 
(the “Targets”). 

(c) Any change to the Purposes or Targets will require our written 
consent which must be obtained from us in advance of 
implementing any change. Please note that we are not obliged to 
give our consent, but we will consider all reasonable written 
requests. 

(d) You must not use any part of the Funding for any kind of activity 
which in our opinion could bring us into disrepute, including but not 
limited to (1) party political purposes, (2) the promotion of particular 
secular, religious or political views; (3) gambling, (4) pornography, 
(5) offering sexual services, or (6) any kind of illegal activities.  

(e) You must not use any part of the Funding for: (1) purchasing capital 
equipment (other than as specified in the Purposes), (2) your legal 
fees in relation to this letter, (3) Costs Incurred or Costs Incurred 
and Paid by you in the delivery of the Purposes prior to the period 
referred to in Condition 1(b). 

 
 
 

Tudalen 117



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

4 

 
 

5. Funding pre-conditions 

We will not pay any of the Funding to you until you have provided us with the 
following information and documentation: 
 

(a) this letter signed by you, which confirms acceptance of the grant 
funding and confirms you have put in place all staff and other resources 
as required to commence and complete the Purposes; 
 

(b) Where you are required to provide information and documentation to us 
as evidence that you have satisfied a particular pre-condition, Condition 
or in support of a claim, the information and documentation must be in 
all respects acceptable to us. We reserve the right to reject any 
information and documentation which is for any reason not acceptable 
to us, and/or request any further or additional information and/or 
documentation in support of the request for Funding. 
 

6. How to claim the Funding  

(a) The Funding will be paid to you in four instalments in arrears, based 
on Costs Incurred by you in the delivery of the Purposes, as 
detailed in the Payment Profile.  

(b) You must claim the Funding in accordance with the dates set out in 
the Indicative Payment Profile. You must claim the Funding 
promptly. We reserve the right to withdraw any part of the Funding 
that you do not claim promptly. 

(c) You must submit your claims for payment of Funding to the Welsh 
Government Official. 

(d) You must use our claim pro-forma (which is available from the 
Welsh Government Official) and attach the following information 
and documentation to each claim: 

i) confirmation that you are operating in all respects in accordance 
with your constitution; and 

ii) confirmation that you have appropriate financial, risk and control 
systems in place before utilising any part of the Funding to 
provide a grant to or procure any goods or services from third 
parties; 

 
(e) We will aim to pay all valid claims as soon as possible and typically 

within 20 Business Days of receipt of a valid claim being made in 
accordance with the provisions of this letter, and provided always 
that the Funding pre-conditions set out in Condition 5 above have 

Tudalen 118



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

5 

been satisfied and that on both the date of the claim and the date 
the Funding is to be paid to you: 

 

i) the declarations made in Condition 8 below are true and correct 

and will be true and correct immediately after the relevant 

Funding has been paid to you; and 

ii) no Notification Event is continuing or might result from the 

proposed Funding. 
 
 

7. Your general obligations to us 
 

You must:  
 

(a) safeguard the Funding against fraud generally and, in particular, 
fraud on the part of your Personnel and notify us immediately if you 
have reason to suspect that any fraud within your organisation has 
occurred or is occurring or is likely to occur whether or not it relates 
to the Funding. You must also participate in such fraud prevention 
initiatives as we may require from time to time; 

(b) maintain appropriate procedures for dealing with any conflicts of 
interest in relation to the Funding whether actual, potential or 
perceived;  

(c) comply with all applicable domestic or international laws or 
regulations or official directives; 

(d) maintain adequate insurances to cover against the risks which may 
arise in connection with any property or any activity undertaken in 
delivery of the Purposes.  We reserve the right to require you to 
provide proof of your insurance; 

(e) maintain appropriate financial, risk and control systems before 
utilising any part of the Funding to provide a grant to or procure any 
goods or services from third parties; 

(f) co-operate fully with the Welsh Government Official and with any 
other employee of the Welsh Government or consultant appointed 
by us to monitor your use of the Funding and your compliance with 
the Conditions; 

(g) inform us immediately if any of the declarations made in Condition 8 
is incorrect in any respect or, if repeated at any time with reference 
to the facts and circumstances then existing, would be incorrect; 

(h) notify us of any funding received by you from any source which is 
procured or utilised in conjunction with the Funding to directly 

Tudalen 119



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

6 

support the Purposes including but not limited to your insurance 
provider (cancellation/business disruption insurance), the UK 
Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme and/or any 
Welsh Government fund/scheme and any other funders. The 
intention of this Condition is to avoid any duplication of funding in 
respect of the Purposes.  

 
 

8. Declarations  
 

You declare that:  
 

(a) you have the power to enter into and to perform the obligations set 
out in the Conditions and you have taken all necessary action to 
authorise the entry into and performance of the obligations under 
the Conditions; 

(b) no limit on your powers will be exceeded as a result of claiming the 

Funding, or the grant of any security contemplated by the 

Conditions; 

(c) the entry into and performance by you of, and the transactions 

contemplated by, this letter do not and will not contravene or conflict 

with: 

i) your constitutional documents; 

ii) any agreement or instrument binding on you or your assets or 

constitute a default or termination event (however described) 

under any such agreement or instrument; or 

iii) any law or regulation or judicial or official order, applicable to 

you; 

(d) no Notification Event is continuing or might reasonably be expected 

to result from the provision of the Funding and no other event or 

circumstance is outstanding which constitutes (or, with the expiry of 

a grace period, the giving of notice, the making of any 

determination or any combination thereof, would constitute) a 

default or termination event (howsoever described) under any other 

agreement or instrument which is binding on you or to which any of 

your assets is subject;  

(e) no litigation or arbitration or administrative proceeding is current or 
pending or, so far as you are aware, threatened, which has or could 
have an adverse effect on your ability to perform and comply with 
any of the Conditions; 

Tudalen 120



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

7 

(f) you have disclosed to us all material facts or circumstances which 
need to be disclosed to enable us to obtain a true and correct view 
of your business and affairs (both current and prospective) or which 
ought to be provided to any person who is considering providing 
funding to you; 

(g) any information, in written or electronic format, supplied by you to 

us in connection with the Funding was, at the time it was supplied 

or at the date it was stated to be given (as the case may be): 

i) if it was factual information, complete, true and accurate in all 

material respects; 

ii) if it was a financial projection or forecast, prepared on the 

basis of recent historical information and on the basis of 

reasonable assumptions and was arrived at after careful 

consideration; 

iii) if it was an opinion or intention, made after careful 

consideration and was fair and made on reasonable grounds; 

and 

iv) not misleading in any material respect, nor rendered 

misleading by a failure to disclose other information, 

except to the extent that it was amended, superseded or updated 

by more recent information supplied by you to us. 

(h) you have discussed and agreed the Targets with us and you are 
confident that they are realistic and achievable; 

(i) there are no conflicts of interest in relation to the Funding whether 
actual, potential or perceived; 

(j) acceptance of this award of Funding will not result in duplicate 
funding in respect of the activities required to deliver the Purposes. 
This includes but is not limited to any payments received by you in 
relation to the effects of the spread of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
from your insurance provider (cancellation/business disruption 
insurance), the UK Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention 
Scheme and/or any Welsh Government fund/scheme and any 
funders. 

(k) You will be deemed to repeat the declarations in this Condition 8 on 
each date you may have any liability to repay the award of Funding 
to us, and by reference to the facts and circumstances existing on 
each such date. 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 121



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

8 

9. Notification Events and their consequences 

(a) You must notify us immediately if a Notification Event has occurred 
or is likely to occur but we also reserve the right to notify you where 
we believe a Notification Event has occurred or is likely to occur. 
 

(b) We will either:  
 

i) notify you that we, at our absolute discretion, consider the 
Notification Event is not capable of remedy; or  

ii) if we consider, at our absolute discretion, that the Notification 
Event is capable of being remedied, seek to discuss the 
Notification Event with you with a view to agreeing a course of 
action to be taken to address the Notification Event. 

 
(c) We will be entitled to take any of the actions listed in Condition 9(d) 

if: 
   

i) despite our efforts we have been unable to discuss the 
Notification Event with you; or 

ii) we notify you that the Notification Event is not, in our opinion, 
capable of remedy; or 

iii) a course of action to address and/or remedy the Notification 
Event is not agreed with you; or 

iv) a course of action to address and/or remedy the Notification 
Event is agreed with you but you fail to follow it, or any 
conditions attached to it are not met (including without 
limitation the timescale for such course of action) to our 
satisfaction; or 

v) the course of action fails to remedy the Notification Event to 
our satisfaction. 
 

(d) If any of the circumstances set out in Condition 9(c) occurs we may, 
at our absolute discretion, by notice to you:  

 
i) withdraw the award of Funding; and/or  
ii) require you to repay all or part of the Funding; and/or 
iii) suspend or cease all further payment of Funding; and/or  
iv) make all further payments of Funding subject to such 

conditions as we may specify; and/or  
v) deduct all amounts owed to us under the Conditions from 

any other funding that we have awarded or may award to 
you; and/or 

vi) exercise any other rights against you which we may have in 
respect of the Funding. 

 
(e) All repayments of Funding must be made to us within 20 Business 

Days of the date of our demand.  

Tudalen 122



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

9 

10. Monitoring requirements 
 

You must: 
 

(a) provide us with such documents, information and reports which we 
may reasonably require from time to time in order for us to monitor 
your compliance with the Conditions. 
  

(b) meet with the Welsh Government Official and such other of our 
representatives as we may from time to time reasonably require;  

 
(c) ensure that the Project Manager (or such other person as we may 

agree) together with any other person we may require attends all 
meetings with the Welsh Government Official. 

 
(d) Meet with Welsh Government officials as set out in Schedule 1.  

   
 

11. Audit Requirements 
 

(a) You must: 
 

i) maintain complete, accurate and valid accounting records 
identifying all income and expenditure in relation to the 
Purposes; 

ii) without charge, permit any officer or officers of the Welsh 
Government, Wales Audit Office or any UK subsidy 
enforcement body at any reasonable time and on reasonable 
notice (in exceptional circumstances, such as the prevention 
or detection of fraud, it may not be practicable to provide you 
with reasonable notice) being given to you to visit your 
premises and/or to inspect any of your activities and/or to 
examine and take copies of your books of account and such 
other documents or records howsoever stored as in such 
officer’s reasonable view may relate in any way to your use 
of the Funding. This undertaking is without prejudice and 
subject to any other statutory rights and powers exercisable 
by the Welsh Government, Wales Audit Office or any UK 
subsidy enforcement body or any officer, servant or agent of 
any of the above; 

iii) retain this letter and all original documents relating to the 
Funding until we inform you in writing that it is safe to destroy 
them; 

iv) provide us with an audit certificate in accordance with the 
requirements set out in Schedule 5 

 
(b) Under paragraph 17 of Schedule 8 to the Government of Wales Act 

2006 the Auditor General for Wales has extensive rights of access 

Tudalen 123



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

10 

to documents and information relating to monies provided by the 
Welsh Government. They and their officials have the power to 
require relevant persons who control or hold documents to give any 
assistance, information and explanation that they may require; and 
to require those persons to attend before them for such a purpose.  
The Auditor General and their staff may exercise this right at all 
reasonable times. 

  
 
12. Third party obligations  

 
(a) Nothing in the Conditions imposes any liability on us in respect of 

any liability incurred by you to any third party (including, without 
limit, employees and contractors). 
 

(b) You must indemnify us against any liabilities, claims, proceedings, 
demands, losses, costs and expenses suffered or incurred by us 
directly or indirectly arising as a result of or in connection with any 
failure by you to perform fully or in part any obligation you may have 
to a third party. 
 
 

13. Intellectual property rights and publicity 

(a) Nothing in the Conditions transfers to us any rights in any 
intellectual property created by you as a result of the Purposes. 

(b) You must acknowledge our support in relation to the Purposes. 
Such acknowledgement(s) must be in a form approved by us and 
must comply with the Welsh Government’s branding guidelines. 

  
(c) You agree that from the date of this letter until 5 years from the date 

of the final payment of Funding we may include details about your 
organisation and business, the Funding and the Purposes in Welsh 
Government promotional materials and you further agree to 
cooperate with our reasonable requests to achieve the production of 
such materials.  

 
14. Information 

(a) You acknowledge that we are subject to the requirements of the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (the “FOIA”), the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004 (the “EIR”), the Data Protection Act 
2018 (the “DPA”) and the retained EU law version of the General 
Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) (the “UK GDPR”). 
 

Tudalen 124



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

11 

(b) You acknowledge that we are responsible for determining in our 
absolute discretion whether: 

 
i) to disclose any information which we have obtained under or 

in connection with the Funding to the extent that we are 
required to disclose such information to a person making a 
disclosure request under the FOIA or the EIR; and/or 

ii) any information is exempt from disclosure under the FOIA or 
the EIR. 

 
(c) You acknowledge that we may share any data you provide to us 

with fraud prevention agencies and third parties for the purposes of 
preventing and detecting fraud. Any personal data we collect will be 
managed in accordance with our Privacy Notice which is available 
to view here Privacy notice: Welsh Government grants | 
GOV.WALES 
 

(d) Please refer to Schedule 6 which provides details of your 
obligations in respect of the UK GDPR. 

 
 
15. Buying goods and services 

(a) If you decide to buy any goods and/or services to deliver the 
Purposes, they must be purchased in a competitive and sustainable 
way so as to demonstrate that you have (i) achieved best value in 
the use of public funds, and (ii) complied with your conflict of interest 
policy at the relevant time. 
 

(b) We may from time to time request evidence from you to 
demonstrate your compliance with this Condition 15. Such evidence 
may take the form of evidence of your: 

i) compliance with any procurement regulations, legislation or 

guidance in place from time to time to which you, or any person 

carrying out a business or function of the same or similar 

nature to you, is subject; or 

ii) compliance with your procurement policy in place at the 

relevant time; or  

iii) obtaining a minimum of three written quotations for the relevant 

goods and/or services. 
You must supply such evidence to us promptly following our written 
request for such evidence. 

 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 125

https://gov.wales/privacy-notice-welsh-government-grants
https://gov.wales/privacy-notice-welsh-government-grants


 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

12 

16.  Giving notice  
 

(a) Where notice is required to be given under the Conditions it must be 
in writing (this does not include email but may include a letter 
attached to an email) and must prominently display the following 
heading: 

 “Notice in relation to the Regional Consortia School 
Improvement Grant 2022 -2023 - Central South Consortia”. 

(b) The address and contact details for the purposes of serving notice 
under the Conditions are as follows 

You: the Project Manager at the address stated in Condition 3. 

Us: the Welsh Government Official at the address stated in 
Condition 3. 
 

(c) A notice will be deemed to have been properly given as follows:- 

Prepaid first class post: on the second Business Day 
after the date of posting. 

By hand:  upon delivery to the address 
or the next Business Day if 
after 4pm or on a weekend or 
public holiday. 

By email attachment: upon transmission or the next 
Business Day if after 4pm or 
on a weekend or public 
holiday.   

 
 
17. Equality 
 
You must have in place and apply equality policies covering employment, use 
of volunteers and provision of services, in accordance with the Equality Act 
2010.   
 
 
18. Welsh language 
 

a) The Welsh Government is committed to supporting the Welsh 

language and culture and The Cymraeg 2050: A million Welsh 

speakers Welsh language strategy (Cymraeg 2050) provides a 

Tudalen 126



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

13 

vision for the growth and further development of the Welsh 

language. 

b) Where the Purposes include or relate to the provision of services in 

Wales, they must be provided in Welsh and English unless it would 

be unreasonable or disproportionate to do so. They must be 

provided in such a way as to not treat the Welsh language less 

favourably than English, in accordance with the Welsh Language 

(Wales) Measure 2011.   

c) Where the provision of services forms part of the Purposes, you 

must act in accordance with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 

2011and the aims of Cymraeg 2050. In practice, this will include the 

following: 

 
i) Ensure that any written material produced, including digital 

material, is bilingual. 
ii) Ensure that any signage is bilingual. 
iii) Ensure that any training or public events are held bilingually. 
iv) Actively promote and facilitate the Welsh language (including 

providing services and increasing opportunities to use the Welsh 
language) within funded activities.  

 
d) For general advice on providing services bilingually and for 

information on which organisations are able to support you, please 
contact the Welsh language advice service “Helo Blod” on 03000 
258888 or e-mail heloblod@gov.wales with your query. 

 
 

19. Sustainable development  
 

Your use of the Funding must contribute to the achievement of the 
Welsh Government’s well-being objectives contained in the Welsh 
Government’s Programme for Government. You must work in a 
sustainable way (sustainable development principle) in delivering the 
Purposes so as to ensure you are working in a preventative, integrated, 
long-term and collaborative way that involves people that reflect the 
diversity of Wales. Please refer to Schedule 1 for further information. 

 
 

20. Welsh Ministers’ functions 
 

You acknowledge that the Welsh Ministers have a range of functions 
which will continue to accrue and be amended and that decisions in 
relation to each such function are obliged to be taken in the light of all 
relevant and to the exclusion of all irrelevant considerations. You 
agree that nothing contained or implied in, or arising under or in 
connection with, the Conditions will in any way prejudice, fetter or affect 

Tudalen 127

mailto:heloblod@gov.wales


 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

14 

the functions of the Welsh Ministers or any of them nor oblige the Welsh 
Ministers or any of them to exercise, or refrain from exercising, any of 
their functions in any particular way.   
 

 
21. General  

 

(a) If at any time any of the Conditions are deemed to be or become 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the 
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions will 
not in any way be affected or impaired.  

(b) No failure or delay on our part to exercise any power, right or 
remedy under the Conditions will operate as a waiver of any such 
power, right or remedy or preclude its further exercise or the 
exercise of any other power, right or remedy. The powers, rights or 
remedies hereby provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any 
powers, rights or remedies provided by law. 

(c) Any amendment or variation to the Conditions must be in writing 
and signed by us and you in the same manner as this letter (or as 
otherwise agreed by us in writing from time to time).  

(d) You may not assign or otherwise dispose of in any way your rights, 
benefits, obligations or duties under the Conditions. 

(e) Conditions 7, 9, 11, 13, 14, and 21(e) and such other Conditions 
which by implication need to continue in force beyond the final 
payment of Funding will so continue in full force and effect. 

(f) The award of the Funding is to you alone and no one else is entitled 
to make any claim in respect of the Funding or seek to rely on or 
enforce any of the Conditions. 

(g) In circumstances where you comprise two or more persons or 
bodies, the liabilities of such persons or bodies shall be joint and 
several and the default of one of such persons or bodies shall be 
deemed to be the default of all. 

(h) The Conditions and any disputes or claim (including any non-
contractual disputes or claims) arising out of or in connection with it 
its formation or its subject matter are to be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of Wales and England as 
applied in Wales and the parties hereto submit to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of Wales and England.  

 
 
 

Tudalen 128



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

15 

22. How to accept this award of Funding  
 

a) To accept this award of Funding you must sign and return a copy of 
this letter to the Welsh Government Official. None of the Funding 
will be paid to you until we have received your signed letter. 

 

b) We must receive your signed letter within 14 days of the date of this 
letter, or this award of Funding will automatically be withdrawn.   

 
Yours faithfully 
       

 
      
Francesca Jeremy  
Head of Revenue Funding for Schools 
Education Directorate   
under authority of the Minister for Education and Welsh Language 
one of the Welsh Ministers 

 
 

Tudalen 129



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

16 

SCHEDULE 1 
The Purposes 

 
The Purpose of this Funding awarded to you on behalf of your regional 
consortia and partnerships is to support the related authorities in delivering 
our aspirations and priorities for schools and education.  
 
Regional consortia and partnerships in Wales and their related local 
authorities have a significant role to play in improving educational outcomes 
for all learners in Wales and in delivering our substantial educational reform. 
 
The Funding Letter outlines our overarching national priorities.  The Funding 
must support delivery of our Curriculum for Wales and its enabling objectives.  
 
In delivering the Curriculum for Wales, we continue the need to focus on the 
four enabling objectives around which this grant is structured: 

 

• Developing a high-quality education profession; 

• Inspirational leaders working collaboratively to raise standards; 

• Strong and inclusive schools committed to excellence, equity and 

well-being; and 

• Robust assessment, evaluation and accountability arrangements 

supporting a self-improving system. 

The regional consortia and partnerships business plans will need to clearly 

articulate the contribution towards progress of these measures, including 

associated outcomes and key performance indicators. 

 
The Funding will be organised around the following pre-requisites and 
requirements: 
 
Policy requirements and expectations 
 
These are set out in schedule one and in your Annex B of the funding letter. 
We will continue to discuss and review the expectations for each policy area 
through our joint regular meetings and monitoring procedures.  The following 
monitoring arrangements are planned: 
 

• Bi-annual Review and Challenge meetings 
Monitoring report updates will be required as part of the Review and 
Challenge Process. These meetings will allow opportunity to 
monitor progress, raise issues, and discuss future activity. 
 

• Half-termly meetings with WG Education Deputy Directors 
These meetings will allow the regional MDs to engage with WG 
Deputy Directors across the respective policy areas – Pedagogy, 

Tudalen 130



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

17 

Leadership and Professional Learning; Curriculum and 
Assessment; Support for Learners; Equity in Education; Business 
Planning and Governance; and Schools Effectiveness. 
 

• Quarterly Finance meetings with WG Finance Officials 
Claim forms for payment will be requested every quarter, and these 
will be discussed as part of the quarterly finance meetings. These 
meetings will allow discussion of any financial issues arising in-year. 

 
Sustainability and citizen-focused 
Initiatives supported by the grant must be sustainable, learner focused, and in 
line with the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 
 
National Model for Regional Working 
The expectations set out in the National Model for Regional Working guidance 
remain the same and should continue to be followed. The national model 
governance structures will also be used to monitor progress, including 
wherever appropriate to evidence the Funding requirements. 
 
Joint regional working 
In line with the expectations set out in the National Model for Regional 
Working the consortia will work with other regional consortia and partnerships 
across Wales to maximise opportunities for sharing good practice and 
learning across our national priorities. 
 
Supporting a self-improving system and extending the depth of collaborative 
working 
Where appropriate, the regional consortia and partnerships will facilitate 
schools’, Foundation Phase providers’ and PRUs’ consideration and use of 
cluster models, and other forms of collaborative working, to deliver the funding 
purposes. This may include providing advice on federation where appropriate.  
 
The regional consortia and partnerships should work with providers to develop 
the support they offer in a spirit of co-construction. They should also 
collaborate across the other regions if this represents the most effective use of 
the Funding to support the delivery of improved outcomes for learners. The 
regional consortia and partnerships will continue to develop all schools as 
learning organisations to successfully realise the Curriculum for Wales. 
 
Equity of approach 
Regional consortia and partnerships must be able to demonstrate equity of 
approach across the regions and related authorities in delegating the Funding 
to schools. 
 
Challenge Advisers and School Development Plans 
Challenge Advisers will provide support to schools to ensure their school 
development plans appropriately reflect their improvement journey and local 
priorities. 

Tudalen 131



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

18 

 
Monitoring and reporting 
The monitoring requirements are set out in Section 10, explaining how we will 
evaluate the progress, impact and additionality of the Funding in delivering the 
Curriculum for Wales against the measures in the business plan. 
 
Profile of expenditure 
The Funding letter confirms how we have determined your regional 
allocations. In accepting this award of funding, you agree to allocate funds in 
line with your responses to the grant invitation letter. 
 
You will submit to Welsh Government Officials, in writing, any requests for 
virement of funding between budget lines. 
 
All variances will be reflected in your financial report updates. Payments, 
however, will be made in accordance with Schedule 3. 
 
Value for Money and additionality 
The regional consortia and partnerships will be expected to evidence 
additionality of the funding, value for money, and its impact. This applies to 
the total funding offered within this award.  
 
Maximising funding to schools 
In planning activity and setting out your business plans and profile of 
expenditure, evidence of a clear and demonstrable commitment to 
passporting the majority of funding to schools is required. Assurances of this 
as part of the business plans and quarterly updates will need to be provided to 
the Welsh Government.  
 
For the EIG element a minimum 80% delegation must be maintained. 
 
Minimising administration and management costs 
The grant arrangements support efforts to reduce the administration costs of 
managing the Funding. You will demonstrate and evidence a commitment to 
maintaining a low level of spend in managing and administering the Funding. 
The Funding may be used to support the management and administrative 
costs of delivering the Pupil Development Grant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 132



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

19 

A) National support for Curriculum Reform 
 
Overarching purpose  
Our ultimate outcome for curriculum reform and the Curriculum for Wales 
(CfW) is to enable all children and young people to realise the four purposes, 
become educated citizens for life, supported by high quality leadership, 
teaching and learning.  
 
This is supported by the education system: 
 
1. enabling all learners, and in particular those from disadvantaged 

backgrounds, to progress along their own learning pathway and raise their 
aspirations to achieve their full potential, allied to a range of assessment 
approaches to understand and support this progress 

2. co-constructing a curriculum which promotes a broad range of 
knowledge, skills and experiences (including social and interactional 
experiences) with a clear understanding of why these matter – 
qualifications are a key part of this  

3. ensuring the school environment supports learners’ and practitioners’ 
well-being 

4. supporting practitioners' understanding of what works in curriculum 
design by investing in the enquiry and pedagogic skills of all staff 

5. enabling ambitious professional learning for all practitioners in a school 
dedicated to being a learning organisation 

6. embedding reflection, self-evaluation and improvement within schools 
and the importance of good school leadership as an pre-condition for that 

7. being at the heart of their communities - we want to build better 
relationships between schools and families, communities and employers, 
to support and promote educational achievement and excellent 
employment, next steps education and training 

8. listening to children and young people as they engage with their 
learning and supporting them in achieving their aspirations.  

 
These eight factors contribute to effective curriculum realisation, and though 
school improvement services are not solely or entirely responsible for these, 
they provide a consistent and co-developed framework for planning, activity 
and reporting at that level.   
 
Principles 
In the light of the above, support should emphasise professional learning, 
curriculum design and implementation to enable practitioners across schools 
and Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) to engage in curriculum reform drawing from: 

• a range of professional learning activities in order to develop their skills, 
knowledge and practice  

• support to undertake curriculum design and implementation, including 
work on learning progression 

• support to engage with the work of the National Network for curriculum 
implementation. 

Tudalen 133



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

20 

 
Activity funded through this element of the grant must be directed towards 
taking forward the shared expectations and ways of working set out in 
Journey to curriculum rollout and with regard to the jointly agreed policy vision 
and roles and responsibilities set out in Curriculum for Wales: Implementation 
Plan. The process to curriculum realisation in schools and PRUs involves a 
range of activities, including: 
 

• identifying the unique factors of the school or PRU and how these 
contribute to the four purposes  

• reviewing the vision, values and behaviours to support curriculum 
realisation 

• understanding of curriculum design considerations including mandatory 
elements and school linguistic policy 

• review curriculum design models and investigate the suitability for their 
specific school or PRU  

• considering the role of progression, assessment and pedagogy in their 
local curriculum and context 

• designing, planning and trialling their proposed curriculum model, 
evaluating initial designs and developing medium term plans as they 
work through initial implementation and into an ongoing process of 
review and refinement.  

 
Where indicated, funding must be passed to schools and PRUs. In so doing 
you are expected to respond to the Minister’s call to ease the burden on 
schools and should, therefore, review your funding arrangements with a view 
to ensuring they are streamlined arrangements for schools, while maintaining 
clarity over the purpose of the funding elements.  
 
Planning, Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
For schools and PRUs, improvement officers or challenge advisors should 
support them to ensure their curriculum reform planning, including related 
professional learning, appropriately reflects their journey and local priorities. 
These should be in accordance with their development plans and adhere to 
national guidance on the Curriculum for Wales, its implementation, and the 
use of funding. Arrangements for monitoring and reporting of funded activity 
should not be overly burdensome on schools and PRUs and should not 
require separate reporting requirements at the local level. Where possible, 
approaches should be used that are harmonised with existing school systems; 
this focussed on strategic school-level planning, with reporting on activity and 
impact in a holistic way. 
 
For grant recipients, as part of your business plans, you will set out how this 
funding will be used to support curriculum implementation across the three 
areas set out below, including related professional learning, and confirm 
staffing capacity to deliver the actions. In your planning you are expected to 

Tudalen 134

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/curriculum-for-wales-implementation-plan/#making-it-happen-–-supporting-schools-and-settings
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/curriculum-for-wales-implementation-plan/#making-it-happen-–-supporting-schools-and-settings


 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

21 

have regard to national guidance on how schools should apply funding as set 
out in the Journey to curriculum roll-out.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to discuss national priorities and report on regional or local needs. You will 
provide information in a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
We expect termly reports to focus on schools’ preparedness for CfW, its 
implementation, support arrangements in place and the impact of that support. 
The format of reports is agreed separately and may be amended from time to 
time. However, reports should include information on how the requirements of 
this grant, as set out in the three sections below, are being met.  
 
As part of the reporting process, you will be expected to report on the 
completion of activity on well-being in learning and provide a summary of 
impact in the 2022/23 autumn term report.  
 
 
1. Building and ensuring middle tier capacity  
 
This element of the grant includes funding provision under the following lines: 

• Curriculum reform professional learning programme  

• Regional support for curriculum and assessment reform  
 
Purpose 
To support grant recipients’ capacity to further the development of the CfW 
and to continue to work with schools and PRUs to ensure all practitioners 
receive the relevant knowledge and skills to effectively realise the new 
purpose-led curriculum. Funding in this area is for your organisation’s use, 
and should focus on ensuring a flexible programme of targeted interventions 
to support the collaborative development of shared understandings on 
curriculum and assessment. This flexible programme will need to respond to 
the ongoing and emerging needs of schools and PRUs as they work through 
curriculum development and implementation, while having regard to national 
approaches.  
 
As a condition of this funding, and as part of your planning and reporting, you 
will be expected to: 
 

• focus on support for those schools and PRUs which have furthest to go 
in responding to learning impacts of the pandemic and in their 
curriculum reform journey 

• have regard to support provided in other parts of Wales, and work with 
other regions and local authorities to seek parity of provision under this 
national programme 

Tudalen 135



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

22 

• ensure engagement of all practitioners with the new curriculum and to 
equip them with the appropriate skills through a programme of 
professional learning, with the professional learning passport as an 
embedded element of all professional learning 

• continue to provide access to an asynchronous CfW development 
programme with a key focus on middle leaders and teachers  

• fund and support the development and delivery of national professional 
learning programmes linked to key areas of the new curriculum, for 
example international languages, careers and work related experiences 
(priorities to be agreed with Welsh Government and programmes to be 
co-developed with other stakeholders where applicable) 

• ensure all maintained schools and PRUs have access to support for 
learning progression and curriculum reform - and that all are routinely 
advised on the breadth of support available for the stage of their reform 
journey  

• facilitate the dissemination of learning from the national progression 
project to wider networks 

• support local engagement between as well as within schools and PRUs 
in the context of National Network conversations, for example, 
supporting engagement with the issues and questions raised in 
Network conversations and promoting materials 

• actively promote the National Network to schools and PRUs in your 
area through your social media, website and active networks so it 
forms part of your coherent offer of support for curriculum reform 

• support practitioners in developing their understanding of assessment 
arrangements as an integral part of curriculum design and for the 
purpose of supporting individual learner progression 

• support the embedding of ongoing, day to day assessment within 
learning and teaching (in terms of planning and practice). 

 
Funding 
The total all-Wales allocation of £3.2 million for the Curriculum reform 
professional learning programme has been split equally between regions and 
partnerships to enable equal engagement in the development and delivery of 
the national programme.  
 
The total all-Wales allocation of £3.4 million for Regional support for 
curriculum and assessment reform has been distributed using the PLASC-
based formula to reflect the range and nature of schools and PRUs with which 
you have to engage.  
 
2. Building and ensuring in-school capacity  
 
This element of the grant includes funding provision under the following lines: 

• School-led professional learning, enquiry and research  

• Schools curriculum and assessment reform, including learning 
progression   

Tudalen 136



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

23 

• Well-being in learning   
 
Purpose 
Funding must be used to support schools and PRUs to develop understanding 
and approaches to support their learners in response to the pandemic, in 
preparation for CfW, and through ongoing cycles of curriculum review under 
the CfW. It should support schools and PRUs to understand and respond to 
the needs of learners in order to progress. This recognises that learning 
progression is a critical enabler of supporting learners out of the pandemic 
and of realising the ambitions of the CfW.  
 
This funding is also to support school to school working to enable schools to 
deliver professional learning on a cluster, local or regional basis.  
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to: 
 

• continue to work with HEI partners to support 300 schools nationally to 
successfully engage with the National Enquiry development 
Programme for practitioners 

• subject to the outcomes of the external evaluation, begin to involve an 
extended network of schools in NPEP to support the transition to a 
national approach 

• support lead cluster networks to develop and deliver the regional 
professional learning offer to equip the wider schools network to 
prepare for and undertake ongoing review of the CfW 

• fund school-level engagement with the national pedagogy network and 
the leading collaborative learning project  

• fund and support school sixth form practitioners to engage in 
collaborative post-16 national enquiry cluster work 

• provide funding to selected schools in each region / local authority to 
enable them to participate fully in piloting models to embed research 
and professional enquiry 

• support schools and PRUs to engage with the professional standards 
for teaching and leadership and for assisting teaching 

• fund schools and PRUs to support them to undertake their curriculum 
design and development and/or facilitate the use of their funding for 
collaborative approaches 

• fund schools and PRUs to develop and embed progression, including 
supporting appointed schools to engage with the national progression 
project and supporting others to engage with this learning 

• fund residual approaches and supporting materials to schools and 
PRUs for the remainder of the 2021/22 academic year to help them 
embed well-being in learning. This funding should not be used for wider 
well-being approaches within schools and PRUs for which other 
funding streams are available. Activity funded through this element of 
the grant may include embedding and modelling learning around 
mental and physical well-being and relationships across the curriculum. 

Tudalen 137



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

24 

Activity should be coordinated across regions / authorities to ensure a 
national approach to support for well-being in learning as part of 
curriculum design.  

 
Funding  
The total all-Wales allocations of £3.2, £6.346 and £0.33 million for the above 
funding lines have been split via the PLASC-based formula in order to be 
directed to schools proportionally across Wales. 
 
3. Direct funding for schools  
 
This element of the grant includes funding provision under the following lines: 

• Professional learning grant for schools  

• National network schools engagement. 
 
Purpose 
To enable practitioners to engage in a range of activities to realise the CfW, 
including use of professional learning and engagement in the work of the 
National Network for curriculum implementation in order to develop their skills, 
knowledge and practice.  
 
Improvement officers or challenge advisors should be used to provide support 
to schools to ensure their plans for professional learning appropriately reflect 
their journey and local priorities in accordance with their school development 
plans and adhere to national guidance on the use of the funding. 
 
Schools may be expected to contribute to case studies and inform a 
prospective evaluation of the impact of the grant.      
 
In respect of National Network engagement, funding distribution should have 
regard to standardised levels agreed nationally; for your information this is 
suggested at an indicative figure of £250 per day. In distributing funding, 
approaches should be used which seek to minimise schools’ and PRUs’ 
administration; with combined ‘block’ funding approaches being preferred. 
However, in the application of such approaches the purpose of the funding 
must be clear to schools and PRUs. In respect of schools’ and PRUs’ 
engagement in National Network conversations this can include support for 
release, as well as their consideration of the issues being explored, and 
discussing these questions back at school, sharing and embedding the 
learning from events attended.  
 
Distribution of this funding should also cover, at the same indicative 
standardised national rate, support for schools who volunteer to drive the work 
of the National Network. These functions include review of priorities, 
conversation and engagement planning, engagement facilitation, analysis and 
reporting of findings. National guidance co-constructed with partners for these 
schools includes specific expectations and inputs.  
 

Tudalen 138



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

25 

As a condition of this funding you will be expected to actively promote the 
benefits to schools of their participation in National Network conversations, 
seeking to broaden the range of schools’ participation, as well as planning 
and facilitation work. You will have regard to national guidance, and ensure 
that your schools and PRUs are aware of that guidance to inform their use of 
funding. 
 
Funding 
The total all-Wales allocation of £12 million for the above professional learning 
grant for schools, as well as the £3 million nationally for engagement with the 
National Network, has been split via the PLASC-based formula in order to be 
directed to schools proportionally across Wales. 
 
100% of the funding provided under this element of the grant must be passed 
to schools (including PRUs).  
 
Funding for Professional Learning can be used flexibly by schools to allow 
them to work together in ways that suit their own circumstances, in line with 
the guidance. Guidance for schools on how to use the Professional Learning 
funding has been provided at Annex X. Guidance for use of funding for 
curriculum reform, including National Network engagement is contained within 
the Journey to curriculum rollout.  
 
 
B) Professional Learning and Leadership 
  
1. Professional learning for developing practice and reflection  
 
Purpose 
To be used by regions and partnerships to engage with universities and other 
stakeholders to support delivery of Welsh Government-led projects. 
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to: 
 

• identify a lead member of staff to join the Project Group for Embedding 
Research and Enquiry in Schools; 

• work with Welsh Government to develop a model to provide all schools 
and all practitioners with the opportunity to use high quality educational 
research and participate in professional enquiry; 

• identify a lead member of staff to facilitate engagement in the National 
Pedagogy Project including Talk Pedagogy, research and development 
of national professional learning resources; 

• facilitate school engagement with the listening to learners project to 
engage learners in dialogue about learning experiences in relation to 
Curriculum for Wales as part of our national exploration of pedagogy; 

• work collaboratively to ensure that the professional standards for 
teaching and leadership and assisting teaching are at the heart of 

Tudalen 139

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/curriculum-for-wales-the-journey-to-curriculum-roll-out/#guidance-on-using-funding


 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

26 

professional learning and are used by practitioners to reflect on their 
practice;  

• continue to support national implementation of the Schools as Learning 
Organisations (SLOs) approach, leading to a significant increase in 
engagement with the national SLO survey; 

• continue to share best practice across the system to equip SLO 
enablers to support other schools with areas for development; 

• support the ongoing development of regional consortia as middle tier 
learning organisations as part of the wider transition towards a learning 
education system; 

• continue to develop the Welsh Collaborative for Learning Design, 
working with schools at regional and partnership level and in 
collaboration with Universities across Wales.  This will include further 
dissemination of the Remote Asynchronous Learning Design 
Resources currently available in Hwb 

• support recruitment to the Masters programme and to ITE provision via 
Open University. 

 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
support school-led professional learning, enquiry and research.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report on regional or local needs. 
 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £1.1m has been split equally between regions 
and partnerships to enable equal engagement in the development and 
delivery of the national programme. 
 
 
2. Early Career Support Package  
 
Purpose 
This funding should be used to work with Welsh Government and universities 
to develop a national early career support package to support teachers in the 
first 4-years of their teaching careers. 
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to: 
 

• identify a lead member of staff to join the national project group for the 
early career support package; 

• further develop the national induction professional learning programme 
for NQTs, induction mentors and external verifiers and building on the 

Tudalen 140



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

27 

Camau Nesaf and Camau Pellach programmes and the bank of 
national resources; 

• develop and deliver a national professional learning offer for teachers 
who have completed induction to include key areas of curriculum 
reform and specific support in regard to discipline specialisms e.g. for 
secondary practitioners, ALN.  

 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
support early career teachers.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report on regional or local needs. 
 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £0.250m has been split equally between 
regions and partnerships to enable equal engagement in the development 
and delivery of the national programme. 
 
 
3. Teaching Assistants Learning Pathway including Higher Level 

Teaching Assistants  
 
Purpose 
To offer and deliver a range of suitable programmes across the different levels 
of teaching assistants in Wales known as the Teaching Assistant Learning 
Pathway (TALP). Provision should be progressive and linked to the 
professional standards for assisting teaching.  
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to: 
 

• Deliver the Teaching Assistants Learning Pathway including 
experienced HLTA and practicing TA provision  

• deliver an Aspiring Higher Level Teaching Assistant Programme that 
leads to the assessment of the Higher Level Teaching Assistant 
(HLTA) Status; 

• maintain the quality threshold for all candidates to ensure that they can 
develop their skills appropriately which is progressive and continues to 
develop all practitioners; 

• take into account any pressure points and areas of need (such as 
those working in the Welsh-medium sector) when considering 
candidates  to join the TALP, and 

• ensure consistency of delivery nationally delivering both regionally and 
locally as applicable 

Tudalen 141



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

28 

• Continue to refresh and review the TALP delivery to ensure its up to 
date and relevant  

• support and participate in the TA PL Steering group where appropriate  
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
support teaching assistants.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report on regional or local needs. 
 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
You will provide a report to Welsh Government on each Cylch including an 
over view of the programme, breakdown of candidates, sectors and success 
rates highlighting good practice and any improvements required .  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £0.950m has been split equally between 
regions and partnerships to enable equal engagement in the development 
and delivery of the national programme. 
 

4. Support for Welsh in education  
 
Purpose 
This funding supports the development of Welsh in Education.  
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to:  
 

• continue the role of the regional Welsh strategic leads in order to 

facilitate cross-regional working and to inform and support national 

developments; 

• work with local authorities on the planning and implementation of 

Welsh in Education Strategic Plan outcomes that are specifically linked 

to the regional role of school improvement and delivering professional 

learning; 

• develop and deliver a national programme of professional learning to 

support the workforce to prepare to deliver a transformational approach 

to the learning, teaching and assessment of the Welsh language; 

• work with Welsh Government, National Centre for Learning Welsh and 

Sabbatical Scheme providers to support practitioners to access a 

national programme of Welsh language skills development and provide 

post-course support once they return to school to plan the best use of 

the skills developed; 

Tudalen 142



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

29 

• develop and deliver a national professional learning programme to 

support schools to improve teaching through the medium of Welsh and 

immersion education;  

• ensure that the challenge and support functions for schools advises 

school leaders on how to strategically plan to address the objectives of 

Cymraeg 2050 and monitors their progress along with how they use 

their professional learning and EIG funding for this purpose. 

 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
support the teaching and learning of Welsh and through the medium of Welsh.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report on regional or local needs. 
 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £2.7m has been split via the PLASC formula 
in order to be directed proportionally across Wales. 

 
This funding can be retained by the regions to deliver support to schools, and 
is not required to be delegated to schools.  
 

5. A level and Advanced Welsh Baccalaureate improvement  
 
Purpose 
Funding must be used to provide support to improve teaching and learning of 
A Levels and the Advanced Welsh Baccalaureate.  
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to: 
 

• continue delivery of the leadership programme for sixth form leaders; 

• continue engagement with the VESPA mindset; 

• support the roll-out of post-16 NPEP cluster projects; 

• continue delivery of professional learning to support the teaching of the 
Advanced Welsh Baccalaureate; 

• support schools to access and make best use of resources to support 
transition and work with Welsh Government to develop case studies on 
schools’ approaches; 

• support the creation and consolidation of a shared post-covid approach 
to post-16 study, and 

• support for other cross-consortia projects that may emerge during the 
year. 

 

Tudalen 143



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

30 

Monitoring and Reporting Requirement 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
support the teaching and learning of A Levels and Advanced Welsh 
Baccalaureate.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report on regional or local needs. 
 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £0.8m has been split via a formula based on 
the number of learners in school sixth forms in order to be directed 
proportionally across Wales. 

 
This funding can be retained by the regions to deliver support to schools, and 
is not required to be delegated to schools.  
 

6. Leadership 
 

6a. National Professional Qualification for Headship (NPQH) £0.675m 

 

Purpose 
To deliver an aspiring heads programme that provides access to the NPQH 
assessment. The Aspiring Heads Programme and the assessment of the 
NPQH status conforms to a national professional learning programme 
delivered both regionally and nationally.  
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to: 
 

• maintain the quality threshold so that candidates are only accepted 
onto the programme that have a high likelihood of successfully 
completing and progressing to a headship position (assuming one is 
available) within 2 years;  

• take into account any pressure points and areas of need (such as the 
need for Welsh-medium heads) when considering candidates and 
prioritise appropriately;   

• ensure consistency of delivery across the regions and that delivery is in 
line with the professional standards for leadership 

 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
those partaking in the Aspiring Heads Programme and NPQH Assessment.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report on regional or local needs. 

Tudalen 144



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

31 

 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
You will provide a report to Welsh Government on each Aspiring Heads 
Programme and the NPQH Assessment that includes an over view of the 
programme,  breakdown of candidates, sectors and success rates highlighting 
good practice and any improvements required .  
 
Payment  
Funding, in 2022-23 will comprise of £4500 per candidate and allocated as 
follows: 
 

Region  Total number of candidates Total funding  

EAS 19 
£105,500 (including 
£20,000 for the Successful 
Candidate Celebration day  

CSC 41 £184,500 

GWE 35 £157,500 

Partneriaeth  44 £198,000 

Total  139    

 
Funding for the for the NPQH is a national Programme and can only be paid 
to the regions although NPT, Ceredigion and Powys candidates are included 
in the totals above.    
 
The cost for candidates above the maximum number outlined will be met by 
Consortia from their own budgets.   
 
Funding for the NPQH successful candidates Celebration day is also provided 
to EAS on behalf of all the regions.   
 

 

6b.  Future Leaders Programmes £1m 

 

Purpose 

To offer and deliver the Leadership development pathways which offers a 
range of suitable programmes across the different levels of leadership in 
Wales including those national development programmes for Aspiring, senior, 
middle and experienced Leaders.  
 
As part of this funding you will be expected to: 
 

• identify a lead member of staff for this work linking to the delivery of the 
Aspiring Heads Programme and ensure that any good practice can be 
shared more widely across Wales; 

Tudalen 145



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

32 

• ensure that programmes will have either received or are working 
towards receiving endorsement from the National Academy for 
Educational Leadership; 

• deliver provision to equip participants to become inspirational leaders 
who can work collaboratively and are committed to raising standards 
and reducing the attainment gap; 

• deliver learning opportunities that support leaders at all levels and be 
clearly linked to the Leadership Pathway. All participants should be 
offered the support of the learning coach or mentor; 

• support the delivery of the Newly Appointed and Acting Headteacher 
Programme endorsed by the National Academy for Educational 
Leadership, which should be available to all newly appointed and 
acting Headteachers in Wales. 

 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
Any provision offered using this funding should be in line with national 
provision and meets the endorsement criteria as set out by the National 
Academy for Educational Leadership. 
 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
support the leaders.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report on regional or local needs. 
 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £1m has been split equally between regions 
and partnerships to enable equal engagement in the development and 
delivery of the national programmes. 
 

7. Pedagogy research design GWE only 
 
Purpose 
This funding is to support the participation of Higher Education Institutions 
(HEIs) through CEIREI (a formal strategic collaboration between GwE and 
Bangor University) in a pedagogy school focused research project. 
 
The purpose of the research project is to explore the 12 pedagogical 

principles and and develop a deep and thorough understanding of them and 

the research on which they are based. This work will result in pedagogical 
narratives and professional learning engagement resources that will support 
local authority, region and school activity through collaborative, professional 
reflection and enquiry. 

 

Tudalen 146



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

33 

This research project supports our national exploration of pedagogy in line 
with the National Pedagogy Project and will involve co-construction between 
Welsh Government, universities, regional consortia and partnerships and 
schools. 
 
Responsibilities of the HEI to include the identification of staff who will:  

• Participate in regular meetings of the Research Project Team that 
oversees this work. 

• Conduct an initial rapid review to develop a relevant evidence base to 
share with project schools 

• Scaffold and support the project schools engagement with the 
evidence-base 

• Scaffold and support the planning of a professional enquiry based on 
agreed learning experiences in line with the focus areas identified by 
the Research Project Team. 

• Work alongside project schools to capture the learning experiences in 
action 

• Develop a pedagogical narratives from the 'capture' and relate it to the 
evidence base 

• Collaborate with local authority and regional consortia colleagues to 
develop the linked PL resources 

 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
The funding will be managed by CEIREI and this will be used to seek the 
collaborative engagement of other HEI in the project.  
 
You will attend regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials 
to report progress. 
 
Payment  
Funding of £0.080m will be allocated to GWE to manage in partnership with 
CEIREI. 
CEIREI can retain up to £10,000 for the management of the project and for 
supporting the development of outputs.  
 
The remaining £70,000 will be divided equally to support the engagement of 
HEI collaborators in supporting the 4 groups of participating schools.  
 
 
8. Welsh-medium pilot EAS only 
 
8a Gap Year project 
 
Purpose 
The pilot project will fund gap year placements for pupils leaving Welsh-
medium education after A-levels to work as teaching assistants in three 
Welsh-medium primary schools in Torfaen. This will both encourage Welsh 

Tudalen 147



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

34 

speakers to stay within their local area as well as giving them experience 
before hopefully progressing to study for a Welsh-medium PGCE. 
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
A progress update should be provided following recruitment. A full evaluation 
report should be provided at the end of the pilot. 
 
Payment  
A total of £80,262 will be allocated to EAS over two financial years to manage 
the project in partnership with Torfaen.  
2022-23 - £46,820 
2023-24 - £33,442 
 
8b Secondments project 
 
Purpose 
The pilot project will explore using staff from within the region’s current Welsh 
in a Year sabbatical graduate teaching community to assist teaching in Welsh-
medium schools on a part-time basis (proposal: 2 days a week for 2 terms) as 
part of their ongoing professional learning. This will support identified Welsh-
medium schools with an acute need for further capacity in assisting teaching 
to meet immediate staffing needs. This will also benefit staff who have 
participated in the Welsh in a Year sabbatical programme in recent years to 
immerse themselves in a Welsh-medium environment to maintain and 
continue to develop their skills. Transfer of language teaching pedagogy from 
the English-medium sector will also benefit Welsh-medium schools as the 
effectiveness of the schools’ approaches to immersion are reconsidered in 
line with Covid effects. 
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
A progress update should be provided following recruitment of secondees. A 
full evaluation report should be provided at the end of the pilot. 
 
Payment  
Funding of £126,000 to EAS to manage the project in partnership with 
schools. 
 
 
9. Welsh in education national project manager (Gwe only) 
 
Purpose 
To provide a national project manager to support the co-ordination, 
development and delivery of Welsh in education activities, in accordance with 
the vision of Cymraeg 2050 and the Welsh in education workforce plan. 
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
Regular monitoring meetings with Welsh Government officials to report on 
developments and priorities. 

Tudalen 148



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

35 

 
You will provide a termly report on progress to evidence outputs and an 
annual report to evidence outcomes and value for money.  
 
Payment  
Funding of £70,000 to GWE to manage on behalf of all regions and local 
authority partnerships. 
 
 
10. All age schools (EAS only) 
 
Purpose 
The funding is for the All age school network to continue with school-based 
research, supplemented by university-led research into all-age schools in 
other countries in accordance with the outline plan submitted by the network. 
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
Regular monitoring meetings between the Chair of the Network and Welsh 
Government officials to report on developments and priorities. 
 
Payment  
Funding of £70,000 to EAS to allocate to Ebbw Fawr school on behalf of all 
members of the All Age School Network. 
 
 
C) Modern Foreign Languages  
 
International Languages/Modern Foreign Languages - Global Futures  
 
Funding should be used for secondary schools to enable engagement and 
collaboration within and across other Consortia and partnerships to improve 
support and planning for International Languages within the curriculum for 
Wales. Expanding the teaching of Modern Foreign Languages in our schools 
is a Programme for Government commitment. 
 
Also for support for secondary schools to work with Language Institutes, HEIs 
(including the Open University) to provide opportunities and support for the 
teaching and learning of international languages. The support provided should 
align to the strategic aims and actions outlined in the Global Futures 
programme. 
 
Info on reporting – Written Quarterly updates provided against the agreed 
actions of the Global Futures Strategic plan that include school progress 
towards the Curriculum for Wales and supporting the programme for 
Government commitment.  
 
 
 

Tudalen 149



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

36 

Modern Foreign Languages- Building Capacity in the Primary Sector  
 
Provision to build capacity to teach international languages in primary schools 
within the curriculum for Wales. This is to include the amount to be allocated 
to the Open University’s ‘TEachers Learning to Teach languages (TELT)’. 
 
Info on reporting – Written Quarterly updates provided against with the agreed 
actions of the Global Futures Strategic plan that include school progress 
towards the Curriculum for Wales and supporting the programme for 
Government commitment.  
 
 
D) Other teaching and learning PL (Literacy and numeracy; Digital)  
 
Literacy and Numeracy Grant  
 
Purpose 
This funding is to provide direct support to schools to deliver on literacy and 
numeracy across the curriculum, based on the expectations within the 
Literacy and Numeracy Framework.   
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
support schools to raise standards of literacy and numeracy.  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £500,000 has been split equally between 
regions and partnerships. 
 
 
Primary LNF Oracy Scheme 
 
Purpose 
This funding is to provide targeted support to schools on developing oracy 
skills across the curriculum. Oracy (speaking and listening) is a strand of the 
Literacy component of the Literacy and Numeracy Framework (LNF).  
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will be used to 
develop oracy skills.   
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £400,000 has been split via the PLASC 
formula in order to be directed proportionally across Wales.  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 150



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

37 

Digital Competence Framework  
 
Purpose 
This funding is to provide support for digital competence based on your area’s 
needs. The aim is to further embed digital competence and the DCF across 
the curriculum and for ongoing work to develop support and resources for 
schools to improve digital planning and implementation at a whole school 
level. 
 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
As part of your business plans, you will set out how this funding will embed 
digital competence across all areas of the curriculum.  
 
Payment  
The total all-Wales allocation of £100,000 has been split equally between 
regions and partnerships.  
 
 
E) Coding and Digital Skills  
 
As part of this funding, we expect support for developing coding and digital 
skills to be provided based on your regional needs. The aim is to embed the 
concepts of computation for teaching and learning across the curriculum. This 
funding is to support ongoing work under our ‘Cracking the Code’ plan and for 
learners to develop their understanding of how to use digital technologies to 
their full potential, to understand how computers interact, and that there are 
broad legal, social and ethical consequences to the use of technology. This 
funding is also for ongoing work to develop support and resources for schools 
to improve digital skills at a whole school level. 
 
 
F) Professional Learning Funding 
Guidance for schools on how to use the funding  
 
Background  
The National Approach to Professional Learning was officially launched in 
2018. This “made in Wales” approach to professional learning marked a key 
point in the reform journey. It aligns with the professional standards, the 
Schools as Learning Organisations approach and professional learning 
model, to create a vision fit for the evolving education system in Wales for all 
educational practitioners, not just teachers. Welsh Government is committed 
to ensuring that all practitioners receive the support they need to deliver the 
new transformational curriculum.  
 
Integral to the National Approach is ensuring that professional learning for 
practitioners is adequately resourced including both financial resources and 
time for teachers and leaders to engage with high quality development 
opportunities.  

Tudalen 151



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

38 

 
To support the profound transformation in the way our practitioners and 
leaders think about their professional learning in the lead up to the new 
curriculum, enhanced professional learning funding has been made available 
to schools to make this step-change.  
 
A key part of the National Approach is focused on pedagogy, which is a 
conduit to ensuring that all practitioners are supported to further develop their 
knowledge and skills to effectively realise the new curriculum. Developing 
high quality teaching and learning is a key enabler of the Curriculum for 
Wales.  
 
NEW Professional Learning Entitlement  
The National Professional Learning Entitlement is currently being developed 
through co-construction. It will take the National Approach to Professional 
Learning to the next phase. The National Professional Learning Entitlement 
will set out the system’s entitlements and expectations for all teaching 
assistants, teachers and leaders.  
 
It will support the delivery of high quality teaching and learning, by 
enabling the education profession to:  

• support system’s priorities, specifically delivering curriculum and wider 
reform and improving equity through education;  

• enjoy equity of access to professional learning, regardless of language, 
location, role in school, subject in secondary school, and whether 
practitioners are full-time, part-time or supply;  

• enjoy the highest quality of provision and support;  

• easily access the provision and support available to them locally, 
regionally and nationally;  

• engage in enquiry and be supported by coaching and mentoring.  
 
During the summer term, regions and partnerships will play a key role in 
supporting co-construction work with schools across Wales. The Entitlement 
will launch in September 2022. 

Tudalen 152



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

39 

Purpose of the professional learning funding:  

• An enhanced professional learning funding allocation has been made 
available since 2018-19 to allow schools to prepare for the new 
curriculum. An additional £12 million will be made available during 
2022-23 to further support curriculum implementation.  

 

• Additional professional learning funding will be allocated via the 
regional consortia school improvement grant for direct allocation to 
schools to fund professional learning in accordance with their school 
development plan.  

 

• It is essential to allow time and space for practitioners and leaders to 
work together across schools and networks to prepare for the new 
curriculum and continue to access the necessary support following 
curriculum launch. With this in mind, the funding conditions are 
sufficiently flexible to enable schools to work together in ways to meet 
the specific needs of their own settings and build on the national 
Curriculum for Wales professional learning programme.  

 

• The main purpose of the funding is creating time in schools for all 
practitioners to make changes in practice and develop the skills 
they need to support delivery of the new curriculum for Wales and 
to enable schools to continue to adapt and access necessary 
support, including the national Curriculum for Wales professional 
learning programme following curriculum launch in September 
2022.  

 

• The main expectations of the funding is to enable practitioners to 
develop their skills and practice to deliver high quality teaching and 
learning in accordance with the principles of the National Approach, 
the professional standards for teaching and leadership and those 
assisting teaching in line with the vision of the forthcoming National 
Professional Learning Entitlement launching in September 2022.  

 
Overview of current professional learning  
Policy Insight Events  
Bitesize termly professional learning updates are made available via 
Welsh Government’s virtual Policy Insights. See links to recordings of recent 
events below:  
Autumn Term Professional Learning Update  
Spring Term Professional Learning Update  
 
The Policy Insights also provide updates on wider professional learning 
developments and new and emerging development opportunities to support 
the new curriculum.  
 
 

Tudalen 153



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

40 

National Professional Learning Entitlement  
The National Professional Learning Entitlement is currently being developed 
through co-construction. It will take the National Approach to Professional 
Learning to its next phase and will set out the system’s entitlements and 
expectations for all teaching assistants, teachers and leaders. Schools can 
engage in co-construction work during the summer term 2022 to shape the 
new Entitlement and begin to embed this approach in their own setting 
following initial launch in September 2022. 
 
Delivering curriculum and wider reform  
Welsh Government’s Programme for Government Update reinforces the 
ongoing commitment to ‘support schools and teachers to deliver our world-
leading Curriculum for Wales.’ The national Curriculum for Wales 
professional learning programme delivered by regional consortia and local 
authority partnerships will continue to equip all schools to realise the 
curriculum. This programme aligns with Schools as Learning Organisations, 
the Professional Learning Journey and the Digital Professional Learning 
Journey (DPLJ). Schools will also have access to new professional learning 
linked to key areas of the new curriculum e.g. international languages, 
diversity and anti-racism; religion, values and ethics (details to follow on Hwb). 
 
Improving equity through education  
Above all else, the overarching aim of Welsh Government’s national mission 
is to tackle the impact of poverty on educational attainment and set high 
standards for all. We want all young people to have high aspirations for their 
education and future careers. We need a renewed focus on creating a culture 
of aspiration and self-confidence. A focus on bringing a real awareness of the 
world of work and the range of available career choices into the lives of 
children and young people is vital.  
 
Professional enquiry  
Building on the Programme for Government commitment to ‘explore how to 
strengthen professional learning communities’ Welsh Government is keen to 
provide all schools and all practitioners with the opportunity to use high quality 
educational research and participate in school led professional learning, 
enquiry and research. Examples include engagement with the National 
Professional Enquiry Project, the National Pedagogy Network and engaging 
with the professional standards for teaching and leadership and for assisting 
teaching.  
 
Well-being  
The Programme for Government 2021-26 sets out Welsh Government’s well-
being objectives. One of the objectives includes a commitment to ‘continue 
our long-term programme of education reform, and ensure educational 
inequalities narrow and standards rise.’ Staff wellbeing must be at the 
forefront of all that we do. We will only support pupil wellbeing and deliver high 
quality teaching if the workforce also feel supported.  
 

Tudalen 154



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

41 

Coaching and mentoring  
To further support practitioner well-being, work is underway to develop 
coaching support to complement the national Curriculum for Wales 
Development Programme to empower schools to advance development of 
their curriculum journey. New coaching and mentoring provision has initially 
focused on school leaders, with the next phase of the programme targeting 
induction leaders and induction tutors. 

 
Early career 
Improving support for early career teachers as they transition from initial 
teacher education into school is a key priority. Work is underway to develop a 
national programme of professional learning for teachers in their first three 
years of teaching following the completion of induction.  
 
Welsh language  
‘Cymraeg 2050: A million Welsh speakers’ sets out Welsh Government’s 
ambition of creating a million Welsh speakers by 2050. It includes targets to 
increase the number of teachers competent to teach Welsh as a subject and 
other subjects through the medium of Welsh. It also outlines the vision for 
developing the Welsh language skills of all learners aged 3 to 16 as part of 
Curriculum for Wales to enable them to use the language in everyday 
contexts. Schools can develop teaching and use of the Welsh language 
through professional learning opportunities to ensure that the Welsh language 
is considered at the heart.  
 
Professional Learning for Support Staff  
Teaching assistants (TAs) are a valued and integral part of the school 
workforce and have an important role as part of a high-quality education 
profession. In Our national mission the Welsh Government reiterated the 
commitment to continuing to enable TAs to improve their skills and help them 
to commit to professional learning by facilitating clearer learning pathways 
including pathways to achieve the status of higher level teaching assistant 
(HLTA).  
 
Additional Learning Needs  
Ensuring that all staff have an awareness of the learners with additional needs 
continues to be an important aspect for all practitioners. Funding for 
professional learning should ensure that not only those with specialist 
responsibility receive appropriate development, but should also to ensure that 
all staff are equipped to fully understand the needs of their learners.  
 
Teaching Assistants  
Teaching assistants make up a large part of the school workforce and it is 
important that they too are fully considered to develop their skills and prepare 
for the introduction of the new curriculum. The development of the Teaching 
Assistant Learning Pathway is just one part of this and remains important that 
all teaching assistants are able to develop their skills and knowledge for the 
introduction of the new curriculum.  

Tudalen 155



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

42 

 
Leadership  
Leadership remains a key aspect for the successful introduction of the new 
curriculum and is a key to improving standards for all learners. The National 
Academy for Educational Leadership is a vital part in ensuring that leadership 
at all levels continues to improve and adapt for the introduction of the new 
curriculum.  
 
Governance  
The governance structure of the reform programme will be used as a 
framework to monitor progress in practitioners’ access to professional 
learning, to ensure that schools are ready to realise the new curriculum at the 
right time. To do this we will:  

• request termly reports from regions/partnerships on access to their 
national programme of professional learning;  

• ensure that professional learning expenditure plans are signed off by 
School Improvement Advisers;  

• work with regions/partnerships to audit a random sample of PL funding 
expenditure plans to demonstrate appropriate deployment of the 
funding;  

• work with regions/partnerships to update professional learning funding 
case studies on Hwb to exemplify how schools are benefiting from this 
enhanced investment.  

 
Examples of how the professional learning funding can be used:  
A collection of school focused case studies on Hwb demonstrate a range of 
innovative approaches to maximise enhanced professional learning funding. 
New case studies will be added in due course. Significant returns on this 
investment include developing research, supporting innovative approaches to 
pedagogy and coaching, nurturing the development of aspiring leaders, 
through school and cluster-based approaches.  
Examples of how the funding can be used include:  

• releasing and covering staff to be involved in collaborative professional 
learning and collaborative planning – at a school level, and across 
clusters and networks.  

• incentivising and rewarding staff to investigate the implications of the 
new curriculum for their own teaching and assessment practice – at 
individual level, by funded release for critical enquiry or professional 
learning.  

• Creating roles and posts dedicated to the mission, and especially to 
supporting colleagues, departments and whole schools through critical 
enquiry, change management and schools as learning organisations 
activities.  

• development of the role of a school or cluster level professional 
learning coach.  

Tudalen 156



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

43 

 
The funding should not be used to fund activities/purchases not related to 
professional learning for the new curriculum. Please note that a random 
sample of schools will be selected to provide evidence of appropriate 
expenditure of the professional learning funding allocation. 
 
Expectations regarding expenditure of the funding  
In line with the National Approach to Professional Learning and the new 
Professional Learning Entitlement, professional learning is an entitlement for 
all practitioners in schools, not just teachers.  
 
Therefore the expectation is that while the funding formula has been based on 
FTE for teachers, all practitioners are to be given the opportunity to engage 
with professional learning utilising the funding to deliver high quality 
teaching and learning.  
 
The professional learning funding is not reserved exclusively for teachers and 
leaders and should also be used to also facilitate access to professional 
learning for teaching assistants, HLTAs and supply teachers for example.  
 
Principles of the professional learning funding  
The principles underpinning the distribution and use of this funding are:  
1. That the total funding allocation is transferred directly to school 
budgets by regional consortia/local authority partnerships.  
 
2. Funding is used to support professional learning requirements at school 
level (in line with school development plan and principles of schools as 
learning organisations model).  
 
3. The funding is not exclusively reserved to support teachers and leaders and 
is to be used to support all practitioners who support teaching and learning in 
classrooms including TAs/LSAs/supply teachers.  
 
4. That the funding should be utilised to support engagement with the 
regional professional learning offer, or comparable offer from a HEI or 
other middle tier stakeholders, or to support PL collaboration across a cluster 
of schools.  
 
5. Schools should consult with their School Improvement Advisor to ensure 
there are familiar with alternative funding sources to support leadership 
development, coaching and mentoring etc to maximise the benefits of this 
enhanced investment.  
 
6. The funding should be used to support areas such as:  
 

• The general release of teachers and TAs to engage in PL activities  

Tudalen 157



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

44 

• The remuneration of individuals, creating roles and posts, to support 
the co-ordination of PL activities across a school or group of schools. 
These role would support colleagues, departments or whole school 
approaches to critical enquiry, change management and SLO activities  

• The release costs for practitioners to engage in research activities and 
critical enquiry, funding release time to investigate the implications of 
the new curriculum for their own teaching and assessment practice 

• The release costs to enable practitioners to collaborate both within 
school and across clusters and networks of schools – engaging with 
collaborative professional learning and collaborative planning  

• Supporting the development of the roles such as school (or cluster 
level) Professional Learning Coach  

 
7. There is an expectation that schools will maximise the efficacy of the 
funding by pooling their resources appropriately across clusters/structured 
networks to maximise the impact and level of funding.  
 
Reporting/Audit requirements  
All schools will be required to maintain a detailed record of expenditure of the 
professional learning funding (either at school at cluster level). Please note 
that a sample of expenditure reports will be subject to an audit by Welsh 
Government and/or regional consortia/local authority partnerships. A sample 
of schools will also be required to prepare a more detailed case study for 
publication on Hwb to exemplify the benefits of the professional learning 
funding and share innovative practice with other schools.  
 
The regional School Improvement Advisors, in their work alongside schools, 
will consider schools’ proposals to utilise the expenditure to ensure that 
planned spend is in line with funding principles/expectations and that the 
approach is appropriately aligned to the school improvement plan and schools 
as learning organisations approach. 
 
 
G) Remote Instruction of Language and Literacy programme 
 
Purpose 
This funding is to support further projects to enhance and improve on the 
effectiveness of the Remote Instruction of Language and Literacy programme 
(RILL).  
As part of a commitment to ongoing development of research for publication, 
the funding is to support three projects:  

i. A medium-scale roll out and evaluation of the effectiveness of 
RILL Cymraeg in schools – to understand the pedagogical 
implications of teaching language-universal skills. It will provide a 
15-week tech-based language and literacy Welsh programme which 
should lead to greater gains in reading.  It will test the effectiveness 
of RILL in improving Welsh language and reading skills and 

Tudalen 158



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

45 

examine whether targeting reading and language universal skills in 
one language also allows improvement in the other.  
 

ii. Expanding RILL to the whole-class level – to test the effects of 
complementary, whole-class instruction on all children’s literacy 
skills. It will develop whole class lessons in Welsh for Welsh schools 
and test the effectiveness of this whole class approach in 
developing key language and literacy skills, particularly vocabulary, 
versus implementation of the RILL without the whole class element.  

 
iii. Children and parents learn together – to investigate the benefits of 

providing additional instruction in the home environment. It will 
develop complementary lessons that children can complete at home 
with the caregiver.   

 
Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 
You will provide six-monthly progress reports and a full report and evaluation 
for all three projects at the end of the funding period.  
 
Payment  
A total of £290,000 will be allocated to GWE over two financial years to 
manage the projects in partnership with Bangor University.  
2022-23 - £145,000 
2023-24 - £145,000 
 
 
H) Multi-agency support approach for secondary schools in special 
measures [EAS only]  
 
This funding should be used to engage ‘programme associates’ for secondary 
schools in your region who are participating in this approach. Programme 
associates should have the necessary skills and experience to effectively 
carry out the role described in the ‘Programme associate specification’ 
produced by Welsh Government.  
 
The key features of the role include:  
· Involvement in multi-agency meetings on behalf of Welsh Government, 
providing an external perspective and advice to support schools’ 
improvement.  
 
· Providing feedback to Welsh Government on the progress and effectiveness 
of the multi-agency approach, including through attendance at steering group 
meetings and providing written reports as required 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 159



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

46 

I) Education Improvement Grant 
 
Local Authorities provide match funding to the Education Improvement Grant 
for the Schools element of the Funding. The 2022-23 level is set at the ‘match 
funding level to the EIG for Schools for 2017-18’. EIG grant includes 
foundation phase funding. 
 
 
J) Support Collaborative Working & Help Develop Capacity in Consortia 
(EAS only) 
 
Funding to provide additional resource to support collaborative working and 
help develop capacity in consortia. 
 
 
K) Building Capacity in Leadership (CSC only) 
 
Funding to provide additional resource to build capacity in leadership. 
 
 
L) Funding to Support System Preparation for International Tests 
 
Funding should be used to provide support for schools in preparing for and 
participating in international surveys taking place in 2022 and beyond.  
Support will be provided through collaborative planning, engagement of 
experienced system leaders, and development of materials and professional 
learning to support skills enhancement. 
 
All claims for funds against this line should be accompanied by a declaration 
of how much funding has been given to the various consortia over each 
quarterly period. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 160



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

47 

SCHEDULE 2 
The Targets 

 
Description of the Target Date by when it 

should be achieved? 
Evidence required 

 
Due to the volume of projects involved in 
this grant offer letter and each having 
separate targets and objectives of grant, 
this will be outlined in the purpose 
section.  
 

 
Individual target date to 
each project in 
schedule 1.  

 
Each project will have 
different approaches 
for evidencing that the 
targets have been met.  

Tudalen 161



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

48 

SCHEDULE 3 
Notification Events 

 

The Notification Events referred to in Condition 9 are listed below: 

1. repayment of any part of the Funding is required in accordance with any 
relevant legislation;   

2. you fail to comply with any of the Conditions;  

3. the Funding, in full or in part, is not being used for the Purposes; 

4. you fail to achieve any or all of the Targets; 

5. there is unsatisfactory progress towards completing the Purposes, 
including meeting the Targets; 

6. you fail to provide information about the Purposes requested by us or 
any UK subsidy enforcement body or any of its  auditors, agents or 
representatives; 

7. we have reason to believe that you and/or any of your Personnel are 
involved in fraudulent activity or have been involved in fraudulent activity 
whilst the Purposes are/were being carried out; 

8. we have made an overpayment of Funding to you; 

9. there is a duplication of funding in respect of any part of the Purposes. 
This includes but is not limited to any payments received by you in 
relation to the effects of the spread of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) from 
your insurance provider (cancellation/business disruption insurance), the 
UK Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme and/or any Welsh 
Government fund/scheme 

10. any declaration made in Condition 8 is, or proves to be, incomplete 
untrue or misleading, incorrect in any respect or, if repeated at any time 
with reference to the facts and circumstances then existing, would be 
incorrect;  

11. there has been a modification (qualification, adverse or disclaimer) to the 
auditor’s opinion on your financial statements; 

12. an event or circumstance has occurred and is outstanding which 

constitutes (or, with the expiry of a grace period, the giving of notice, the 

making of any determination or any combination thereof, would 

constitute) a default or termination event (howsoever described) under 

any other agreement or instrument which is binding on you or to which 

any of your assets is subject;  

Tudalen 162



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

49 

13. a moratorium in respect of all or any of your debts or assets or a 
composition or an agreement with your creditors is agreed, applied for, 
ordered or declared;   

14. you stop or suspend payment of any debts or are unable, or admit in 
writing your inability, to pay your debts as they fall due;  

15. the value of your assets is less than your liabilities (taking into account 
contingent and prospective liabilities); 

16. you commence negotiations, or enter into any composition, compromise, 

assignment or arrangement, with one or more of your creditors with a 

view to rescheduling any of your indebtedness (because of actual or 

anticipated financial difficulties). 

17. any action, proceedings, procedure or step is taken in relation to you in 

relation to: 

(a) the suspension of payments, a moratorium in respect of any 

indebtedness, winding up, dissolution, administration or 

reorganisation (using a voluntary arrangement, scheme of 

arrangement or otherwise); or 

(b) a composition, compromise, assignment or arrangement with any 

of your creditors; or  

(c) the appointment of a liquidator, receiver, administrative receiver, 

administrator, compulsory manager or other similar officer in 

respect of you or any of your assets. 

18. a statutory demand is issued against you;  

19. you cease, or threaten to  suspend or cease, to carry on all or a material 
part of your business;  

20. there is a change in your constitution, status, control or ownership and/or 
your external auditors resign; 

21. you fail to comply with any statutory reporting obligations which are 
applicable to you (including, but not limited to, filing requirements at 
Companies House, the Charity Commission, the Financial Conduct 
Authority); 

22. there is any change, whether permanent or temporary, in your 
shareholders, directors, trustees or partners and/or Personnel which 
may affect your ability to deliver the Purposes; 

Tudalen 163



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

50 

23. any event occurs or circumstances arise which in our opinion gives 
reasonable grounds for believing that providing the Funding and/or the 
continuation of the arrangements contemplated by this letter could bring 
us into disrepute; 

24. any event occurs or circumstances arise which in our opinion gives 
reasonable grounds for believing that you may not, or may be unable, to 
perform or comply with any of your obligations under the Conditions. 

 

Tudalen 164



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

51 

SCHEDULE 4 
Indicative Payment Profile 

(refer to Conditions 5(b), 6(a) and (b)) 
 

Period Payment 
amount  

Dates for receiving payments  

April – June 2022 10,946,822.60 July 2022 

July – September 
2022 

9,730,509 
 

October 2022 

October – December 
2022 

10,946,822.60 January 2023 

January – March 
2023 

17,028,390.80 March 2023 

Total  48,652,545  

 
*This grant will be paid in arears based on the figures above.  
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 165



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

52 

SCHEDULE 5 
Audit Certificate 

 
Statement of Expenditure 

Regional Consortia Allocation Certificate 
 

End of Year income / expenditure report 
 
a) Total grant received for 2022 - 23 £ 
 
b) Actual Expenditure £ 
 

Terms and Conditions 
reference 

 Funding Description 
Allocation  

22/23 
Expenditure 

22/23 

A - Curriculum & Assessment 
Reform 

Regional support for 
curriculum and assessment 
reform 

£1,013,239 

 

National Network schools 
engagement  

£894,035 

 

Schools curriculum and 
assessment reform, including 
learning progression                                

£1,891,181 

 

Well-being in learning   £98,344 

 

Curriculum reform professional 
learning programme 

£800,000 

 

School-led professional 
learning, enquiry and research 
to realise curriculum  

£953,637 

 

B – Professional Learning and 
Leadership 

Professional learning for 
developing practice and 
reflection (RALD/ WCLD, SLO, 
Pedagogy, Professional 
Standards) 

 £275,000  

 

Higher Level Teaching 
Assistants (HLTA) - & TALP 

       £237,500 

 

Welsh - Professional 
Development  

£804,631 

 

Tudalen 166



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

53 

A Level Improvement       £296,000  

 

All Age Schools - Support for 
Research and Collaborative 
Projects  

N/A 

 

Induction / Early Career 
support package  

£62,500 

 
Future Leadership Programme 
(Aspiring, middle leaders 
including Coaching & 
Mentoring support) 

£250,000 

 

National Professional 
Qualification for Headship 
(NPQH) 

£184,500 

 

National Welsh in Education 
Project Manager 

N/A 
 

Pedagogy research design N/A 
 

Welsh Medium Pilot - Gap 
Year project  

N/A 
 

Welsh Medium Pilot - 
Secondments project  

N/A 

 

C – Modern Foreign Languages 

Regional support for Modern 
languages  -  (Modern Foreign 
Languages (Global Futures)) 

£115,500 

 
Modern Foreign Languages – 
building capacity for MFL in 
the primary sector 

£80,761 

 

D – Other teaching and learning 
PL – Literacy and Numeracy; 

Digital 

Literacy & Numeracy Grant £125,000 

 

Primary LNF Oracy Scheme 
for Wales 

£119,205 

 

Digital Competence 
Framework 

£25,000 

 

E – Coding and Digital Skills Coding & Digital Skills £89,403 

 

F – Professional learning 
Funding 

Professional Learning funding £3,835,760 

 

Tudalen 167



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

54 

G – Remote instruction of 
Language and Literacy 

Remote instruction of 
Language and Literacy 

N/A 

 

H – Multi-Agency Support 
Approach 

Multi-agency support 
approach - (EAS) 

N/A 

 

I – Education Improvement Grant 
(EIG) 

Education Improvement Grant 
(EIG 

£36,441,349 

 

J - Support Collaborative 
Working & Help Develop 

Capacity in Consortia (EAS only) 

Support Collaborative Working 
& Help Develop Capacity in 
Consortia (EAS only) 

N/A 

 
 
 

K - Building Capacity in 
Leadership (CSC only) 

 
 

Building Capacity in 
Leadership (CSC only) 

£60,000 

 
L - Funding to Support System 

Preparation for International 
Tests 

 

Funding to Support System 
Preparation for International 
Tests 

N/A 

 

Total    £48,652,545  
*For each variation issued by Welsh Government, you will recieve an updated version of this 
certificate.  

 
Grant to be reclaimed by the Welsh Ministers (a-b) £ 

I confirm that the agreed aims and objectives have been met.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 168



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

55 

Certificate of the Chief Finance Officer 
 

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that: 

• the Information given above is correct and that all 

expenditure correctly records actual amounts incured by 

the authority in relation to the Purposes and costs 

approved by the Welsh Government as being eligible 

under the grant; 

• Activity was caried out against the agreed aims and 

objectives in accordance with the Award letter and 

associated Terms and Conditions of the grant; 

•  Systems and Controls were in place to ensure that the 

grant was used solely for the Purposes for which it was 

given, whether spent directly or passed to other 

organisations; 

• No claims have been made for other funding from the 

Welsh Government or any other body in respect of the 

expenditure shown on this statement; and  

• Monitoring arrangements were in place to ensure that 

implementation progressed as recorded on any agreed 

Delivery plan.   

I have attached a qualification report outlining why I am unable to 
certify the above.  

 

 
Signature: .............................................................................. 
 
Date: ...................................................................................... 
 
Position: Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 

 
COMPLETE AND RETURN BY 30 SEPTEMBER 2023 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Tudalen 169



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

56 

SCHEDULE 6 
 

Requirements of the UK GDPR 
 

Part 1 
 

 
Carrying out the Purposes will require the processing of personal data on our 
behalf. We will be the Data Controller and the table below provides details of 
the permitted processing to be undertaken in carrying out the Purposes.  
 
You must comply with any further written instructions from us in respect of 
processing on our behalf. Any such further instructions shall be incorporated 
into the table: 
 
 

Description Detail 

Legal Basis for Processing GDPR Article 6(e) 
Processing is necessary for the 
performance of a task carried out in 
the public interest  
 

Subject Matter Of  The Processing  
 
In accordance to Schedule 1 of this 
Grant Offer Letter, the purpose listed 
for National Professional 
Qualification for Headship (NPQH) 
will require the regions to provide 
personal data to WG.  The personal 
data collected and process will be of 
individuals who qualify for the 
programme and in order for WG to 
issue certification to them. 
 

Duration of the Processing  
The duration of the process will be for 
the time necessary for the production 
and awarding  of the certification for 
length of time this grant offer letters 
covers 
 

Location of Processing 
 

 
The data must be processed within 
the UK 
 

Nature of the Processing National Professional Qualification 
for Headship (NPQH) 

Tudalen 170



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

57 

The nature of the processing is to 
enable WG as the ‘Awarding Body’ to 
moderate, produce and issue 
certificates to eligible individuals who 
participate on the NPGH Programme. 
 
  

Purposes of the Processing National Professional Qualification 
for Headship (NPQH) 
 
The purpose of the processing will 
support WG in their commitment to the 
new Professional Standards for 
Teaching and Leadership and Our 
National Mission 
 
This is achieved in their administrative 
role as the ‘Awarding Body’, to 
monitor, produce and issue certificates 
to eligible individuals who participate 
on the NPGH Programme. 
  

Type of Personal Data to be 
Processed 

 
Personal Data of individual who 
participated on the NPQH 
Programme, being collected and 
processed to include:  

▪ Full Name,  
▪ email address – personal and 

school 
▪ Teacher Reference Number  
▪ Current Job title  
▪ Assessment Language, Local 

Authority , Consortia 
▪ School Name and Address  
▪ Sector  

 

Categories of Data Subjects  
Personal Data of Teachers / Head 
teachers 
 

Plan for the return and/or 
destruction of the data once the 
processing is complete UNLESS 
requirement under union or 
member state law to preserve that 
type of data 

 
WG will retain the personal data 
required for the certification on 
National Professional Qualification for 
Headship (NPQH) programme for 3 
years, after which time the data will be 
destroyed 

Tudalen 171



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

58 

 
Part 2  

 
1. The definitions set out below for the following terms shall be used in this UK GDPR 
Schedule: 

 

Data Security Event means any event that results or may result in 
unauthorised access to Personal Data held by you  
under the Award of Funding , and/or actual or potential 
loss and/or destruction of Personal Data in breach of 
this Award of Funding including any Personal Data 
Breach (as defined in the UK GDPR); 
 

Data Protection Impact 
Assessment 

means an assessment by the Controller of the impact of 
the envisaged Processing on the protection of Personal 
Data; 
 

Data Protection Legislation  all applicable data protection and privacy legislation in 

force from time to time in the UK including without 

limitation the UK GDPR; the DPA  2018 (and regulations 

made thereunder);  the Privacy and Electronic 

Communications Regulations 2003 (SI 2003/2426) as 

amended; and the guidance and codes of practice 

issued by the Commissioner and which are applicable to 

a party; 

Data Subject Access Request means a request made by or on behalf of a Data 
Subject in accordance with rights granted pursuant to 
the Data Protection Legislation to access their Personal 
Data; 
 

DPA 2018 means the Data Protection Act 2018; 
 

UK GDPR means the Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the 
protection of natural persons with regard to the 
processing of personal data and on the free movement 
of such data as it forms part of the law of England and 
Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland by virtue of 
section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act of 
2018; 
 
  

Law means:  
 
(a) any applicable statute or proclamation or any 

delegated or subordinate legislation; 
 

 
(b) any applicable guidance, code of practice, direction 

or determination with which we  and/or you are  
bound to comply to the extent that the same are 

Tudalen 172



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

59 

published and publicly available or the existence or 
contents of them have been notified to you  by us ; 
and 

 
(c) any applicable judgment or order of a relevant court 

of law which is a binding precedent in England and 
Wales, 

 
in each case in force or applicable in both England and 
Wales, or in Wales only; 
 

Party means us or you, together ‘the Parties’; 

Protective Measures means appropriate technical and organisational 
measures which may include pseudonymising and 
encrypting Personal Data, ensuring confidentiality, 
integrity, availability and resilience of systems and 
services, ensuring that availability of and access to 
Personal Data can be restored in a timely manner after 
an incident and regularly assessing and evaluating the 
effectiveness of the measures adopted by it; 
  

Sub-Processor means any third party appointed to Process Personal 
Data on your behalf in relation to the  Award of Funding; 
 

Business Days  means a day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, 
Christmas Day, Good Friday or a bank holiday in Wales 
under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971. 
 

 
 

 
2. PROTECTION OF PERSONAL DATA 

 

2.1 In this UK GDPR Schedule the following terms shall have the meaning given 

to them in the UK GDPR: Controller, Processor, Data Subject, Personal Data, 

Process, Personal Data Breach, Data Protection Officer.  

 

2.2 The Parties acknowledge that for the purposes of the Data Protection 

Legislation we are the Controller and you are the Processor.  

  

2.3 Unless otherwise required to do so by Law (in which case you shall inform us 

of that legal requirement before Processing, unless law prohibits such 

information on important grounds of public interest), the only Processing of 

Personal Data you are authorised to do is described in this UK GDPR Schedule 

or is the subject of prior written approval by us and may not be determined by 

you. You will not process the Personal Data for any other purpose or in a way 

that does not comply with this Award of Funding or the Data Protection 

Legislation. You must comply promptly with our written instructions requiring you 

Tudalen 173



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

60 

to amend, transfer, delete or otherwise process the Personal Data, or to stop, 

mitigate or remedy any unauthorised processing. 

 

2.4 You must notify us immediately if you consider that any of our instructions 

infringe the Data Protection Legislation.  

 

2.5 You must provide all reasonable assistance to us in any on-going Data 

Protection Impact Assessment prior to and after commencing any Processing. 

Such assistance may, at our discretion, include:  

 

2.5.1 a systematic description of the envisaged Processing 

operations and the purpose of the Processing;  

 

2.5.2 an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the 

Processing operations in relation to the Purposes; 

  

2.5.3 an assessment of the risks to the rights and freedoms of Data 

Subjects; and 

  

2.5.4 a systematic description of the measures envisaged to address 

the risks, including safeguards, security measures and mechanisms 

to ensure the protection of Personal Data.  

 

2.6 You must in relation to any Personal Data Processed in connection with your 

obligations under the Award of Funding:  

 

2.6.1 process that Personal Data only in accordance with Condition 

2.3 of this UK GDPR Schedule, unless you are required to do 

otherwise by Law. If you are so required you must promptly notify 

us before Processing the Personal Data unless prohibited by Law; 

   

2.6.2 ensure that you have in place Protective Measures, which 

have been reviewed and approved by us as appropriate, to protect 

against a Data Security Event having taken account of the:  

 

(i) nature of the data to be protected; 

(ii) harm that might result from a Data Security Event; 

(iii) state of technological development; and   

(iv) cost of implementing any measures; 

 

2.6.3 you must, where you are required under the Award of Funding 

to notify Data Subjects of the purpose and detail of the Processing 

to be undertaken, cooperate with us to agree an appropriate notice 

which complies with the Data Protection Legislation. The notice 

Tudalen 174



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

61 

must have our prior written approval. You must not modify or alter 

the notice in any way without our prior written consent;  

 

2.6.4 ensure that your Personnel do not Process Personal Data 

except in accordance with the Award of Funding; 

 

2.6.5 ensure that you take all reasonable steps to ensure the 

reliability and integrity of any of your Personnel who have access to 

the Personal Data and ensure that they:  

 

(i) are aware of and comply with your obligations under the 

Conditions;  

(ii) are subject to appropriate confidentiality undertakings with 

you or any Sub-Processor; 

(iii) are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal 

Data and do not publish, disclose or divulge any of the 

Personal Data to any third party unless directed in writing to 

do so by us  or as otherwise permitted by the Award of 

Funding; and  

(iv) have undergone adequate training in the use, care, 

protection and handling of Personal Data;  

 

2.6.6 not transfer Personal Data outside the UK unless our prior 

written consent has been obtained or Article 28(3)(a) of the UK 

GDPR applies. 

 

2.6.7 At our written direction, delete or return Personal Data (and 

any copies of it) to us on expiry of the Award of Funding unless you 

are required by Law to retain the Personal Data. 

 

2.7 Subject to Condition 2.8, you must notify us immediately if in connection with 

the Award of Funding you:  

 

2.7.1 receive a Data Subject Access Request (or purported Data 

Subject Access Request);  

 

2.7.2 receive a request to rectify, block processing or erase any 

Personal Data;  

 

2.7.3 receive any other request, complaint or communication 

relating to either Party’s obligations under the Data Protection 

Legislation; 

 

Tudalen 175



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

62 

2.7.4 receive any communication from the Information 

Commissioner or any other regulatory authority in connection with 

Personal Data Processed under the Award of Funding; 

 

2.7.5 receive a request from any third party for disclosure of 

Personal Data where compliance with such request is required or 

purported to be required by Law; or 

 

2.7.6 become aware of a Data Security Event. 

 

2.8 Your obligation to notify under Condition 2.7 of this UK GDPR Schedule 

includes the provision of further information to us in phases without undue delay 

as details become available. 

 

2.9 Taking into account the nature of the Processing, you must provide us with 

full assistance in relation to either Party’s obligations under Data Protection 

Legislation and any complaint, communication or request made under Condition 

2.7 of this UK GDPR Schedule (and insofar as possible within the timescales 

reasonably required by us) including by promptly providing us with:  

 

2.9.1 full details and copies of the complaint, communication or 

request; 

 

2.9.2 such assistance as we may reasonably request to enable us  

to comply with a Data Subject Access Request within the relevant 

timescales set out in the Data Protection Legislation; 

 

2.9.3 at our request, any Personal Data you hold in relation to a 

Data Subject; 

 

2.9.4 assistance as we may reasonably request following any Data 

Security Event;  

 

2.9.5 assistance as we may reasonably request with respect to any 

request from the Information Commissioner’s Office or any 

consultation by us with the Information Commissioner’s Office. 

 

2.10 You must maintain complete and accurate records and information to 

demonstrate your compliance with this Condition 2 of this UK GDPR Schedule. 

This requirement does not apply where you employ fewer than 250 staff unless:  

 

2.10.1 we determine that the Processing is not occasional; or 

 

2.10.2 we  determine the Processing includes special categories of 

data as referred to in Article 9(1) of the UK GDPR or Personal Data 

Tudalen 176



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

63 

relating to criminal convictions and offences referred to in Articles 

10 of the UK GDPR; or  

 

2.10.3 we determine that the Processing is likely to result in a risk 

to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects. 

 

2.11 You must allow for audits of your Data Processing activity by us or our 

designated auditor.  

 

2.12 You must designate a data protection officer if required by the Data 

Protection Legislation.  

 

2.13 Before allowing any Sub-Processor to Process any Personal Data related to 

the Award of Funding you must:  

 

2.13.1 notify us in writing of the intended Sub-Processor and 

Processing; 

 

2.13.2 obtain our prior written consent; 

 

2.13.2 enter into a written agreement with the Sub-Processor which 

gives effect to the terms set out in this Condition 2 of this UK GDPR 

Schedule  such that they apply to the Sub-Processor; and  

 

2.13.3 provide us with such information regarding the Sub-

Processor as we may reasonably require. 

 

2.14 You shall remain fully liable for all acts or omissions of any Sub-Processor.  

 

2.15 We may at any time on not less than 30 Business Days’ notice revise this 

Condition 2 of this UK GDPR Schedule 6 by replacing it with any applicable 

controller to processor standard clauses or similar terms forming part of an 

applicable certification scheme (which shall apply when incorporated by 

attachment to the Award of Funding).  

 

2.16 The Parties agree to take account of any guidance issued by the 

Information Commissioner’s Office and other guidance where relevant.  We 

may on not less than 30 Business Days’ notice to you amend the Award of 

Funding to ensure that it complies with any guidance issued by the 

Information Commissioner’s Office.  

 

2.17 For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the Award of Funding shall relieve 

you of your own direct responsibilities and liabilities under the Data 

Protection Legislation.  

 

Tudalen 177



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

64 

2.18 You agree to indemnify and keep us indemnified against all claims and 

proceedings and all liability, loss, costs and expenses incurred in connection 

therewith by us  as a result of any claim made or brought by any individual or 

other legal person in respect of any loss, damage or distress caused to that 

individual or other legal person as a result of your  unauthorised processing, 

unlawful processing, destruction of and/or damage to any Personal Data 

process by you, your  employees or agents in your  performance of the 

Award of Funding or as otherwise agreed between the Parties.  

 

2.19 The provisions of this Condition 2 of this UK GDPR Schedule shall apply 

during the continuance of the Award of Funding and indefinitely after its 

expiry. 

 

Tudalen 178



 

 

 
Grants Centre of Excellence  
Standard Grant Letter inc Conditions 
In arrears  
Version 13.0 – July 2021 
For review on or before 01 June 2022 

 

65 

TWO SIGNATORIES ARE REQUIRED 

 
We declare we are duly authorised to accept the award of Funding in relation 
to Regional Consortia School improvement Grant 2022-2023 and the 
Conditions relating to the Funding.  
 
 
______________________________________ Signature 
An authorised signatory of Central South Consortium 

 

 
 
______________________________________ Name  
 
 
______________________________________ Job Title 
 
 
______________________________________ Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ Signature 
An authorised signatory of Central South Consortium 

 
 
______________________________________ Name  
 
 
______________________________________ Job Title 
 
 
______________________________________ Date 
 
 

Tudalen 179



Tudalen wag



 1 

 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM 
 

JOINT COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

7TH JUNE 2022 

 

 
CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM 2022/23 GRANTS 

  
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS OF EDUCATION  
 
Author: Louise Blatchford, Deputy Managing Director 
  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide Members with an update on the grants to be received by the 

Consortium in 2022/23, for which notifications have been received, and 
the methods of allocation of each. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Directors recommend the following to the Joint Committee: 
 
2.1 Approve the distribution of grant as detailed in section 5 of this report. 

 
 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 As host authority Rhondda Cynon Taf will act as ‘banker authority’ and 

under the terms of the grant agreements will be responsible for accepting 
the terms and conditions of grant and putting in place arrangements to 
distribute the funding, as determined by the Joint Committee, within the 
Consortium.  

 
 
4.0 METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT 
 
4.1 The method of apportionment of each grant will vary depending on its 

nature, its intended recipients, its purposes and the associated terms and 
conditions. 

Tudalen 181

Agendwm 9



 2 

 
4.2 For each grant the following process shall be adopted: 
 

• The Consortium shall prepare a proposed method of distribution 
taking into account all relevant criteria. 

• The Director of Education (or equivalent) of each authority shall 
approve the basis of apportionment at the Executive Board of the 
Central South Consortium Joint Education Service. This will ensure 
appropriate and effective use of grant funding to target school 
improvement equitably across each of the five local authority areas. 

• A report detailing the basis and reasons for the method adopted shall 
be presented to the Joint Committee for approval. 

 
4.3 This report presents details of 2022/23 grants to the Joint Committee.  
 
 
5.0 2022/23 GRANTS 
 
5.1 Grant approval letters have been received detailing grant levels for the 

Central South Consortium. The Directors have agreed to maintain the 
local authority dis-aggregation of the funding and to apply a common 
formula for the delegation of the local authority funding to schools. 

 
5.2 Siarter Iaith 2022/23   
 
5.2.1  The total grant in 2022/23 is £77,800. 
 
5.2.2 The aim of the funding is to support the priority area of increasing pupils’ 

informal use of the Welsh language by delivering the Siarter Iaith and its 
associated programmes.   

 
5.2.4 The funding is to be retained by the consortium to fund direct staffing 

costs incurred in delivering the programme. 

Tudalen 182



 3 

 

T
udalen 183



T
udalen w

ag



 
 Mr Barrie Davies Department Officer 151 Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council, The Pavilions, Clydach Vale, Tonypandy CF40 2XX 
March 2022  
Dear friend  
Award of Funding in respect of Informal Use of Welsh Program (3-18 years)  
1. Award of Funding  
 
(a) It is a pleasure to inform you that you have been awarded funding of up to 
£77,800.00 (seventy-seven thousand eight hundred pounds) ("the Funding") for the 
Purposes (as defined in Condition 4 (a)).  
(b) The Funding covers the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 and must be fully 
claimed by 31 March 2023. Otherwise any part of the unclaimed Funding will not be 
available to you after this date.  
(c) This letter will be effective from the date of the signature signifying your acceptance 
as set out on the admission page below.  
(d) If you have any questions regarding the award of this Funding or the Conditions, 
please contact the Welsh Government Officer who will be happy to assist.  
 
2. Managing Subsidies  
 
(a) This Funding judgment is made on and subject to the Conditions, and under the 
Minister for Education and Welsh Language, one of the Welsh Ministers, acting in 
accordance with sections 10 of the Education Act 1996, 61 (k), 70 and 71 (1) of the 
Government of Wales Act 2006.  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 2 
 

Tudalen 185



 
3. Interpretation of these Conditions  
 
Any reference in these Conditions to:  
'You', 'your' is a reference to  
Central South Consortium  
Valleys Enterprise Centre  
Navigation Park  
Mountain Ash  
Abercynon  
CF45 4SN  
‘We’, ‘our’ refer to the Welsh Ministers;  
'Welsh Government Officer' refers to  
Anna Miller  
Welsh Language Division  
Welsh Government  
Cathays Park  
Cardiff  
CF10 3NQ  
Phone: 03000 258378  
Email: anna.miller@llyw.cymru  
or any other Welsh Government official notified by us.  
'Project Manager' refers to your project manager responsible for the day-to-day 
management of this Finance award:  
Bethan Davies / Christopher Newcombe  
Central South Consortium  
Valleys Enterprise Centre  
Navigation Park  
Mountain Ash  
Abercynon  
CF45 4SN  
Phone: 01443 281411  
Email: bethan.davies2@cscjes.org.uk  
'Assurance statement' refers to the Statement of Assurance: anti-fraud and 
governance procedures set out in Schedule 6; Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard 
Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 3 

 

Tudalen 186



'Business Day' refers to a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, Christmas day, Good 
Friday or a bank holiday in Wales under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971;  
'Conditions' refers to the terms and conditions set out in this letter and in the 
Schedules;  
'Costs incurred' refers to the cost of the goods and / or services you have received 
irrespective of whether you have paid for them by the date of your claim;  
'Costs incurred and paid' refers to the cost on invoice for the goods and / or services 
which you have received and paid for by you in cash cleared by the date of your claim;  
'Notifiable Event' refers to any event listed in Schedule 3;  
'Indicative Payments Profile' refers to the indicative payments profile specified in 
Schedule 4;  
'Personnel' refers to your managers / employees and suppliers or any other person 
appointed or employed by you in relation to the Purposes;  
'Schedule' refers to the schedules attached to this letter;  
any reference to legislation whether domestic or international law shall include all 
amendments and substitutions and re-enactments of such legislation in force from time 
to time.  
4. What you have to use the Funding for  
(a) You must use the Finance for those purposes only, specified in Schedule 1 (the 
"Purposes").  

(b) You must achieve the targets and outcomes set out in Schedule 2 (the "Targets").  

(c) If any changes need to be made to the Purposes or Targets, you will need to obtain 
our written consent before implementing these changes. Please note that we do not 
have to give permission, but we will consider all reasonable written requests.  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 4 
 

Tudalen 187



 
(d) You may not use any part of the Funding for any kind of activity that we consider may 
bring us into disrepute, including but not limited to (1) the purposes of party politics, (2) 
the promotion of secular views , religious or political particular, (3) gambling, (4) 
pornography, (5) offering sexual services, or (6) any type of illegal activities.  
(e) You may not use any part of the Funding for: (1) purchase of capital equipment 
(other than as specified in the Purposes), (2) your legal fees in connection with this 
letter, (3) Costs incurred or Costs incurred and paid by you in carrying out the Purposes 
before the period referred to in Condition 1 (b).  
 
5. Funding Preconditions  
(a) We will not pay you any part of the Funding until you have provided us with the 
following information and documents:  
 
i) this letter signed by you;  

ii) documentary evidence that you have put in place all the staff and other resources 
detailed in the Application as required to begin and complete the Purposes;  

iii) the completed Statement of Assurance;  
(b) Where you are required to provide us with information and documents as evidence 
that you have satisfied a pre-condition, or a specific Condition or to support a claim, the 
information and documents must be acceptable to us in all respects. We reserve the 
right to reject any information and documents which we do not accept for any reason, 
and / or to request any further or additional information and / or documents in support of 
the Funding application.  
 
6. How to claim the Funding  
(a) You may claim the Finance in arrears as specified in the Indicative Payment Profile.  
 
You must claim the Funding in accordance with the dates specified in the Indicative 
Payment Profile. You must claim the Finance promptly. We reserve the right to withdraw 
any portion of the Funding which you have not promptly claimed.  
(b) You must submit your claims for payment of the Funding to the Welsh Government 
Officer.  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 5 
 

Tudalen 188



 
(c) You must use our current claim form (available from the Welsh Government Officer) 
and attach the information and documents specified in the Indicative Payment Profile 
along with the following:  
i) confirmation that you are acting in all respects in accordance with your constitution;  
ii) confirmation that you have the appropriate financial, risk and control systems in place 
before using any part of the Funding to provide a grant or to procure any goods or 
services from third parties;  
(e) We will aim to pay all valid claims as soon as possible and usually within 20 business 
days of receiving a valid claim made in accordance with the provisions of this letter, and 
always as long as the pre-conditions of the Funding set out in Condition 5 above have 
been met and, at the date of the claim and the date of payment of the Funding to you:  
 
i) the statements made in Condition 8 below are true and correct and will be true and 
correct immediately upon payment to you of the relevant Funding; and  
i) there is no Notifiable Event going on or there is no possibility of a Notifiable Event 
arising from the proposed Funding.  
7. Your general obligations to us  
 
You have to:  
(a) protect the Finance from fraud generally and, in particular, fraud on the part of your 
Personnel, and you must inform us immediately if you have reason to suspect that fraud 
has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur in your organization, whether or not it 
relates to the Finance. You must also participate in such fraud prevention initiatives as 
we may from time to time require:  
(b) maintain proper procedures for dealing with any conflicts of interest in relation to the 
Funding, whether actual, potential or perceived; 
(c) comply with all applicable domestic or international laws and regulations, and official 
directives;  
(d) to arrange and continue to maintain adequate insurance cover for the risks that may 
arise in connection with any property or activity carried out in carrying out the Purposes. 
We reserve the right to require you to produce evidence of your insurance;  
(e) establish and maintain proper financial, risk and control systems before using any 
part of the Funding to provide grant or acquire any goods or services from third parties;  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 6 
 

Tudalen 189



 
(f) co-operate fully with the Welsh Government Officer and any other Welsh Government 
employee or any consultant appointed by us to monitor your use of the Funding and 
your compliance with these Conditions;  
 
(g) inform us immediately if any statement made in Condition 8 is in any way incorrect 
or, at any time repeated with reference to the facts and circumstances then prevailing, 
wrong;  
(h) inform us of any funding you have received from any source that is procured or used 
in conjunction with the Funding to directly support the Purposes, including but not limited 
to your insurance provider (business cancellation / disruption insurance), the UK 
Government Coronavirus Vacancy Retention Scheme and / or any other Welsh 
Government fund / scheme and other funders. This Condition is intended to avoid 
duplicate funding in relation to the Purposes.  
 
8. Statements  
 
You state:  
(a) you have the power to undertake and fulfil the obligations set out in these Conditions, 
and you have taken all necessary steps to authorize the undertaking and performance of 
the obligations under these Conditions;  

(b) any limitation on your powers is not exceeded as a result of claiming the Funding, or 
as a result of providing any assurances contemplated by the Conditions;  

Tudalen 190



(c) undertaking, undertaking by you or the transactions contemplated by this letter does 
not and will not conflict with the following:  
 
i) your constitutional documents;  
ii) any agreement or instrument that is binding on you or your assets or constitutes a 
default or termination event (however described) under any such agreement or 
instrument; or  
iii) any judicial or official law or regulation or order, which applies to you;  
(d) no Notifiable Event is taking place or a Notifiable Event is not reasonably expected to 
result from  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 7 
 

Tudalen 191



 
provide the Funding and there is no event or other circumstance that is current that 
constitutes (or would, at the expiration of the grace period, give notice, make any 
decision or any combination of these things) a default or termination event (however 
described) under any agreement or other instrument which is binding on you or to which 
any or more of your assets are subject to it;  
(g) no litigation or arbitration or administrative proceedings are pending or threatened to 
the best of your knowledge, which are, or could have, an adverse effect on your ability to 
carry out and comply with any of these Conditions;  
(f) we have fully disclosed to us all relevant facts or circumstances which require 
disclosure to ensure that we can obtain a true and accurate view of your business and 
your activity (current and proposed), or it should be provided to any person who is 
considering providing you with funding;  
(g) any information, in written or electronic form, provided by you to us in connection with 
the Finance, at the time it was provided or the date on which it was provided (as the 
case may be):  
 
i) in the case of factual information, complete, true and accurate in all material respects;  
ii) in the case of a financial projection, prepared on the basis of recent historical 
information and on the basis of reasonable assumptions and after careful consideration;  
iii) in the case of opinion or intent, made on a reasonable basis and after careful 
consideration and fairness; and  
iv) such information is not misleading in any material respect, nor is it misleading by a 
failure to disclose other information,  
except to the extent that it has been amended, superseded or updated by later 
information that you have provided to us.  
(h) you have discussed and agreed the Targets with us, and are confident that they are 
realistic and achievable;  

(i) there are no real, potential or perceived conflicts of interest in relation to the Funding; 

(j) acceptance of this award of Finance shall not result in duplicate funding in respect of 
the activities necessary to fulfil the Purposes.This includes but is not limited to any 
payments you have received in respect of the effects of the spread of the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) from your insurance provider  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 8 
 

Tudalen 192



 
(business cancellation / disruption insurance), the UK Government Coronavirus Vacancy 
Retention Scheme and / or any other Welsh Government fund / scheme and other 
funders.  
(k) You will be deemed to have repeated the statements in this Condition 8 on each date 
when you may have an obligation to repay us the Revenue award, and by reference to 
the facts and circumstances prevailing at such date.  
(l) the information contained in the Statement of Assurance is complete, true and 
accurate.  
 
9. Notifiable Events and their consequences  
(a) You must notify us immediately of any Notifiable Event that has occurred or is likely 
to occur but we also reserve the right to notify you when we consider that a Notifiable 
Event has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur;  

(b) We will either  
i) inform you that we consider, in our absolute discretion, that the Notifiable Event cannot 
be remedied; or  
ii) if we consider at our absolute discretion that the Notifiable Event is justifiable, seek to 
discuss the Notifiable Event with you with a view to agreeing actions to address the 
Notifiable Event.  
(c) We may take any of the steps listed in Condition 9(d):  
i) if we have not, despite our efforts, been able to discuss the Notifiable Event with you; 
or  

ii) if we inform you that in our opinion the Notifiable Event cannot be remedied; or  

iii) if actions to address and / or remedy the Notifiable Event are not agreed with you; or  

iv) if actions to address and / or remedy the Notifiable Event are agreed with you and 
you then fail to follow through, or if any condition relating to the actions (including, 
without limitation, the timetable for such actions) in a way that is to our liking; or  

v) if the course of action fails to rectify the Notifiable Event in a way that is to our liking.  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 9 
 

Tudalen 193



 
(d) In the event of any of the circumstances specified in Condition 9 (c) we may inform 
you, in our absolute discretion, that we are acting as follows:  
i) withdraw the Finance award; and / or  

ii) require repayment of all or part of the Funding; and / or  

iii) suspend or finalize all further payments of the Funding; and / or  

iv) make all further payments of the Funding subject to such conditions as we may 
determine; and / or  

v) withdraw all amounts due to us under these Conditions from any other funding that we 
have or may have allocated to you; and / or  

vi) exercise against you any other rights we may have with respect to the Funding.  
(e) All Funding repayments must be made within 20 Business Days of the date of our 
order.  
 
10. Monitoring requirements  
You have to:  
(a) provide us with such documents, information and reports as we may from time to 
time reasonably request, so that we may monitor your compliance with the Conditions 
including:  
 
i. quarterly target reports  
ii. quarterly financial report  
(b) meet with the Welsh Government Officer and such other representatives as we may 
reasonably request from time to time to meet with you; including:  
i. quarterly monitoring meetings  
 
(c) ensure that the Project Manager (or such other person as may be agreed by us) and 
any other person required by us are present at all meetings with the Welsh Government 
Officer.  
 
11. Audit Requirements  
 
(a) You have to:  
i) maintain complete, accurate and valid accounting records which record all income and 
expenditure in relation to the Purposes;  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 10 
 

Tudalen 194



 
ii) without charge, allow any officer or officers of the Welsh Government, the Wales Audit 
Office or any UK subsidy enforcement body, at any reasonable time and after you have 
received reasonable notice (in exceptional circumstances, such as suspension or detect 
fraud, it may not be practicable to give you reasonable notice), visit your premises and / 
or inspect any or all of your activities and / or inspect and make copies of your books of 
account and whatever documents or other records, however kept, which may, in the 
officer's reasonable opinion, relate in any way to your use of the Funding. This 
undertaking does not diminish the effect of any other statutory rights and powers 
exercisable by the Welsh Government, the Wales Audit Office or any UK subsidy 
enforcement body, or any officer, servant or agent of any of the above , and the 
undertaking is subject to such statutory rights and powers;  
iii) retain this letter and all original documentation relating to the Finance until we have 
informed you in writing that it is safe to destroy them;  
 
(b) Under paragraph 17 of Schedule 8 to the Government of Wales Act 2006 the Auditor 
General for Wales has extensive rights of access to documents and information relating 
to funds provided by the Welsh Government. He and his officials have the power to 
require relevant persons, who manage or hold documents, to provide whatever 
assistance, information and explanations they require; and requiring those persons to 
appear before them for such a purpose. The Auditor General and his staff may exercise 
this right at any reasonable time.  
 
12. Obligations to third parties  
(a) Nothing in these Conditions imposes any obligation on us in respect of any obligation 
you owe to any third party (including, without limitation, employees and contractors).  

(b) You must indemnify us from any liabilities, claims, lawsuits, demands for payment, 
losses, costs and expenses, which we have suffered or incurred directly or indirectly, as 
a result of or in connection with any failure on your part to fulfil, in whole or in part, any 
obligation you may have to a third party.  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 11 
 

Tudalen 195



 
13. Intellectual property rights and publicity  
(a) Nothing in these Conditions transfers to us any rights in intellectual property created 
by you as a result of the Purposes.  

Tudalen 196



(b) You must acknowledge the assistance you receive from us in connection with the 
Purposes. That acknowledgment must be in a form approved by us, and must comply 
with Welsh Government branding guidelines.  

Tudalen 197



(c) You must provide the Welsh Government Officer with details of all approvals listed in 
Condition 13(b) for approval by us before using such material and you may not use such 
details without our written approval in advance. We will aim to respond to all written 
requests within 5 Business Days.  

Tudalen 198



(d) You agree that from the date of this letter up to 5 years from the date of the last 
payment of the Funding, we may include details of your organization and business, and 
the Finance and Purposes in promotional materials for the Welsh Government, and you 
further agree to co-operate with reasonable requests from us for the purpose of 
preparing such materials.  
 
14. Information  
(a) You acknowledge that we are subject to the requirements of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (the "FOIA"), the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (the 
"EIR"), the Data Protection Act 2018 (the "DPA") and the EU version of law targeted 
from the General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) ("UK GDPR").  

(b) You acknowledge that we are responsible for deciding in our absolute discretion 
whether to:  
(i) disclose any information we have obtained under or in connection with the Finance, to 
the extent that we are required to disclose such information to a person applying for a 
disclosure under the FOIA or the EIR; and/or  

(ii) exempt any information from disclosure requirements under the FOIA or the EIR.  
(c) You acknowledge that we may share any data you provide to us with anti-fraud agencies and 

third parties for fraud prevention and detection purposes.Any personal data collected by us is 

controlled in accordance with our Privacy Notice displayed here Privacy notice: Welsh 

Government grants | https://gov.wales/ 
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 12 
 

Tudalen 199



 
(d) You should refer to Schedule 7 which provides details of your obligations in relation 
to the UK GDPR.  
 
15. Buying goods and services  
(a) If you decide to purchase any goods and / or services to fulfil the Purposes, they 
must be purchased competitively and sustainably to show that you have (i) achieved the 
best value in the use of public funds, and (ii) comply with your conflict of interest policy at 
the relevant time.  
(b) From time to time, we may ask for evidence from you to demonstrate that you are 
complying with this Condition 15. Such evidence could be in the form of evidence that 
you:  
 
) comply with any procurement regulations, legislation or guidelines in force from time to 
time which you, or any person conducting business or a function of the same nature to 
yourself or similar, is subject to to them; or  
ii) comply with your procurement policy in force at the relevant time; or  
iii) have received at least three written quotations for the relevant goods and/or services.  
You must provide such evidence to us promptly after our written request for such 
evidence.  
16. Notice  
 
(a) All notices given under these Conditions must be in writing (this does not include 
email, but may include a letter attached to an email) and must prominently display the 
following heading:  
 
"Notice of Informal Use of Welsh Program (3-18 years)" 
(b) The address and contact details for the purpose of service of a notice under these 
Conditions are as follows  
 
You: the Project Manager at the address specified in Condition 3. Grants Centre of 
Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - 
July 2021 reviewed before or on 01 June 2022 13 

 

Tudalen 200



Us: the Welsh Government Officer at the address specified in Condition 3.  
(c) A notice shall be deemed to have been duly served as follows: -  
 
Prepaid first class mail: on the second Business Day after the posting date.  
By hand: at the time it is sent to the address, or the next Business Day if it arrives after 
4pm or on a weekend or public holiday.  
By email attachment: at the time it is sent, or the next Business Day if sent after 4pm or 
on a weekend or public holiday.  
17. Equality  
 
You must have equality policies in place regarding employment, use of volunteers and 
service delivery, in accordance with the Equality Act 2010.  
18. The Welsh Language  
(a) The Welsh Government is committed to supporting the Welsh language and its 
culture and the 2050 Welsh language strategy: A million Welsh speakers provides a 
vision for growing and further developing the Welsh language.  
(b) Where the Purposes include or relate to the provision of services in Wales, they must 
be provided in Welsh and English unless it is unreasonable or disproportionate to do so. 
They must be provided in a way that does not treat the Welsh language less favourably 
than English, in accordance with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  
(c) Where the provision of services forms part of the Purposes, you must act in 
accordance with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the Wales 2050 
objectives. In practice, this will include the following:  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 14 
 

Tudalen 201



 
i) Ensure that any written material produced, including digital material, is bilingual.  
ii) Ensure that any signs are bilingual.  
iii) Ensure that any training or public events are held bilingually.  
iv) Actively promote and facilitate the Welsh language (including providing services and 
increasing opportunities to use Welsh) within funded activities.  
(d) For general advice on providing services bilingually and for information on 
organizations that can help you, please contact “Helo Blod”, a Welsh language advice 
service, by phoning 03000 258888 or emailing heloblod@llyw.cymru  
 
19. Sustainable development  
 
How you use the Funding must contribute to the Welsh Government's well-being 
objectives set out in the Welsh Government's Program for Government. You must work 
in a sustainable way (the sustainable development principle) in delivering the Purposes 
to ensure that you work in a preventative, integrated, long-term and collaborative way 
that includes people who reflect the diversity of Wales. See Schedule 1 for more 
information.  
20. Functions of the Welsh Ministers  
 
You acknowledge that the Welsh Ministers have a range of functions that will continue to 
accrue and be amended, and that the Welsh Ministers must make decisions on each 
individual function in the light of all material considerations, excluding all irrelevant 
considerations. You agree that nothing contained or implied in, or arising out of or in 
connection with, these Conditions shall in any way prejudice, impede, or affect the 
functions of the Welsh Ministers or any of them, or bind the Welsh Ministers, or any of 
them to exercise, or refrain from exercising, their functions in any particular way.  
21. In General  

(a) Should, at any time, any of these Conditions become, or be considered invalid, 
unlawful or unenforceable  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 15 
 

Tudalen 202



 
in any way under any law, in no way shall it be affected or interfered with on the validity, 
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions.  
(b) Failure or delay on our part to exercise any power, right or remedy under these 
Conditions shall not act as a waiver of, or prevent us from, the exercise of such power, 
right or remedy or further remedy, or exercise any other power, right or remedy. The 
powers, rights or remedies hereby provided are cumulative, and do not exclude any 
powers, rights or remedies provided by law.  
(c) Any amendment or variation to these Conditions must be in writing and signed by us 
and you, in the same manner as this letter (or as otherwise agreed in writing by us from 
time to time  
(d) You may not assign, or otherwise dispose of, your rights, benefits, obligations or 
duties under these Conditions.  
(e) Conditions 7, 9, 11, 13, 14, and 21 (e), and such other Conditions which, by 
implication, need to continue beyond the final payment of the Funding, shall remain so in 
their full force and effect.  
(f) The Funding award is made solely to you and no other person is entitled to make any 
claim in respect of, or to rely upon or enforce any of these Conditions.  
(g) In circumstances where you include two or more persons or bodies, the obligations of 
those persons or bodies will be joint and individual, and default on the part of one of the 
persons or bodies shall be regarded as default by each un.  
(h) These Conditions, and any dispute or claim (including any disputes or non-
contractual claims) arising in connection with, or as a result of their formation or subject 
area, shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of England and 
Wales. as applied in Wales, and the parties to these Conditions submit to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.  
 
22. How to accept this offer of Funding  
 
(a) To receive this offer of Funding, you must sign and return a copy of this letter to the 
Welsh Government Officer. Nothing of this Funding will be paid to you until we have  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 16 
 

Tudalen 203



 
received your signed letter and the completed Statement of Assurance.  
 
(b) We must receive your signed letter within 14 days of the date of this letter, otherwise 
this Finance award will automatically lapse.  
 
Your sincerely  
Signed by Anna Miller,  
Under the authority of the Minister for Education and Welsh Language,  
one of the Welsh Ministers. Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter 
Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed before or on 01 
June 2022 17 

 

Tudalen 204



SCHEDULE 1  
The Purposes  
The purpose of the Funding awarded to you is to enable you to implement the informal 
use of Welsh program (ages 3-18).  
The funding is part of a national program, which will be funded through the regional 
consortia, to increase the informal use of Welsh among children and young people.  
Allocation of responsibilities for the 
Welsh Government's informal use 
of Welsh program (age 3-18) 
(Language Charter)  

Consortia  

Strategic planning   
 Develop a general 

vision based on 
behavioural science.  

 Develop guidelines for 
the four schemes within 
the program.  

 Setting targets for the 
implementation of the 
informal use of Welsh 
program (ages 3-18)  
 

 
 Adapt the vision to 

meet local needs.  
 Support schools to 

deliver the informal use 
of Welsh program (ages 
3-18)  

 Provide a quarterly 
progress report against 
targets.  
 

Funding   
 Provide funding in 

accordance with the 
funding formula based 
on the number of Welsh 
medium schools in each 
area.  

 Communicate 
expectations for 
spending the funds 
clearly.  
 

 
 Use the funding for 

the purposes of the 
informal use of Welsh 
program (ages 3-18) 
only  

 Report expenditure on 
a quarterly basis  
 

Resources   
 Develop a bank of 

resources suitable for 
the relevant age groups 
on Hwb  

 Manage the overall 
brand of a Language 
Charter  

 Work with external 
partners to co-create 
resources  
 

 
 Ensure that schools 

are aware of the 
resources available to 
them  

 Adapt resources 
where necessary 
adhering to brand 
guidelines and principles 
of behavioural science.  
 

Validation   
 Develop a national 

approach to validation.  
 Develop a protocol for 

self-evaluation for the 
post-golden era.  

 
 Develop validation 

and self-evaluation 
criteria appropriate to 
the local area.  
 

Tudalen 205



 

Partnership working   
 Work with external 

partners to develop a 
national protocol for 
activity opportunities.  
 

 
 Implement the 

protocol at a regional 
level.  

 Develop relationships 
with local groups to 
either create 
opportunities for 
activities at regional 
level or to help schools 
provide opportunities.  
 

SCHEDULE 2  
Targets Target 
Description 

Date target should be met  Evidence required  

The successful day to 
day operation of the 
scheme within the 
region's schools and 
their communities.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Support schools in 
implementing the 
Language Charter 
including visits (virtual if 
necessary) to all 
schools at least three 
times a year.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Monitor regional 
implementation of the 
project by receiving 
termly reports on 
project implementation 
in each county.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Helping schools 
celebrate and publicize 
successes locally 
through media and 
social media.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Facilitate the sharing of 
good practice between 
schools within the 
region through 
meetings and events, 
and contribute to the 
national sharing of good 
practice through 
Stakeholder Group 
meetings and through 
the HWB website.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Tudalen 206



Encourage links 
between schools and 
regional external 
partners.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Provide training for 
school workforces to 
assist the 
implementation of the 
Language Charter.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Help schools to help 
parents understand the 
aims of the program 
and the role they could 
play in supporting their 
children to use Welsh 
informally in school, at 
home and in the 
community.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

Work with Welsh 
Government Language 
Charter officials and 
other partners to 
develop Language 
Charter resources.  

31 March 2023  Progress and comments 
according to the quarterly 
report  

SCHEDULE 3  
Notifiable Events  
The Notification Events referred to in Condition 9 are listed below:  
1. the repayment of any part of the Funding is required by any relevant legislation;  

2. you fail to comply with any or all of the Conditions;  

3. the Funding is not used, in whole or in part, for the Purposes;  

4. you fail to meet any or all of the Targets;  

5. there is unsatisfactory progress towards completion of the Purposes, including 
meeting the Targets;  

6. you fail to provide information about the Purposes requested by us or any UK subsidy 
enforcement body, or any of its auditors, agents or representatives;  

7. we have reason to believe that you and / or any of your Personnel engaged in or have 
engaged in fraudulent activity [as Purposes are fulfilled];  

8. we have overpaid you Finance;  

9. there is duplicate funding in relation to any part of the Purposes. This includes but is 
not limited to any payments you have received in respect of the effects of the spread of 
coronavirus (COVID-19) from your insurance provider (business cancellation / 
cancellation insurance), the UK Government's Redundancy Scheme through the period 
of Coronavirus and / or any Welsh Government fund / scheme.  

Tudalen 207



10. any statement made in Condition 8 is incomplete, inaccurate or in any way 
misleading, or proves to be so, or repeated at any time with reference to the prevailing 
facts and circumstances that, it would be wrong;  

11. there is an adjustment to the auditor's opinion (which means that opinion is qualified, 
unfavourable or disclaimer) about your financial statements;  

12. an event or circumstance has arisen which is current and constitutes (or would, at 
the expiration of the grace period, give notice, make any decision or any combination of 
these things amount to) an event of default or a termination event  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 22 
 

Tudalen 208



 
(however described) under any agreement or other instrument which is binding on you 
or to which any or more of your assets are subject;  

13. there is a moratorium on all or any of your debts or assets, or a composition or 
agreement with your creditors has been agreed, ordered or declared;  

14. you suspend or defer payment of any debts or are unable to pay your debts, or you 
admit in writing that you are unable to pay your debts;  

15. the value of your assets is less than your liabilities (taking into account contingent 
and prospective liabilities);  

16. you enter into negotiations, or enter into any composition, compromise agreement, 
assignment or arrangement, with one or more of your creditors with a view to 
rescheduling any of your debts (due to actual financial difficulties) or expected);  

17. any action, case or procedure is taken in relation to you regarding:  
 
(a) defer payments, moratorium in respect of any debt, winding up, liquidation, 
administration or reorganization (whether by voluntary arrangement or scheme or 
otherwise); or  
(b) a composition, compromise agreement, assignment or arrangement with any one or 
more of your creditors; or  
(c) appoint a liquidator, receiver, administrative receiver, administrator, compulsory 
manager or other similar officer in relation to you or any of your assets.  
18. a statutory order is placed against you;  

19. you give up, or threaten to postpone or give up, all or any relevant part of your 
business;  

20. there is a change in your constitution, status, control or ownership and / or 
resignation from one of your external auditors;  

21. you fail to comply with any statutory reporting obligations that apply to you (including 
but not limited to filing requirements for Companies House, the Charity Commission, the 
Financial Conduct Authority);  
Grants Centre of Excellence, Standard Grant Letter Including Post Payment Conditions Version 13.0 - July 2021 reviewed 
before or on 01 June 2022 23 
 

Tudalen 209



 
22. there is any change, permanent or temporary, in your shareholders, directors, 
trustees or partners and / or Personnel which may affect your ability to fulfil the 
Purposes;  

23. any event, or any circumstances arising, which in our opinion provides reasonable 
grounds for believing that the provision of the Finance, and / or the continuation of the 
arrangements contemplated by this letter, may bring the matter into disrepute on us.  

24. that any event, or any circumstances arising, which in our opinion provides 
reasonable grounds for believing that you may fail to fulfil or comply with any of your 
obligations under these Conditions incapable of doing so.  
SCHEDULE 4  
Indicative Payments Profile  
(refer to 
Conditions 5 
(b), 6 (a) and 
(b) Instalment 
number 

Maximum 
instalment  

Earliest date 
that can be 
claimed  

Last date that 
can be claimed  

Documents that 
must be 
included with 
the claim form  

1  £19,450  30 June 2022  31 March 2023  Progress report 
and finance 
report  

2  £19,450  30 September 
2022  

31 March 2023  Progress report 
and finance 
report  

3  £19,450  31 December 
2022  

31 March 2023  Progress report 
and finance 
report  

4  £19,450  26 March 2023  31 March 2023  Progress report 
and finance 
report  

SCHEDULE 5  
Certificate of Audit  
Not applicable 

SCHEDULE 6  
Assurance Statement: Counter Fraud and Governance Procedures  
The Welsh Government has a duty to 
protect public funds, ensuring that 
they are treated with integrity and in 
the public interest. It is important that 
people in Wales can have confidence 
in the Welsh Government and the 
organizations it funds. Welsh 
Government officials need assurance 
that reasonable and adequate 
governance arrangements and 
counter fraud procedures are in place 
in Welsh Government funded 
organizations. Do you receive any 
funding from any other organization to 
support the Purposes? If yes, please 
give details including amounts of other 
funding, jobs funded and source of 

Yes No  
More details can be found in the table 
below.  

Tudalen 210



funding. This includes pending 
applications.  

Give the name of the personnel in 
your organization who has specific 
responsibility for financial 
management in relation to the 
Purposes.  

Name:  
Job:  

Who is responsible for supervising the 
above named personnel?  

Name:  
Job:  

You state that your employees, officers, directors, trustees and board 
members:  

 where applicable, fully understand their duties and responsibilities under the 
relevant legislation relating to companies and charities;  

 have sufficient knowledge of governance issues to undertake roles in a 
manner that is fully compliant with the relevant legislation;  

 properly scrutinize and oversee the work of those with primary responsibility 
for your financial management.  
 
Please provide details of any other funding, whether capital or revenue, 
(including Welsh Government funding streams) from any organization in 
support of the Purposes detailed in Schedule 1. You must include details of 
capital items, jobs funded, other amounts of funding and the source of funding. 
This includes pending applications.  
Finance Type 
and Purpose  

Amounts of 
funding received 
(including 
pending 
applications)  
£  

% cost of job / 
capital item  

Source of 
funding  

e.g. 3 full time 
development 
officer posts  

£150,000  100%  The Big Lottery 
Fund  

e.g. Purchase of 
capital 
equipment  

£30,000  70%  Barclays Bank  

SCHEDULE 7  
UK GDPR requirements  
Not applicable 

TWO PEOPLE’S SIGNATURE IS REQUIRED  
We hereby accept the award of Program Funding Informal use of the Welsh language 
(3-18 years) and the Conditions in relation to the Funding.  
______________________________________ Signature  
Authorized signatory on behalf of Central South Consortium 
______________________________________ Name  
______________________________________ Job Title  
______________________________________ Date  
______________________________________ Signature  
Authorized signatory on behalf of Central South Consortium 
______________________________________ Name  

Tudalen 211



______________________________________ Job Title  
______________________________________ Date 

Tudalen 212



 1 

 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM 
 

REPORT FOR JOINT COMMITTEE  
 

7TH JUNE 2022 

 

JOINT EDUCATION SERVICE 
 

 
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY MANAGING DIRECTOR – CSC BUSINESS PLAN 
2022-25  
 
 
Author: Louise Blatchford, Deputy Managing Director  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To provide Members with an opportunity to review and scrutinise the final 
CSC Business Plan 2022-25. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended Members review the information contained in the 
Business Plan and:  

 
2.1 Seek clarity and explanation where there are any areas of concern 

 
2.2 Approve the content of the Business Plan 2022-25 and instruct officers to 

move forward with publication. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 The draft business plan was presented to Joint Committee on 22 

December 2021 for consideration.  The Joint Committee approved to 
model this Business Plan over the medium term to cover from 2022 up to 
25.  The priorities outlined within the Business Plan are:  

: 

• Curriculum, Teaching & Assessment 

• Leadership 

• Equity & Wellbeing 

Tudalen 213

Agendwm 10



 2 

• School Improvement; and 

• Eeffectiveness and eefficiency of Central South Consortium 
 

 
3.2 The 2022-25 business plan will guide our work for the next three years and 

has been developed in conjunction with LAs to ensure that appropriate LA 
priorities are embedded in our work. The Central South Consortium has 
three overarching roles:  

• Provide a regional school improvement service to all schools on behalf of 
our partner Local Authorities  

• Provide appropriate Professional Learning opportunities for stakeholders 
at all levels to support local, regional and national priorities  

• Work with Welsh Government and partners to develop, share and 
implement national policy  

 
3.3 Within CSC we carry our extensive evaluations of our work, and the 

outcomes of these evaluations shape our business planning process. We 
also make use of research findings, and as well as identification of school, 
local authority, regional and national priorities.  

 
3.4 Our business plan will guide the work of the organisation as we recover 

from the Covid-19 pandemic. We have set our objectives in the context of 
the challenges that schools continue to face. Bespoke support will continue 
in partnership with the individual Local Authorities to ensure that schools 
can meet the needs of staff and pupils.  

 
3.5 A wide range of stakeholders have contributed and have been consulted 

on the development of the plan prior to publication. These include:  

• Headteachers  

• Staff in Central South Consortium  

• Directors of Education (constituent to CSC) and Diocesan 
Directors  

• Representative stakeholder group 

• Governor Stakeholder group  

• CSC Joint Committee  

• Wider stakeholders  
 
 
4.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
4.1  CSC Business Plan 2022-25 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 214



 3 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

7th JUNE 2022 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
List of background papers 
 
Business Plan 2022-25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer to Contact: 
 
Louise Blatchford 
Tel no. 01443 281400  
 
 

Tudalen 215



Tudalen wag



Central South Consortium  
Business Plan

2022–2025

Empowering schools to improve outcomes for all learnersTudalen 217



Ta
bl

e 
O

f

Co
nt

en
ts

03 Introduction 

05
09

The Region in Context 

2021/2022 In Context

13

19

The Consortium
• Education in Wales context
• Central South Consortium Vision

Central South Consortium Business
Plan Priorities 2022-2025 

27
29
35
37

Evaluating What We Do 

Our Approach to Delivery 

Governance 

Consortium Funding Overview

2

Tudalen 218



Introduction

3

Tudalen 219



This business plan will guide our work for the next 
three years has been developed in conjunction 
with LAs to ensure that appropriate LA priorities 
are embedded in our work. The Central South 
Consortium has three overarching roles:

•  Provide a regional school improvement 
service to all schools on behalf of our partner 
Local Authorities

•  Provide appropriate Professional Learning 
opportunities for stakeholders at all levels to 
support local, regional and national priorities 

•  Work with Welsh Government and partners to 
develop, share and implement national policy

Within CSC we carry our extensive evaluations of 
our work, and the outcomes of these evaluations 
shape our business planning process.  We also 
make use of research findings, and as well as 
identification of school, local authority, regional 
and national priorities. Our business plan will guide 
the work of the organisation as we recover from 
the Covid-19 pandemic. We have set our objectives 
in the context of the challenges that schools 
continue to face. Bespoke support will continue in 
partnership with the individual Local Authorities 
to ensure that schools can meet the needs of staff 
and pupils. A wide range of stakeholders have 
contributed and have been consulted on the 
development of the plan prior to publication.

These include:

• Headteachers
•  Directors of Education (constituent to CSC)  

and Diocesan Directors
• CSC Joint Committee
• Staff in Central South Consortium
• Representative stakeholder group 
• Wider stakeholders
• Governor Steering group

This business plan has been formally agreed by the 
Director of Education of each local authority, the 
Joint Committee, the Lead Chief Executive.

Introduction

4

Cllr XXX

Chair Central South Consortium  
Joint Committee

Ms C Seery

Managing Director, Central South 
Consortium

Mr L Harvey

Lead Director on behalf of Central South 
Consortium Management Board

Mr E Cooper

Lead Chief Executive on behalf of Central 
South Consortium Chief Executives

Mr C Britton

Chair of the Representative  
Stakeholder Group

Ms J Stuckey

Chair of the Governor Steering Group

Tudalen 220



The Region  
In Context

5

Tudalen 221



Covid-19 has had a significant impact across the region, and this has exacerbated some of the challenges our 
children and young people face. Many of our communities face significant poverty related challenges; others 
are amongst the most prosperous in the country.

Throughout the pandemic, schools have worked tirelessly to provide educational opportunities for children 
and young people in a range of ways. Our business plan will incorporate the learning during this time. We will 
build on this and ensure that schools are supported to enable all pupils to make progress. As we continue to 
move forward to fully implement the National Mission it is essential that we continue to work together. The 
success of schools in this region is the key to the future economic and social success of the country. 

We want to play a full part in realising the vision for Welsh education detailed in ‘Education in Wales: Our 
National Mission’ and will be supporting schools across the region to deliver the curriculum implementation 
plan as set out by Welsh Government. The four enabling objectives will guide our business plan 2022-25.

It is challenging to predict how learning will progress in the coming year. Our business plan will ensure 
that there is flexible support for all schools across the region. We recognise that this has been an extremely 
difficult time for all schools and our support will continue to focus on ensuring the wellbeing of staff and 
pupils. Research evidence shows that learning has been disrupted during this time and all schools will need  
a bespoke model of support.

We will continue to work in partnership with school leaders, LAs and WG to ensure that schools receive 
the right support to enable all learners to make progress throughout the year. We will continue to give full 
consideration to the current operating models for schools and support leaders to manage learning in their 
schools.

The Region In Context 

6

Tudalen 222



Local Authority Context

Aged 5-15 22.7 Aged 5-15 16.8 Aged 5-15 26.6

Bridgend The Vale of Glamorgan Rhondda Cynon Taf

48 Primary 

4 Welsh Medium 
3 Roman Catholic 
2 Church in Wales

2 Non-maintained 
nursery settings 92 Primary 

12 Welsh Medium 
  2 Dual Stream
  4 Roman Catholic
  2 Church in Wales

9 Secondary

1 Welsh Medium 
1 Roman Catholic

44 Primary 

  6 Welsh Medium 
  2 Roman Catholic
10 Church in Wales

5 Middle
 
2 Welsh Medium

2 Special 1 Middle
 
1 Welsh Medium

12 Secondary
 
2 Welsh Medium
1  English with  

significant Welsh
1 Roman Catholic
1 Church in Wales

1 Pupil Referral 
Unit 7 Secondary

 
1 Roman Catholic

4 Special

1 Special 2 Pupil Referral Unit

Number of Schools (Source WG Address List January 2022)

Bridgend The Vale of Glamorgan Rhondda Cynon Taf

Teaching Staff Support Staff 
(FTE)

Teaching Staff Support Staff 
(FTE)

Teaching Staff Support Staff 
(FTE)

1281 1256 1310 1235 2018 2073

7

School and PRU Staffing (Source - Jan PLASC 2021)

Tudalen 223



Aged 5-15 25.0 Aged 5-15 28.4 Aged 5-15 25.09

Merthyr Tydfil Cardiff CSC

22 Primary 

2 Welsh Medium 
3 Roman Catholic 

3 Non-maintained 
nursery settings 5 Non-maintained 

nursery settings

4 Secondary

1 Roman Catholic
98 Primary 

15 Welsh Medium
  2 Dual Stream 
13 Roman Catholic
10 Church in Wales

304 Primary 

39 Welsh Medium 
  4 Dual Stream
25 Roman Catholic
24 Church in Wales

1 Special 18 Secondary
 
3 Welsh Medium
3 Roman Catholic
2 Church in Wales

6 Middle
 
3 Welsh Medium

1 Pupil Referral 
Unit 7 Special 50 Secondary

 
6 Welsh Medium
1  English with  

significant Welsh
7 Roman Catholic
3 Church in Wales

1 Pupil Referral 
Unit 15 Special

5 Pupil Referral Unit

Merthyr Tydfil Cardiff CSC

Teaching Staff Support Staff 
(FTE)

Teaching Staff Support Staff 
(FTE)

Teaching Staff Support Staff 
(FTE)

490 485 3188 3158 8287 8207

Local Authority Context

Number of Schools (Source WG Address List January 2022)

8

School and PRU Staffing (Source - Jan PLASC 2021)

Tudalen 224



2021/2022  
In Context

9

Tudalen 225



2021/2022 In Context 

10

Nearly all (99%) of CSC schools have engaged 
in regional professional learning events, 
programmes and assignments. This is a total of 
over 11,000 engagements from school leaders, 
practitioners and governors.  

Curriculum for Wales is 
embedded in all areas 
of professional learning 
and support.  

Since April 2020, over 1300 
practitioners across the region 
have engaged with termly network 
meetings focused on sharing 
practice in all Areas of Learning and 
Experience (Areas), pedagogy and 
enquiry.  

More than 2500 school leaders and 
practitioners from over 80% of schools 
across the region have engaged with the 
cross-regional CfW programme, focused 
on supporting their schools’ journey to 
curriculum roll-out.  

CSC has developed a CfW design 
thinking model to support schools 
and clusters in curriculum design.  

£5,179,098 was delegated to schools 
through collaboration funding, enabling 
school leaders and practitioners to engage 
in collaborations within and beyond their 
school on areas of school improvement to 
meet their specific school needs.  

During 2021/22 20% more 
practitioners engaged in 
professional learning to develop 
their Welsh language skills and 
competence than in 2020/21.

Nearly all schools (96%) in the 
region are engaged in cluster 
working, collaborating on work 
focused around the Curriculum  
for Wales and the wider reforms. 

Since September 2021, 242 individual schools and 
9 groups/clusters have been provided with bespoke 
support in relation to their school development 
priorities from CSC’s curriculum team and / or 
brokered school to school support.  

143 of schools have achieved 
Siarter Iaith/Cymraeg Campus 
awards: 105 bronze, 35 silver  
and 3 gold

Tudalen 226



High quality professional 
learning guidance and 
resources are available in 
variety of media including 
blogs, vlogs, newsletters and 
toolkits.  

CSC webinar and 
podcasts were 
launched in December 
21 with over 5000 
engagements with the 
recordings in 3 months.   

The CSC poster packs on CfW 
and Assessment have been 
viewed over 6000 times. 

The CfW Newsletter was launched in April 2021, 
including all up-to-date information to support 
schools in their journey to curriculum roll-out.  
This monthly publication has been viewed over 
4000 times.  

Almost 500 practitioners across 
the region have participated in 
almost 40 regional collaboration 
projects across focused areas of 
curriculum and pedagogy.  

The CSC Curriculum for Wales community area 
online community provides an interactive 
platform with materials, professional learning 
opportunities and messaging related to 
Curriculum for Wales. The files area also includes 
resources to support all areas of Curriculum for 
Wales. The community now has 1200 members 
from across the region.   

In PL programme evaluations, 92% of 
participants reported that they anticipated 
the professional learning having an impact 
on their learners, with 57% expecting a 
significant impact.

More than 1700 governors 
from over 80% of schools 
have engaged with CSC 
professional learning 
opportunities for Governors.     

There was an increase of 12% of schools 
attended regional PL focused on vulnerable 
learners, with 99.5% of participants 
evaluating that they were using or planning  
to use the learning in their role.  

11

85% of cluster 
across the region now 
have a coaching and 
mentoring facilitator.  

Our newly appointed Regional 
Leaders of Governance (RLGs) have 
provided high-quality support to 
governing bodies of 10 schools 
across the region.   

2021/2022 In Context 

Tudalen 227



12

All leadership pathways programmes are 
oversubscribed, with over 500 participants 
from across the region receiving national 
certification for their completion of the 
programmes. 

50 headteachers and deputy headteachers 
from schools across the region act as 
coaches to support participants in the 
leadership programmes.

The target number of TAs gaining HLTA 
status was more than doubled, with 54 
TAs achieving HLTA status, an increase of 
over 100% from the previous year. 

CSC further strengthened 
partnership working with ITE HEIs on 
the co-construction of bridging units 
designed to support the induction of 
newly qualified teachers to mitigate 
against the impact of COVID. 

Formal qualifications in 
coaching and mentoring 
strengthening the impact 
and supporting embed-
ding coaching culture. 

Only 2 schools in region in 
an Estyn follow up category. 
None in Special Measures.

Estyn Reported 
“The local authority has established strong working relationships with principal improvement partners from the 
regional consortium and there are robust processes for the support and challenge to schools causing concern.”

“…improvement partners provide a sound evaluation of progress based on first-hand evidence of provision  
and leadership in these schools…”

Nearly all (93%) NQTs in schools 
in the CSC region passed induction, 
with 7% granted an extension.  

Across our 384 schools there are 
1749 priorities for improvement, 
nearly all these are on track to be met. 

More than 215 school leaders, 
practitioners and CSC officers have 
undertaken the regionally delivered 
national coaching and mentoring 
programme.     

Over 120 school leaders, 
practitioners and CSC officers 
have undertaken the national 
coaching and mentoring trainer 
programme. 70% of these 
have gone on to complete a 
formal qualification in coaching 
and mentoring, strengthening 
the impact and supporting 
embedding a coaching culture 
across the region.  

2021/2022 In Context 

Tudalen 228



The Consortium

13

Tudalen 229



The Consortium
The Central South Consortium (CSC), established in September 2012, is a Joint Education 
Service for five local authorities:

The consortium acts on behalf of the five local authorities to develop a school improvement service 
that challenges, monitors, and supports schools to raise standards and provide the best provision 
for all learners in the region. CSC employs a small core team, supported by schools across the region 
supporting the commitment to the self- improving system.

14

Education In Wales: A Changing Landscape
Education in Wales is undergoing a significant transformation with the introduction of a new 
Curriculum for Wales from September 2022 and the implementation of the ALN transformation 
programme. The Journey to rollout identifies what needs to happen nationally to support the 
realisation of Curriculum for Wales in schools. CSC continues to work closely with schools and other 
partners to support this reform journey. 

The Welsh Government published the Renew and Reform Plan in June 2021, setting out their 
priorities to support learners’ wellbeing and progression in response to the Pandemic. We will 
continue to support schools to use this funding to meet the needs of their learners. 

All the elements of the business plan are set in the context of Covid and we recognise that schools 
are working in very difficult circumstances. Our intention is to provide appropriate support to all 
schools to manage the challenges as we move through 2022-2025. 

Curriculum For Wales
Improving education is our national mission. Nothing is so essential as universal access to, 
and acquisition of, the experiences, knowledge and skills that our young people need for 
employment, lifelong learning and active citizenship. (Welsh Government 2020)

14

Tudalen 230



15

Wales is currently undergoing a series of wide-ranging yet integrated reforms, which have the power 
to transform the education landscape. At the centre is a new curriculum for schools and funded  
non-maintained settings in Wales from September 2022. ‘Curriculum for Wales’ has been made in 
Wales but shaped by the best practices from around the world. It is also essential that we incorporate 
the learning from COVID-19. 

The Curriculum for Wales framework and guidance is a clear statement of what is important in 
delivering a broad and balanced education. The four purposes are the shared vision and aspiration 
for every child and young person in Wales. A school’s curriculum is everything a learner experiences in 
pursuit of the four purposes. It is not simply what we teach, but how we teach and, crucially, why we 
teach it. Curriculum development should be at the heart of practitioner, school and national efforts 
which seek to raise standards for all.

Central South Consortium has a key role in supporting all of the schools in our region in the realisation 
of Curriculum for Wales. We provide professional learning opportunities and access to support, 
resources, research and up-to-date information for all schools and individual practitioners to engage 
purposefully with Curriculum for Wales.

Central South Consortium Vision
Working with stakeholders from across the region, the vision for CSC remains:

This is even more essential in the current climate. The business plan is designed to meet the priorities 
of schools, local authorities and Welsh Government, against a back drop of a new curriculum, new 
accountability frameworks, new approaches to supporting children with additional learning needs, 
the implementation of schools as learning organisations, and the establishment of an National 
Professional Learning Charter, as well as changes to the way in which Estyn will inspect schools and 
local authorities. The delivery strategy within CSC is outlined within the Central South Wales Challenge 
and has been developed in light of the challenges schools are facing.

“Empowering schools to improve outcomes for all learners”

Tudalen 231

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/designing-your-curriculum/developing-a-vision-for-curriculum-design/#curriculum-design-and-the-four-purposes
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/professional-learning


16

Improvement Priorities 2022-2025
Following analysis of LA priorities, our self-evaluation, requirements within the National Mission and 
consultation with stakeholders including headteachers and local authority officers, we have identified 
five improvement priorities. CSC is committed providing a high-quality school improvement service 
on behalf of all partner LAs. We are also committed to supporting schools to take greater ownership 
for their own improvement through the continued development of a self-improving system. CSC 
continues to have a specific role to play in the delivery of the National Transformation agenda, which 
means that some of the priorities will be led by Welsh Government priorities.

The business plan directly addresses the key priorities of the local authorities across the region. 
Although other priorities may be outside its remit, CSC will work, wherever possible, in partnership  
to support these priority areas. 

CSC will continue to facilitate partnership working across the region as we recognise that our  business 
plan cannot be delivered without a productive relationship between schools and the five local 
authorities that CSC serves. The links and communication fostered with other key partners including 
Welsh Government, other regional consortia and Estyn are also crucial. 

Tudalen 232



The overarching priorities are agreed with the Joint Committee. The detail of each priority is 
set in the context of Covid.

1. Curriculum, Teaching & Assessment
2. Leadership
3. Equity & Wellbeing
4. School Improvement
5. Effectiveness and efficiency of Central South Consortium

For each of the priorities, there is a detailed operational plan that outlines how and when 
the aspects of each priority will be delivered. Our intention remains to support schools to 
meet the needs of their learners to enable them to make progress. It is essential that there is 
continued support for staff and learner wellbeing.

Business Plan Priorities

17

Tudalen 233



1 2 3 4 5

Curriculum, 
Teaching & 
Assessment

Leadership Equity and 
Wellbeing

School 
Improvement 

Effectiveness & 
Efficiency of CSC

• Professional 
Learning 
Opportunities 

• Evaluation of 
Professional 
Learning 

• Welsh Language, 
Culture & Heritage 

• Curriculum and 
Assessment 

• Pedagogy, 
Teaching & 
Learning 

• Qualifications 

• Post 16 Education

• Leadership 
Pathways 

• Governors

• Coaching & 
Mentoring

• Early Career 
Pathway 

• TALP

• Schools as 
Learning 
Organisations

• Equity & 
Excellence 

• Strategy for 
Vulnerable 
Learners

• LA Partnerships 
(focus on 
wellbeing & 
inclusion)

• School Self-
Evaluation and 
Development 
Planning

• Framework 
for School 
Improvement

• Accountability

• CSC Business 
Planning & Self 
Evaluation 

• Effectiveness 
& Efficiency/ 
LA reporting/ 
Scrutiny

• Communication 

• Research & 
Evaluation 

• Evaluation 
Systems & 
Processes

• CSC Governance

• Safeguarding

Self Improving System

Impact of COVID

Brokerage

Central South Challenge (CSWC)

Impact of Grant Funding

LA WESP

Professional Learning 

Curriculum for Wales

TH
EM

ES
 (2

02
2/

23
)

Central South Consortium Priority 
Areas 2022-2025

18

Tudalen 234



Central South 
Consortium  
Business Plan 
Priorities 2022-2025

19

Tudalen 235



Priority 1: Curriculum, Teaching & Assessment

Theme What will this look like?

Professional Learning 
Opportunities

Regional professional learning (PL) opportunities will continue to support 
school leaders and practitioners to respond to local, regional and national 
priorities.  

Strengthened partnership working with schools, local authorities, other 
middle tier organisations and Welsh Government will ensure coherent and 
high-quality professional learning for all schools.

PL opportunities will:
• respond to emerging needs
•  align to the CSC Enabling Equity and Excellence document; Welsh 

Government Curriculum for Wales Implementation Plan and the National 
Approach for Professional Learning 

•  be co-constructed with schools through a network of Lead Practitioners as 
part of the Central South Wales Challenge

•  be provided as live and/or on-demand events, programmes and networks
•  include high quality guidance and resources through a variety of media
• provide opportunities for schools to share practice 
• support schools to develop:

• Welsh Language, culture and heritage
• Curriculum and assessment 
• Pedagogy, teaching and learning  
• Qualifications
• Post-16 education

Evaluation of 
Professional Learning

All PL will be evaluated using the Kirkpatrick model to inform ongoing 
improvements to the service.  The impact of PL will be reported at four levels, 
as appropriate:

1. Reaction / Engagement
2. Learning
3. Changes to behaviour
4. Results (longer term)

Welsh Language, 
culture and heritage

•  Broaden the range and options of PL opportunities, guidance and resources 
for practitioners to speak Welsh

•  Refine the Welsh language patterns continuum to align to Curriculum for 
Wales

•  Welsh language networks will continue to provide opportunities for 
practitioner and middle leaders to collaborate and share practice

•  Increase the number of schools accredited at each level of the Siarter Iaith / 
Cymraeg Campus

•  Provide bespoke support for individual schools and clusters to meet 
identified needs

20

Tudalen 236



Theme What will this look like?

Curriculum and 
Assessment

•  Provide PL, guidance and resources that support schools with the journey  
to curriculum roll-out and responds to emerging needs 

•  Curriculum networks will continue to provide opportunities for practitioners 
and leaders to receive guidance, collaborate and share practice 

•  Support schools to design and continue to refine their purpose-led 
curriculum to meet the needs of all learners 

•  Support schools with assessment for learning and planning for progression
•  Project opportunities will provide additional capacity for schools to 

collaborate on specific priority areas
•  Provide bespoke support for individual schools and clusters to meet 

identified needs

Pedagogy, Teaching  
and Learning 

•  Provide PL, guidance and resources that support schools to ensure  
high-quality teaching 

•  Provide opportunities for schools to develop inquiry approaches
•  Pedagogy networks will continue to provide opportunities for practitioners 

and leaders to receive guidance, collaborate and share practice 
•  Project opportunities will provide additional capacity for schools develop 

approaches to developing teaching and learning
•  Provide bespoke support for individual schools and clusters to meet 

identified needs

Qualifications

•  Continue to contribute and engage with the qualifications reform process 
through Qualifications Wales networks 

•  Secondary subject networks will continue to provide opportunities for 
practitioners and leaders to receive guidance, collaborate and share practice 

• Provide bespoke support for individual schools as required

Post-16 education

•  Continue to contribute and engage cross-regionally to develop PL 
opportunities for post-16 leaders 

•  Post-16 leaders’ networks will continue to provide opportunities for 
practitioners and leaders to receive guidance, collaborate and share practice 

•  Project opportunities will provide additional capacity for schools to 
collaborate on specific priority areas

• Provide bespoke support for individual schools as required

21

Priority 1: Curriculum, Teaching & Assessment

Tudalen 237



Priority 2: Leadership

Theme What will this look like?

Leadership pathways

• Continue to deliver national leadership programmes at a regional level
•  Develop bespoke programmes to enhance provision for leaders at all 

levels
•  Continue to ensure leaders at all levels receive the support of coaches 

and mentors to enhance the effectiveness of their roles

Governors

School governors provide effective leadership, challenge and support:
•  provide school governors with relevant professional development to 

enable them to undertake their roles effectively
•  Equip school governors with the guidance, tools and resources to 

undertake self-evaluation effectively 
•  Continue to work closely with local authorities to support effective 

school governance

Coaching & Mentoring

Embed a culture of coaching and mentoring across the region:
•  Continue to provide professional development in coaching and 

mentoring to all schools and CSC staff
•  Provide formal coaching support and supervision for those staff who 

require it
•  Continue to ensure coaches and mentors supporting our pathway 

programmes receive the necessary training to carry out their roles 
effectively

•  Continue to work closely with other regions to develop the wellbeing 
of leaders through a national coaching approach 

Early Career Pathway

•  Provide student teachers in the region with professional learning, 
guidance and support to help them transition from ITE to induction 

•  Support newly qualified teachers through the induction process, 
strengthened by the comprehensive professional learning offer

• Support induction mentors to fulfil their enhanced statutory role
•  Provide a post induction professional development package to NQTs 

upon passing induction

Teaching Assistant Learning 
Pathway (TALP)

•  Continue to provide professional learning, guidance and resources to 
teaching assistants, both nationally and regionally.

•  Support increased number of teaching assistants to achieve HLTA 
status

•  Build HLTA leadership capacity through ongoing coaching and 
specialist opportunities

Schools as Learning 
Organisations (SLO)

Provide Professional Learning, guidance and resources to support 
schools to re-engage with the Welsh Government survey and develop 
the seven dimensions of SLO to improve outcomes of all learners

22

Tudalen 238



Priority 3: Equity & Wellbeing

Theme What will this look like?

Equity and Excellence

•  Support schools in fulfilling the goals of the CSC regional approach to 
enabling the principles of Equity and Excellence for all learners 

•  Support schools in dealing with the effects that Covid 19 has had on 
provision 

•  Build professional learning and development that is needed to support 
the professional knowledge base for Equity and Excellence 

•  Identify key opportunities to build system knowledge and expertise to 
enable the principles of Equity and Excellence in schools in the region

The provision and 
progress of vulnerable 

learners

•  Provide support and challenge for the leadership of provision of and 
progress of vulnerable learners  

•  Signpost or provide professional learning to support schools to enhance 
the provision and progress of vulnerable learners 

Support for enhancing 
well-being provision for 
workforce and learners

•   Support schools in their self-evaluation and leadership of the Framework 
on embedding a whole-school approach to emotional and mental  
well-being 

•  Signpost or provide professional learning to enhance the well-being of 
workforce and learners 

•  Support and challenge well-being provision and leadership in schools 
including attendance and exclusions

23

Tudalen 239



Priority 4: School Improvement

Theme What will this look like?

School Self-Evaluation and 
Development Planning

•  CSC evaluate the quality of self-evaluation, improvement planning, 
progress and standards in all schools, and report clearly on local and 
regional level.

•  Work alongside schools on the MER process to test out the robustness 
of self-evaluation activities

• Schools engage with NEIR to focus their self-evaluation processes
•  PL and materials available to support school with models of best 

practice for self-evaluation
•  Improvements and strengths in self-evaluation processes and 

improvement planning are evident in an increasing proportion of 
Estyn reports on schools.

•  Schools have established clear and effective processes for internal 
evaluation and accountability

•  Schools have productive, timely, robust and enquiry-based self-
evaluation processes leading to clear improvement plans 

•  Schools have effective evaluations of the impact of Covid on 
learner progress and on school practice, leading to clear plans for 
improvement planning which builds on strong practice.

•  Development Plans are focused on appropriate priorities identified 
from focussed self-evaluation

•  Development Plans reflect LA and National Priorities Welsh 
Government policies linked to priority 4 are implemented across 
the region in accordance with milestones set in ‘Education in Wales: 
Journey to 2022’ and ‘The Curriculum Implementation Plan’

Framework for School 
Improvement

• Fewer schools needing higher level support or causing concern.
•  All schools causing concern receive appropriate support and thereby 

improve their capacity for self-improvement.
•  Reviewed Intervention strategy for schools causing concerns with 

clarification 
•  All plans detailing support identifies short, medium and long term 

expected impact of any brokered support, who will monitor and how 
it will be recorded

Accountability

  •  The region, LAs, schools, Governing Bodies and their stakeholders 
have a common understanding of how progress can be measured 
transparently and fairly at an individual school level, in line with 
national and local priorities. 

•  Schools are able to respond appropriately to developing external 
pupil performance measures.

•  Any new Improvement, Evaluation and Accountability arrangements 
are implemented to align with current practice.

•  Clear assurances to LA & Stakeholders around progress of schools  
and learners

•  Reporting mechanisms align to support effective communication of 
information

24

Tudalen 240



Priority 5: Effectiveness & Efficiency of CSC

Theme What will this look like?

CSC Business Planning  
& Self-Evaluation 

•  The CSC Business Plan will clearly outline our objectives meeting 
the needs of all stakeholders. 

•  The LA priorities will form the integral basis for our Business 
Planning (Operational Plans). 

• The LA priorities will be included from the early planning stage.
•  Business Planning meetings will be well organised, structured 

and diarised well in advance of the meeting date.
•  Monitoring processes will ensure that our stakeholders are more 

involved in our monitoring and review processes will provide an 
opportunity for CSC to be challenged. 

•  The three-year Business Plan will ensure that there is a better 
focus on sustainable long-term improvements and impact.

•  Self-Evaluation processes will take on board the views of 
stakeholders which in turn will inform its improvement-
planning process.

•  Reporting cycles will meet the needs of LAs in a manageable 
and meaningful way, ensuring that there are clearly articulated 
audience and purpose for each report.

•  Reports will be produced that share the effectiveness of the 
organisation alongside the progress of schools across each LA.

• Risk registers will incorporate to the LA and WG risks. 
•  CSC will monitor the impact of its own performance 

management arrangements and will determine how well we 
respond to recommendations from previous inspection reports, 
thematic reports and other relevant reports from inspectorates 
and regulators.

Effectiveness & Efficiency  
(inc LA Reporting & Scrutiny)

•  CSC will continue to produce an evidenced based effectiveness 
and efficiency report detailing the impact of CSC and its work.

•  Data and intelligence gathered by CSC is linked to 
organisational values.

•  Each report CSC produces has a clear purpose and meets the 
needs of the audience. 

•  CSC has ensured there is alignment of internal workstreams that 
meet local and national priorities and avoids duplication.

•  CSC has adopted hybrid/agile approaches to working meaning 
that their physical footprint is reduced. Through this approach 
CSC is supporting the Welsh Government agenda of achieving a 
net zero public sector

25

Tudalen 241



Theme What will this look like?

Communication

•  External communication channels are used effectively to 
improve access to professional learning, resources and 
support for schools in the region, leading to ongoing and 
sustained school improvement.  This supports the realisation 
of the Consortium’s vision of ‘empowering schools to improve 
outcomes for all learners’. 

•  Internal communication channels are used effectively to 
support and inform staff in their roles as ambassadors for 
CSC. Communication is a shared responsibility of all staff. 
This supports the realisation of the Consortium’s vision of 
‘empowering schools to improve outcomes for all learners’.

•  The impact of communications activity will continue to be 
measured by website analytics including Knowledge Bank 
views, staff and school bulletin analytics, and social media 
engagement.

Evaluation Systems & Processes

Evaluation is used for three purposes:
   • Accountability – measuring results and efficiency
   • Development – strengthening the work of CSC
   •  Knowledge – deepening understanding of effective school 

practice
•  There is a shared and understood language around evaluation 

and impact.
•  Clear and robust evaluation processes are in place to provide 

data, including stakeholder feedback.
•  Data and intelligence is used to challenge CSC performance, 

improve practice and generate knowledge for the system.
•  Roles and responsibilities in evaluation are clearly defined and 

ensure that the purposes of evaluation and the needs of all 
stakeholders are met.

CSC Governance

•  CSC is committed to maintaining a financially viable service that 
meets the needs of schools and LAs, ensuring our BP is built on 
the LA priorities and brings the 5 LAs together into one regional 
service. 

•  There is an approved governance structure which outlines the 
roles and responsibilities of each governance group that CSC 
are held accountable to and is detailed in the legal agreement 
which is signed by all stakeholders. 

Safeguarding

•  CSC has a Safeguarding policy which is updated annually to 
reflect any new legislation changes to ensure we are providing 
the correct advice to our staff.  

•  CSC has its own dedicated Safeguarding Officer and Deputy 
Safeguarding Officers and refresher training is also provided to 
all staff on annual basis to ensure we continue to upskill and 
further develop a culture of safeguarding across CSC.

26

Priority 5: Effectiveness & Efficiency of CSC

Tudalen 242



Evaluating  
What We Do

27

Tudalen 243



This business plan is underpinned by more 
detailed operational plans for each improvement 
priority. These include measurable outcomes 
and milestones that use both quantitative and 
qualitative data. Progress will be monitored 
quarterly in Senior Leadership Team (SLT) meetings 
and reported to Joint Committee meetings. These 
provide quarterly monitoring and challenge 
against the agreed targets and milestones and 
value for money measures.

Progress against the regional priorities as well 
as the priorities agreed for individual Local 
Authorities will be reviewed on a quarterly basis 
through progress review meetings between the 
managing director and each local authority. 

Progress against the priorities and development 
of the school-led system will be reviewed regularly 
with representative headteachers. 

We recognise how important it is that we evaluate 
the impact of our own work - to ensure that we 

remain reflective and responsive, and able to 
adjust practice to need. We do this using a variety 
of models and first-hand evidence. Teams evaluate 
their work internally and we formally evaluate 
practice across the organisation, and this is fed 
back to local authorities and CSC Joint Committee.  
Monitoring and evaluation is integrated across 
all school improvement work in Central South 
to ensure a robust and holistic understanding of 
progress.  It is a critical, considered synthesis of all 
the evaluations that allows CSC to consider the 
outcomes of work following a range of monitoring 
activities aligned to the agreed success criteria.  
In Central South Consortium (CSC) we use the 
Kirkpatrick model to evaluate the depth and 
efficacy of professional learning and support.  This 
moves from engagement and reaction in activity, 
to what has been learned, any associated changes 
in behaviour and then whether the planned results 
were achieved.

Evaluating 
What We Do 

28

Tudalen 244



Our Approach 
To Delivery

29

Tudalen 245



Our Approach  
To Delivery  
All support and professional learning (PL) for 
schools from the Central South Consortium is 
carefully considered to achieve the CSC vision and 
support schools to meet local, regional and national 
priorities. These are focused on the key areas that 
encompass the education reforms in Wales: 

• Curriculum, learning and teaching
• Leadership and management
• Evaluation & Improvement
• Equity and wellbeing
• Progress and standards 

The CSC strategies and guidance to support all 
school across the region in these key areas are: 

• Supporting school improvement 
• Professional learning opportunities 
• Enabling Equity and Excellence
• The Central South Wales Challenge

30

Tudalen 246



Supporting School 
Improvement 
Although categorisation continues to be 
suspended, it is essential schools receive the 
support they need to improve. CSC has a highly 
skilled workforce with a wide range of experience, 
knowledge, skills and approaches to support 
schools. 

The CSC School Improvement Team provide 
support and challenge to schools, ensuring that 
schools are well prepared and display behaviours 
that positively support the complete national 
reform agenda. School leaders need the time and 
space to be able to make sense of transformational 
reform and the plethora of national and regional 
supporting resources that go with it. The School 
Improvement Team role is also hugely significant 
in ‘signposting’ school leaders and other 
stakeholders to use the pertinent documents, e.g. 
CSC ‘Enabling Equity and Excellence’ document 
and professional learning that is available in the 
region, a conduit between policy and practice. This 
will enhance the school’s ability to develop as a 
learning organisation and support putting the new 
curriculum and other reforms into place. 

CSC, in consultation, have interpreted the 
Welsh Government Guidance for Improvement, 
Accountability and Evaluation. The new guidance 
ensures Improvement Partners continue to 
support schools to develop effective School 
Development Plans (SDP) and to ensure that 
there is an appropriate evaluation of the impact 
of school improvement strategies. This will work 
in conjunction with the school systems and will 
not generate additional work for school leaders. 
Improvement Partners will continue to support 
the governing body with the headteachers’ 
performance management and will support the 
governing body to understand their role in school 
improvement. Improvement Partners will also 

31

collaborate with the Regional Leads for Governors 
in order to support school governors to fulfil their 
responsibility in holding schools to account.

Based on the needs of the school the Improvement 
Partner will identify the support needs, and 
broker support required. Support will be tightly 
focused on the actions in the School Development 
Plan (SDP)and brokerage will be coordinated by 
the Principal Improvement Partner. A support 
programme is developed is liaison with the 
curriculum and professional learning team. 
Once the support programme is agreed the 
Improvement Partner is responsible for quality 
assuring the impact of this support with the 
headteacher and governors as appropriate.

There is also an expectation the Improvement 
Partner shares information with the LA and attends 
any school focused LA meetings as necessary. 
Links with Local Authorities Improvement Partners 
will continue to develop and foster collaborative 
working partnerships with LA colleagues. 
Improvement Partners are mindful of the 
individual systems and process in each LA and will 
work accordingly. Joint collaboration will facilitate 
an effective sharing of information to ensure a 
mutual understanding to enable effective school 
improvement. Improvement Partners will continue 
using the successful strategies in place and will 
work with LA colleagues to adapt and improve 
where needs emerge. The Principal Improvement 
Partners will continue to be a pivotal link with 
each LA and will ensure an effective two way flow 
of information. It is essential the Improvement 
Partner forms a strong professional relationship 
with the headteacher. One of the key roles of the 
Improvement Partner is to broker support that 
will help build capacity and empower the school 
to achieve the outcomes identified in the School 
Development Plan (SDP).

Tudalen 247



32

Professional Learning Opportunities  
A wide and varied range of professional learning (PL) opportunities are offered to practitioners and 
leaders at all levels, including school governors. CSC strives to ensure an equitable offer for all schools 
across the region. All PL is evidence informed, close to practice and aligned to the National Mission,  
the National Approach to Professional Learning (NAPL) and to the Professional Standards for Teaching 
and Leadership (PSTL) and the Professional Standards for Assisting Teaching (PSAT). The CSC professional 
learning (PL) offer is responsive to local, regional and national needs, informed through a wide range of 
data, intelligence and evaluation. 

PL opportunities include synchronous and asynchronous programmes and events. PL is further 
enhanced by high quality resources including guidance documents, online communities, blogs, vlogs, 
podcasts, poster packs, FAQs that support schools and share practice in all areas. 

The majority of professional learning is delivered through the Central South Wales Challenge.  
A minority of PL sits outside of the CSWC and is centrally delivered.  Currently this takes three main forms:

•  where the regions and partnerships are working together to establish PL around key areas,  
e.g. cross-regional programme for Curriculum for Wales

•  where the CSC school improvement team have identified a specific regional need and developed 
PL to support this.  This may involve the use of experts to develop or facilitate programmes,  
e.g. Reading Reconsidered

•  where bespoke Local Authority PL and support is tailored to meet identified local authority 
priorities not met through the regional offer, e.g. Merthyr Raising Aspirations Raising Standards

Tudalen 248



Enabling Equity  
And Excellence  
We are committed to the success and wellbeing 
of every learner, regardless of background or 
personal circumstance. Equity and excellence 
go hand in hand, and we cannot have one at the 
expense of the other. (Welsh Government, 2017) 

Central South Consortia has worked with school 
leaders, local authority officers and the University 
College London Institute of Education to formulate 
a key document to support all schools across 
the region in achieving equity and excellence for 
all learners. ‘Enabling Equity and Excellence’ 
sets out an ambitious agenda based on valuing 
every learner and the knowledge and experience 
that they bring to school as the starting point 
for developing inclusive teaching. The principles 
of this document align to the CSC vision of 
empowering schools to improve outcomes for all 
learners and supports schools on their journey of 
education reform in Wales.

Enabling Equity and Excellence promotes and 
supports sustainable school improvement and 
learning leadership in order that schools make 
informed choices and decisions around equity 
and excellence. It also recognises that each 
school has its individual context and staff and 
pupil demographic, and that all schools will be at 
different points of their improvement journey.  
It aims to promote thought and discussion 
amongst a school community, to ask pertinent 
questions as to how equitable the organisation is 
and how effective it is in transforming policy into 
practice to ensure excellence for all learners.

Enabling Equity and Excellence challenges all 
schools to aspire to excellence and offers support 
to those schools most in need of improvement.  
It supports school leaders in robust self-evaluation 
with a specific focus on the quality of the provision 
and practices for inclusion and teaching, and 
the impact these have on the well-being and 
outcomes of all learners.

33

The Central South  
Wales Challenge 
The Central South Wales Challenge (CSWC) 
is a partnership of all schools in the region 
working together to develop a self-improving 
system.  It was launched in 2014 and is based on 
improvement being driven for schools by schools. 
The strategy was developed by headteachers 
from schools across the region and drew on the 
expertise of universities and external experts in 
school improvement and published international 
research. 

The CSWC provides delivery structures and 
networks through which most regional 
professional learning opportunities are offered.  
The CSWC model is designed to be:
• consistent across the region
• school led
•  informed by prior knowledge of a  

self-improving school system
• focussed on providing value for money
• responsive to the changing needs of schools

Each component of the CSWC model plays a 
key role in ensuring that schools can access 
appropriate professional learning (PL) and support 
to meet their school improvement needs The 
components that are categorised broadly into two 
areas: 

•  Professional learning collaborations – all 
schools in the region are allocated collaboration 
funding to support participation in collaborative 
working within and beyond their school. 

•  Professional learning opportunities – these 
are co-constructed and facilitated by lead 
practitioners and school leaders from across the 
region in partnership with the CSC curriculum 
and professional learning team.

Tudalen 249

https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/discovery/resource/86d15487-d417-4a95-8855-b9ecfddff544/en?query=Enabling%20equity%20and%20excellence&sort=relevance&strict=0


Diagram: Central South Wales Challenge Model 2022/23

34

The CSWC model continues to be reviewed and refined annually following consideration of 
evaluation of impact and value for money. It’s also driven by robust evaluation of the efficacy  
of the professional learning offer and regional school improvement needs. 

The following key principles remain constant:

• Effective practice is shared so that schools learn from each other.

•  Knowledge of school practice and research facilitates and supports the sharing of best practice 
and collaboration to improve learners’ outcomes within a self-improving system.

•   The most appropriate source of support for schools is sourced by the schools themselves or  
is signposted/brokered by Improvement Partners.

•  Improved teaching and leadership can only be sustained by a commitment to PL that is 
evidence informed and supports the development of schools as learning organisations.

•  Resources are focused on opportunities for teachers and leaders to learn from each other, to 
try out new approaches or lead research projects, to improve their teaching and that of others.

•  Leadership skills grown through planned succession leads to improvement across the system.

• Accountability is clear at all levels and used effectively to drive improvement.

Tudalen 250



Governance

35

Tudalen 251



A revised model of governance was implemented during 2021/22 ensuring all 
stakeholders have a voice in the system and that there are opportunities for each 
stakeholder group to meet to focus on issues related to their sector. It also recognises 
that the democratic accountability sits with elected members and that the strategic 
functions for school improvement sit with the Local Authorities. 

This model preserves the current Joint Committee structure and creates a CSC 
management board with increased membership. This model recognises the statutory 
functions of the LAs and retains the Directors group as a key group within the 
governance structure. It gives headteachers the opportunity to be involved regularly 
to develop the strategic direction of the organisation and recognises their key role in a 
school-led self-improving system. 

Governance 

36

Tudalen 252



Consortium 
Funding  
2022-2023

37

Tudalen 253



Consortium Funding 2022-2023

CSC uses all available funding to support the priorities identified by schools, local authorities, 
regions and Welsh Government within the business plan. The underlying principle is that 
delegation to schools should be as high as possible.

CSC is funded on an annual basis from the constituent local authorities to fulfil the 
requirement of the National Model for Regional Working as well as directly from Welsh 
Government to further support and develop both regional and national priorities.

At the Joint Committee meeting on 22 December 20221, it was agreed that the core funding 
to the consortium would be increased by 1.72% for 2022-2023. Local authority contributions 
are calculated using the Indicator Based Assessment (IBA) published annually on the Stats 
Wales website. 

Funding Provided From Welsh Government

Historically, there were a number of grants received by CSC from Welsh Government.  With 
the launch of the national strategy ‘Education in Wales: Our National Mission’, there has been a 
streamlining of the grant funding process.

From 2018-2019, only two grants have been received by consortia:

Financial Overview

Local Authority Contributions
£m

Grant Funding for National 
Priorities

Total Funding Available

£3.625 £X £X

Regional Consortia School 
 Improvement Grant

Pupil Development Grant

£48,652,545 £X

* includes LA match funding

38

Tudalen 254



Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant
The main grant received by regional consortia to support national school improvement priorities 
is the Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant. This grant incorporates the former Education 
Improvement Grant (EIG).

There is an expectation that the EIG element of the grant is match funded by local authorities and is 
predominantly delegated to schools in line with grant terms and conditions. In 2022-2023, xx% of the 
 EIG element of the grant will be delegated to schools.

The outline funding envelope from Welsh Government was received in xxx 2022 and provides indicative 
allocations for the financial year 2022-2023. Activity within the 2022-2023 business plan is predominantly 
funded from this grant. Elected Members approve the funding distribution upon receiving 
recommendations from the CSC Management Board.

A detailed overview of the allocation of funding to schools is available on the CSC website. This allows 
schools to compare allocations and ensure transparency of the use of grant funding.

Pupil Development Grant
The Pupil Development Grant was launched in 2012 and provides additional funding to 
schools based upon the number of pupils on their roll eligible for Free School Meals or who 
are children looked after.

The majority of the grant (xx%) is delegated to schools. However, xx% is retained to provide 
professional learning opportunities across the region to support children looked-after and 
previously looked-after adopted children.

Objective £

Curriculum and assessment XXXX

Developing a high-quality education profession XXXX

Inspirational leaders working collaboratively to raise 
standards 

XXXX

Strong and inclusive schools committed  
to excellence, equity and wellbeing

XXXX

Robust assessment, evaluation and accountability 
arrangements supporting a self-improving system

XXXX

Total Funding XXXX

39

Tudalen 255



communications@cscjes.org.uk

@CSCJES

Empowering schools to improve 
outcomes for all learners

Grymuso ysgolion i wella 
deilliannau i bob dysgwr

Tudalen 256

https://twitter.com/CSCJES


 1 

 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM 
 

REPORT FOR JOINT COMMITTEE  
 

7TH JUNE 2022 

 

JOINT EDUCATION SERVICE 
 

 
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY MANAGING DIRECTOR – MEMBERS 
WORKSHOP 
 
 
Author: Louise Blatchford, Deputy Managing Director  
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide Members with a verbal update on the proposed workshop for 
new Members of the Joint Committee. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that Members:  
 

2.1 Note the date for the proposed workshop; and 
 

2.2 Consider whether there are any areas of the work of Central South 
Consortium Members would like to receive further information on as part of 
the induction workshop on the 30th June 2022. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 Central South Consortium acts on behalf of the five local authorities 
within the region to develop a school improvement service that 
challenges, monitors and supports schools to raise standards and 
provide the best provision for all learners in the region. 
 

3.2 Following the recent local elections, Central South Consortium propose 
to invite all new Members and scrutiny Members from the five constituent 
Local Authorities to a virtual workshop (Teams) to provide an overview of 
the work of CSC and to meet the members of CSC’s leadership team. 

Tudalen 257

Agendwm 11



 2 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

7th JUNE 2022 
 

CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
List of background papers 
 
Freestanding matter 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer to Contact: 
 
Louise Blatchford 
Tel no. 01443 281400  
 
 

Tudalen 258


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion
	5 Calendr o gyfarfodydd ar gyfer Blwyddyn y Cyngor 2022-2023
	6 CYNLLUN ARCHWILIO 2020/2021
	7 Y sefyllfa ar ddiwedd 2021-2022/Datganiad Llywodraethu Blynyddol
	Central south consortium
	Item 7- CSC 721-22 Statement of Accounts (22.05.25)SD tracked AGS Updated CLEAN 270522a (005)

	8 Adroddiad Dyfarnu Grantiau CCD 2022-2023 (Grant Gwella Ysgolion y Consortia Rhanbarthol)
	Item 7. CSC RCSIG Award letter English - Issued 04.05.2022

	9 Adroddiad Dyfarnu Grantiau CCD 2022-2023 (Siarter Iaith)
	Item 8. Llythyr cynnig grant-cy_gb-en_gb-C

	10 Cynllun Busnes Drafft Consortiwm Canolbarth y De, 2022-25
	Item 9. CSC Final Business Plan 2022-25

	11 Adroddiad (i Aelodau) - Gweithdy CCD



